Rare-Earth Metal Triflates in Organic Synthesis

Shū Kobayashi,* Masaharu Sugiura, Hidetoshi Kitagawa, and William W.-L. Lam

Graduate School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, The University of Tokyo, Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan

Received January 28, 2002

Contents

1. Introduction	2227
2. C–C Bond Formation	2229
2.1. Nucleophilic Addition	2229
2.1.1. Aldol Reaction	2229
2.1.2. Mannich-type Reaction	2233
2.1.3. Ene Reaction	2237
2.1.4. Allylation	2238
2.1.5. Cyanation	2243
2.1.6. Reformatsky-type Reaction	2244
2.1.7. Nucleophilic Addition Using	2244
Organolanthanide Reagents	
2.1.8. Michael Reaction	2245
2.1.9. Others	2247
2.2. Cyclization Reactions	2248
2.2.1. Carbon Diels–Alder Reactions	2248
2.2.2. Aza-Diels–Alder Reactions	2252
2.2.3. Other Hetero-Diels–Alder Reactions	2255
2.2.4. Ionic Diels–Alder Reaction	2256
2.2.5. 1,3-Dipolar Cycloadditions	2256
2.2.6. Other Cycloaddition Reactions	2258
2.2.7. Prins-type Cyclization	2259
2.3. Friedel–Crafts Acylation and Alkylation	2259
2.4. Baylis–Hillman Reaction	2263
2.5. Radical Addition	2264
2.6. Heterocycle Synthesis	2267
2.7. Diazocarbonyl Insertion	2270
3. C–X (X = N, O, P, Etc.) Bond Formation	2271
3.1. Aromatic Nitration and Sulfonylation	2271
3.2. Michael Reaction	2272
3.3. Glycosylation	2273
3.4. Aziridination	2275
3.5. Diazocarbonyl Insertion	2276
3.6. Ring-Opening Reactions	2277
3.7. Other C–X Bond Formations	2280
4. Oxidation and Reduction	2280
4.1. Oxidation	2280
4.2. Reduction	2281
5. Rearrangement	2283
6. Protection and Deprotection	2285
6.1. Protection	2285
6.2. Deprotection	2288
7. Polymerization	2291
8. Miscellaneous Reactions	2291
9. Lanthanide(II) Triflates in Organic Synthesis	2295
10. Conclusion	2295

11.	Acknowledgment	2295
12.	References	2295

1. Introduction

Lewis-acid (LA)-catalyzed reactions are of great interest because of their unique reactivities and selectivities and mild reaction conditions used.^{1,2} A wide variety of reactions using Lewis acids have been developed, and they have been applied to the synthesis of natural and unnatural compounds. Traditionally, Lewis acids such as AlCl₃, BF₃, TiCl₄, SnCl₄, etc., have been employed in these reactions; however, more than stoichiometric amounts of the Lewis acids are needed in many cases. Moreover, these Lewis acids are moisture sensitive and easily decomposed or deactivated in the presence of even a small amount of water. Furthermore, these Lewis acids cannot be recovered and reused after the reactions are completed. In 1991, the first report on water-compatible Lewis acids, lanthanide triflates [Ln(OTf)₃], appeared.^{3,4} Lanthanide triflates were literature-known compounds at that time, but their use in organic synthesis had been limited. Before 1991, indeed, only one report on amidine synthesis in an organic solvent using a lanthanide triflate as a catalyst was known.⁵ This synthesis was reported to be carried out under strictly anhydrous conditions. Including this synthesis, it was generally accepted that Lewis-acid catalysis had to be performed under strictly anhydrous conditions.

The most characteristic feature of $Ln(OTf)_3$ is that they are stable and work as Lewis acids in water. After the first report, not only $Ln(OTf)_3$ (Ln = La, Ce, Pr, Nd, Sm, Eu, Gd, Tb, Dy, Ho, Er, Tm, Yb, Lu) but also scandium (Sc) and yttrium (Y) triflates were shown to be water-compatible Lewis acids, and these *rare-earth metal triflates* [RE(OTf)₃] have been regarded as new types of Lewis acids. Many useful reactions are catalyzed by rare-earth metal triflates in aqueous media. Only catalytic amounts of the triflates are enough to complete the reactions in most cases. Furthermore, rare-earth metal triflates can be recovered easily after reactions and reused without loss of activity.

Rare-earth metal triflates are available not only in aqueous media but also in many organic solvents. The triflates are still active in the coexistence of many Lewis bases containing nitrogen, oxygen, phos-



Shū Kobayashi studied chemistry at the University of Tokyo and received his Ph.D. degree in 1988 (Professor Teruaki Mukaiyama). After spending 11 years at Science University of Tokyo (SUT), he moved to the Graduate School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, the University of Tokyo, in 1998. His research interests include development of new synthetic methods, development of novel catalysts (especially chiral catalysts), organic synthesis in water, solid-phase organic synthesis, total synthesis of biologically interesting compounds, and organometallic chemistry. He received the first Springer Award in Organometallic Chemistry in 1997 and IBM Award in 2001.



Masaharu Sugiura was born in 1970 in Tokyo, Japan. He received his Ph.D. degree at Tokyo Institute of Technology in 1997 under the supervision of Professor Takeshi Nakai. After his postdoctoral work in Sagami Chemical Research Center (Dr. Shiro Terashima) and at Florida State University (Professor Marie E. Krafft), he joined Professor Kobayashi's group as a postdoctoral fellow of CREST, Japan Science and Technology Corporation (JST). His research interests include development of new synthetic methods and novel catalysts and total synthesis of biologically interest compounds.

phorus, and sulfur atoms. In almost all cases, catalytic use, recovery, and reuse of the triflates are possible. While large amounts of conventional Lewis acids are required and treatment of the residues of the Lewis acids after reactions may induce some serious environmental problems, rare-earth metal triflate-catalyzed reactions are clean and the triflates are regarded as environmentally friendly catalysts. The catalytic efficiency of rare-earth metal triflates vary from one reaction to another. Generally, Sc(OTf)₃ shows a higher catalytic activity than Ln(OTf)₃ and Y(OTf)₃. Recently, the relative Lewis acidity of rareearth metal triflates were evaluated based on their competitive ligand dissociation from complexes, $M(OTf)_3(L)_4$ (L = hexamethylphosphoramide, triethylphosphine oxide, or trimethyl phosphate) using tandem mass spectrometry.⁶ The results are in ac-



Hidetoshi Kitagawa was born in 1969 in Osaka and studied pharmacy at Osaka University. He received his Ph.D. degree at Osaka University in 1997 under the supervision of Professor Yasuyuki Kita. He started his career in the Discovery Laboratory of Nippon Shinyaku Co. Ltd. In 1999, he joined Professor Kobayashi's group as a visiting scientist to study combinatorial chemistry and organic synthesis. His research interests include development of new synthetic methods for library synthesis, medicinal chemistry, and combinatorial chemistry.



William W.-L. Lam was born in 1969. He studied chemistry at Hong Kong Baptist University and the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He received his Ph.D. degree at the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1996 under the supervision of Professor Richard K. Haynes. He was a member of Professor Kobayashi's group as a postdoctoral fellow of JSPS from 1998 to 2000. His research interests include development of new synthetic methods and novel catalysts and organometallic chemistry.

cordance to the extraordinary catalytic activity of Sc(III) and Yb(III) in the Lewis-acid-catalyzed reactions. The high Lewis acidity of Sc(III) and Yb(III) may be attributed to their small ionic radii.⁷

Rare-earth metal triflates are readily prepared by heating the corresponding metal oxides or chlorides in an aqueous trifluoromethanesulfonic acid (TfOH) solution.^{8,9} They are also prepared by the reaction of aqueous solutions of the corresponding metal halides with silver triflate. Typically, eight or nine molecules of water are contained in the triflates after removal of water at room temperature. Anhydrous samples are obtained after drying at elevated temperature under high vacuum.

In this review, useful organic transformations employing rare-earth metal triflates as Lewis-acid catalysts are discussed. The authors did their best to cover all related papers which were accessible before October 2001. In addition, special attention is focused upon comparison of these new types of Lewis acids with other conventional Lewis acids and their applications in aqueous media.

2. C–C Bond Formation

2.1. Nucleophilic Addition

2.1.1. Aldol Reaction

The titanium tetrachloride-mediated aldol reaction of silyl enol ethers with aldehydes was first reported in 1973.¹⁰ The reaction is notably distinguished from the conventional aldol reactions performed under basic conditions; it proceeds in a highly regioselective manner to provide cross aldols in high yields.¹¹ Since the pioneer contribution by Mukaiyama's group, several efficient promoters such as trityl salts,¹² Clay montmorillonite,¹³ fluoride anions,¹⁴ etc.,¹⁵ have been developed to realize the reaction in high yields and selectivities. Although the reaction is considered to be one of the most important carbon-carbon bondforming reactions in organic synthesis, it should be performed under strictly anhydrous conditions. The presence of even a small amount of water causes lower yields, probably due to rapid decomposition or deactivation of the promoters and hydrolysis of silyl enol ethers.

Kobayashi and his group reported the use of $Yb(OTf)_3$ for hydroxymethylation reaction of silyl enol ethers with commercial aqueous formaldehyde solution (Table 1).⁴

In a total asymmetric synthesis of (-)-sclerophytin A, Paquette et al. later utilized this methodology to construct a complex molecule (Scheme 1).¹⁶

The efficiency of $\text{RE}(\text{OTf})_3$ in a model reaction of 1-trimethylsiloxycyclohexene with benzaldehyde was examined in aqueous medium (H₂O/THF 1/4).^{17,18} Of

Table 1. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Hydroxymethylation of Silyl Enol Ethers with Aqueous Formaldehyde Solution



Scheme 1. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Hydroxymethylation of a Silyloxy Diene in a Total Synthesis



Table 2. Efficiency of RE(OTf)₃ on Mukaiyama Aldol Reaction

	$\int_{-\infty}^{SiMe_3} + H + \frac{O}{Ph} + \frac{10 r}{T}$	mol% RE(OTf) ₃ HF/H ₂ O (4/1) rt, 20 h	O OH Ph
RE	yield/%	RE	yield/%
Sc	81 ^{<i>a</i>}	Gd	89
Y	trace ^a	Dy	73
La	8	Ho	47
Pr	28	Er	52
Nd	83	Tm	20
Sm	46	Yb	91 (trace) ^a
Eu	34	Lu	88

^{*a*} The reaction was performed in CH_2Cl_2 at -78 °C for 15 h.

Table 3.	Effect of	Counteranions	of	Yb((III)) Salts

Yb salt	yield/%	Yb salt	yield/%
Yb(OTf) ₃	91	Yb(OAc)3·8H2O	14
Yb(ClO ₄) ₃	88	Yb(NO3)3·5H2O	7
YbCl ₃	3	Yb2(SO4)3·5H2O	trace

Table 4. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Aldol Reactions in Aqueous Medium

OSiMe ₃ Ph + H	0 10 n	nol% Yb(OTf) ₃ IF/H ₂ O (4/1) Ph rt, 20 h	
aldehyde	yield/%	aldehyde	yield/%
aq. HCHO CH ₃ CHO	94 93	СНО	81
CH2=CHCHO CICH2CHO PhCOCHO•H2O	82 95 67	СНО	97

the lanthanide triflates screened, neodymium (Nd), gadolinium (Gd), ytterbium (Yb), and lutetium (Lu) triflates were very effective in terms of yield (Table 2). Interestingly, the product yields were low when water or THF was used alone instead of their mixtures. Table 3 shows the effect of ytterbium salts in this reaction. It is suggested that not only the cations but also the counteranions are very important for the catalytic activity.

In the presence of a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃, other water-soluble aldehydes, for instance, acetaldehyde, acrolein, and chloroacetaldehyde, reacted with the silyl enol ether of propiophenone to afford the corresponding cross aldol adducts in high yields with moderate diastereoselectivities (Table 4). Remarkably, salicylaldehyde and 2-pyridinecarboxaldehyde were successfully employed in this reaction. The former has a free hydroxy group, which is incompatible with metal enolates or Lewis acids, while the latter would form complexes with Lewis acids through coordination with nitrogen atoms, resulting in deactivation of the catalyst.

The fact that lanthanide triflates are more soluble in water than in common organic solvents allows easy recovery of the catalysts from the aqueous phase in almost quantitative yields. The catalyst can be reused without attenuated activity. For example, in the presence of 20 mol % of Yb(OTf)₃, the reaction of the silyl enol ether derived from propiophenone with aqueous formaldehyde solution gave excellent yields in three consecutive cycles (1st, 94%; 2nd, 91%; 3rd, 93% yield).

It was found that the amount of water had a great influence on both yields and diastereoselectivities. The best yields were obtained with 10-20% of water in THF, after which the yield began to drop until two phases were observed. Only 18% yield of the product was isolated in pure water. In addition, when water was not added or 1-5 equiv of water was added, the aldol adducts were obtained in low yield (ca. 10% yield). It was found that the yield was improved with increasing amounts of water up to 50 equiv.

In addition, the amount of water has an important role in dictating the diastereoselectivies of the reactions. In the absence of water, the reaction proceeded with *anti* preference. This trend was changed as the amount of water increased, and the *syn* aldol was dominant when more than 3 equiv (with respect to catalyst) of water was added. The selectivity was improved in accordance to the amount of water; however, almost the same selectivities were obtained when more than 15 equiv of water was added to the reaction mixture.

Although hydrolysis of ketene silyl acetals (KSA) preceded the desired aldol reactions in aqueous medium, KSA reacted with benzaldehyde in the presence of 10 mol % of Yb(OTf)₃ in dichloromethane.¹⁹ Comparable yields were obtained when the reactions were performed in other organic solvents such as toluene, THF, acetonitrile, and DMF. It was showed that other lanthanide triflates $[Ln(OTf)_3; Ln = La,$ Pr, Nd, Sm, Eu, Gd, Dy, Ho, Er, Tm, and Lu] also catalyzed the addition of KSA effectively in CH₂Cl₂ (85–95% yields). The superior catalytic activity of Sc(OTf)₃ allowed the reaction to proceed at -78 °C.²⁰ Silyl enol ethers derived from esters, thioesters, and ketones reacted with aldehydes to give the corresponding adducts in high yields. Furthermore, acetals reacted with silvl enol ethers to afford the corresponding aldols.²¹

As stated before, aldol reactions proceeded sluggishly in pure water (without organic solvents); however, remarkable rate enhancement was observed in the presence of a small amount of a surfactant (Table 5).²² When the reaction was carried out in the presence of 20 mol % of Yb(OTf)₃ in an aqueous solution of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS, 35 mM), the corresponding aldol adduct was obtained in 50% yield, which was further improved to 88% when using 10 mol % of Sc(OTf)₃. It was found that the surfactants employed influenced the yield and that Triton X-100 was also effective in the aldol Kobayashi et al.

Table 5. RE(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Aldol Reaction in Water

OSiMe ₃ O Ph	Cat. RE(OTf Ph surfactant (0.2 e H ₂ O, rt) ₃ equiv.) Ph	OH Ph
RE(OTf) ₃ (mol %)	surfactant	time/h	yield/%
Yb(OTf) ₃ (20)	SDS	48	50
Sc(OTf) ₃ (20)	SDS	17	73
Sc(OTf) ₃ (10)	SDS	4	88
Sc(OTf) ₃ (10)	TritonX-100	60	89
$Sc(OTf)_{3}$ (10)	CTAB	4	trace

Scheme 2. Aldol Reaction in Pure Water Using a Polymer-Supported Scandium Catalyst



reaction, albeit with a longer reaction time, while only a trace amount of the adduct was detected with cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB). Surprisingly, KSA derived from methyl isobutyrate, which was expected to be easily hydrolyzed in the presence of water, reacted with benzaldehyde in this micellar system to give the corresponding adduct in high yield (84%). It was also reported that amphiphilic calix-[6]arene derivatives were efficient surfactants in Sc(OTf)₃-catalyzed Mukaiyama aldol reactions in water.²³

Moreover, aldol reactions of silyl enol ethers with aldehydes proceed in pure water using a polymersupported scandium catalyst, which can be easily recovered and reused (Scheme 2).²⁴

A combination of stoichiometric amounts of $Ln(OTf)_3$ and a tertiary amine promoted diastereoselective (*anti*-selective) cross-aldol reactions between ketones and aldehydes.²⁵ Formation of Yb enolate was confirmed by in situ trapping with trimethylsilyl chloride (TMSCl). The efficiency of RE(OTf)₃ in the reaction of 3-pentanone with isobutyraldehyde was examined (Table 6). Nd(OTf)₃ and Sm(OTf)₃ were inactive, while Sc(OTf)₃, Y(OTf)₃, and Yb(OTf)₃ gave the aldol product in good yields.

Comparison of several different Lewis-acid catalysts in the reaction of 1-*tert*-butoxycarbonyl-2-*tert*butyldimethylsiloxypyrrole (TBSOP) with benzaldehyde was reported (Table 7).²⁶ A stoichiometric amount of BF₃·OEt₂ or SnCl₄ was used to form *threo* or *erythro* isomer preferentially. Other Lewis acids, including Yb(OTf)₃ and Sc(OTf)₃, were less effective in terms of selectivity, while use of a catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃ was enough to obtain the desired adduct in 70% yield.

 $RE(OTf)_3$ also catalyzes highly diastereoselective addition of silyl enol ethers to chiral benzaldehyde– $Cr(CO)_3$ complexes at ambient temperature. In this reaction, the product was obtained as a single diastereomer (Scheme 3).²⁷

Vogel and his group reported a new carbon-carbon bond-forming reaction through oxyallylation of an Yb^b



^{*a*} Determined by 400 MHz ¹H NMR spectroscopy. ^{*b*} Reaction time; 48 h.

84/16

Table 7. Diastereoselective Reaction of a Pyrrole Derivative with Benzaldehyde

76

TBSO N F	cat. hCHO 78 °C	Ph + C H H + C Boc OR	N H Boc OR
TBS = BuMe	₂ Si ei	rythro	threo
catalyst (mol %)	solvent	yield/%	erythro/threo
BF ₃ •OEt ₂ (100)	Et ₂ O	75	19/81
TiCl ₄ (100)	CH_2Cl_2	70	60/40
SnCl ₄ (150)	Et ₂ O	83	90/10
Yb(OTf)3 (30)	CH.CN	19	71/29
		10	11/20

Scheme 3. Diastereoselective Reactions of Acyclic Silyl Enol Ethers with η^{6} -(*ortho*-substituted Benzaldehyde)-Cr(CO)₃ Complexes



Scheme 4. Generation of an Oxyallylating Agent



enolsilane with the SO₂ adduct of 1-methoxybutadiene.²⁸ Sultine was formed rapidly at low temperature (-60 °C) from electron-rich 1-methoxybutadiene and excess SO₂ without any acid catalysis. However, in the presence of a Lewis acid, it underwent ring opening to give a zwitterionic intermediate, which reacted as an oxyallylating agent with electron-rich alkenes, such as enolsilanes (Scheme 4). The effect of Lewis-acid catalysts for the reaction with the (*Z*)enol silane derived from 2-pentanone was summarized in Table 8. In all cases, only *Z*-olefinic products were obtained, and *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl triflate (TBSOTf) resulted in the best *syn* selectivity. Sc(OTf)₃ and Yb(OTf)₃ performed equally well to

Table 8. Oxyallylation of Silyl Enol Ether



LA (mol %)	yield/%	syn/anti
$Sn(OTf)_2$ (4)	76	70/30
Me ₃ SiOTf (37)	78	75/25
⁴ BuMe ₂ SiOTf (43)	63	81/19
$Sc(OTf)_3$ (3)	81	70/30
Yb(OTf) ₃ (2)	89	70/30

Scheme 5. One-Pot Synthesis of Difluoroaldols



afford good yields of the product with moderate selectivities.

It was reported that difluoroaldol compounds were synthesized in a one-pot procedure. A difluoroenoxy-silane generated from benzoyltrimethylsilane and trifluoromethyltrimethylsilane undergoes the aldol-type reaction with an aldehyde. Yb(OTf)₃ proved to be a very efficient catalyst for promoting the aldol-type reactions under very mild conditions (Scheme 5).²⁹

Differentiation between carbonyl functions in the competitive reactions is a difficult task in organic synthesis.³⁰ Although carbonyl functions possess different reactivities, highly selective discrimination between them is generally difficult to attain. One of the most popular solutions is to protect or convert a more reactive function into other functions and thus allow reactions of less reactive functions. For example, a recent success has been achieved in the preferential addition reactions of ketals over acetals.³¹ However, the differentiation between the parent ketones and aldehydes or between ketones and acetals is more challenging. Toward this end, preferential addition reactions of ketones over aldehydes (Table 9) or acetals with silvl enol ethers (Table 10) were reported in the presence of $(C_6F_5)_2SnBr_2$, TMSOTf, or Sc(OTf)₃.³² Classical Lewis acid SnCl₄ was less effective, giving products in low yields.

It was shown that $Yb(OTf)_3$ was moderately effective as $InCl_3$ to promote asymmetric aldol reaction of the D-glucose-derived silyl enol ether with commercial formaldehyde in water (Table 11).³³

Chiral lanthanide catalysts generated from $Ln(OTf)_3$ and chiral bis-triflamide of (1.5, 2.5)-1, 2-diphenyl-

 Table 9. Competition Reaction between a Ketone and an Aldehyde



Table 10. Competition Reaction between a Ketone and an Acetal



Table 11. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Asymmetric AldolReaction of D-Glucose-Derived Silyl Enol Ether withFormaldehyde in Water

[′] BuMe ₂ SiQ	OSiMe ₃ OBn	i. CH ₂ O (37% in H ₂ O), L ii. TBAF, THF, 0 °C, 1 h HOO HO	
E/Z	LA (mol %)	yield/%	R/S
0/100	Yb(OTf) ₃ (40) 35	54/46
0/100	InCl ₃ (40)	68	82/18
80/20	Yb(OTf) ₃ (40)) 40	88/12
80/20	InCl ₃ (40)	73	96/4

ethylenediamine have been applied for catalytic Mukaiyama aldol reactions.³⁴ A ketene silyl acetal reacted with various aldehydes to give adducts with moderate enantiomeric excesses (Table 12).

One of the most characteristic features of rareearth metal triflates as Lewis acids is that they are stable in water and can be used as catalysts in aqueous media. While many useful reactions using

 Table 12. Asymmetric Aldol Reaction Promoted by

 Chiral Lanthanide Complexes



rare-earth metal triflates in aqueous media have been developed, no report on asymmetric catalysis in aqueous media using rare-earth metal triflates appeared before 2000. In 2001, asymmetric aldol reactions of silyl enol ethers with aldehydes catalyzed by $Ln(OTf)_3$ in aqueous media using a chiral crown ether have been reported (Scheme 6).³⁵ When

Scheme 6. Asymmetric Aldol Reaction Promoted by Ln(OTf)₃ Using a Chiral Crown Ether







Scheme 7. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Aldol Reactions of Polymer-Supported Silyl Enol Ethers with Aldehydes



Scheme 8. Preparation of Microencapsulated Sc(OTf)₃ Catalyst



 $Pr(OTf)_3$ with a crown ether **A** was used as a catalyst, the reaction proceeded in high diastereo- (82% de) and enantioselectivities (78% ee). In this reaction, water plays an essential role for the high yield and selectivities. When the reaction was carried out in pure EtOH or CH₂Cl₂, lower yields and selectivities were observed (51% yield, 70% de, 23% ee in EtOH; 3% yield, 28% de, 22% ee in CH_2Cl_2). It was found in this reaction that ionic diameters of the metal cations significantly affected the selectivity. For the larger cations such as La, Ce, Pr, and Nd, both diastereoand enantioselectivities were high. The smaller cations such as Sc and Yb showed no enantioselection. It was found in this reaction that ionic diameters of the metal cations significantly affected the selectivity. For the larger cations such as La, Ce, Pr, and Nd, both diastereo- and enantioselectivities were high. The smaller cations such as Sc and Yb showed no enantioselection.

Polymer-supported thioketene silyl acetals reacted with aldehydes in the presence of a catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃ to give the corresponding β -hydroxy thioester derivatives, which were reduced to 1,3-diols and β -hydroxy aldehyde derivatives or hydrolyzed to β -hydroxy carboxylic acid derivatives (Scheme 7).³⁶

A new type of polymer-supported Lewis acid, microencapsulated $Sc(OTf)_3$, was developed and successfully used in the aldol reaction and other reactions. Microencapsulated $Sc(OTf)_3$, which was prepared by the immobilization of $Sc(OTf)_3$ onto polymer, is easily recovered and reusable (Scheme 8).³⁷

2.1.2. Mannich-type Reaction

The Mannich and related reactions provide one of the most fundamental and useful methods for the synthesis of β -amino ketones or β -amino esters, leading to β -lactam derivatives.³⁸ In the classical Mannich routes to β -amino ketones and esters, yields are sometimes low due to significant side reaction, such as deamination under rather drastic reaction

 Table 13. Mannich-type Reactions Using a Lewis Acid as a Catalyst

	N [−] R ² R ¹ H	+ R ³	OSiMe R ⁵ R ⁴	^e 3 _ 5 m CH ₂	$\frac{100\% \text{ LA}}{(\text{Cl}_2, 0 \text{ °C})} \xrightarrow{\text{R}^2 \text{ NH}} \text{R}^1 \xrightarrow{\text{R}^3} \text{R}^3$	O ↓ R ⁴
\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbb{R}^3	\mathbb{R}^4	\mathbb{R}^5	LA	yield/%
Ph	Ph	Me	Me	OMe	Yb(OTf) ₃	97
Ph	Ph	Me	Me	OMe	Y(OTf) ₃	81
Ph	Ph	Me	Me	OMe	TiCl ₄ (1.0 eq.)	85
Ph	Bn	Н	Me	OBn	Yb(OTf) ₃	80 ^a
Ph	Bn	Н	Н	SEt	Yb(OTf) ₃	65
Ph	Bn	Н	Н	SEt	Sc(OTf) ₃	80
a	a Syn/anti = 18/82.					

conditions. To perform the reactions under milder conditions, some modifications using preformed iminium salts³⁹ and imines⁴⁰ were introduced. However, these intermediates are often hygroscopic and/or thermally unstable. In 1977, the reactions of imines with silyl enol ethers in the presence of a stoichiometric amount of TiCl₄ as a promoter were first reported,^{40a} and since then, some efficient catalysts have been developed.^{40c-g, 41}

2.1.2.1. Mannich-type Reaction of Imines. Reactions of imines with ketene silyl acetals proceeded smoothly in the presence of 5 mol % of Yb(OTf)₃ to afford the corresponding β -amino ester derivatives in moderate to excellent yields (Table 13).⁴² A catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃ is enough to complete the reactions, whereas a stoichiometric amount of TiCl₄ was required for the reaction (Table 13). In the reactions of the ketene silyl acetal derived from benzyl propionate, *anti* adducts were obtained in good selectivities. Generally, Sc(OTf)₃ has higher activity than Yb(OTf)₃ in the reaction with thioketene acetals. Again, these catalysts could be recovered and reused without loss of activities.

A novel Mannich-type reaction of *N*-(β -aminoalkyl)benzotriazoles with silyl enol ethers has been developed.⁴³ Yb(OTf)₃ was also useful for three-component coupling reactions of aldehydes, amines, and silyl enol ethers (Table 14).⁴⁴ The reactions with chiral amines provided β -aminocarbonyl compounds in moderate to excellent diastereoselectivties.⁴⁵ It has been shown recently that Sc(OTf)₃ and Cu(OTf)₂ promoted Mannich-type reactions of aldehydes, amines, and silyl enol ethers in micellar systems.⁴⁶ It was also reported that Mannich-type reactions of 4-phenyl-2trimethylsiloxy-1,3-butadiene with imines proceeded in the presence of Sc(OTf)₃ to give the corresponding adducts in good yield.⁴⁷

Four-component coupling reactions of silyl enol ethers, α , β -unsaturated thioesters, amines, and aldehydes were also catalyzed by Sc(OTf)₃, affording the corresponding amino thioester and γ -acyl- δ lactam derivatives stereoselectively in high yields (Scheme 9).⁴⁸

A two-step procedure involving addition of ketene silyl acetals to imines and subsequent ring closure has been used for the construction of β -lactam derivatives.^{38,49} The procedure was later improved by Cozzi, Cinquini,⁵⁰ and others,⁵¹ who demonstrated that ketene silyl acetals derived from 2-pyridyl Table 14. Three-Component Coupling Reactions of Aldehydes, Amines, and Silyl Enol Ethers Catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃



Scheme 9. Synthesis of γ -Acyl- δ -lactam Derivatives Using Four-Component Coupling Reactions Catalyzed by Sc(OTf)₃



thioesters reacted with imines⁵² to afford β -lactams directly in the presence of a stoichiometric amount of a Lewis acid. Meanwhile, it was also found that a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃ mediated synthesis of β -lactams directly using preformed or in situ generated imines (Table 15).⁵³

Diastereoselective Mannich-type reactions using a siloxypyrrole were also catalyzed by $Yb(OTf)_3$.⁵⁴ The three-component reactions of nonracemic siloxypyrrole, aldehyde including aromatic as well as aliphatic enolizable aldehydes, and aniline proceeded smoothly at -45 °C in propionitrile to afford the corresponding Mannich-type adducts (Table 16).

Mannich-type reactions of aldehydes, amines, and vinyl ethers proceeded smoothly in the presence of a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃ in aqueous media (Table 17).⁵⁵ Remarkably, commercially available aqueous

Table 15. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Synthesis of β -Lactams

OSi ^t BuMe ₂ R^{1} $SPy^{+}PMP^{-N}$ Py = 2-pyridyl (1 equiv.) (2 equiv.)	² 10 mol% Yb(OTf) ₃ CH ₃ CN or CH ₃ NO ₂ rt, 15 h	PMP trans	
KSA	imines	yield/%	trans /cis
OSi ⁷ BuMe ₂	PMP ^{-N}	62 ^a 99 ^b	95 / 5 89 / 11
OSi ^r BuMe ₂	MP-N S-	64 ^a 90 ^b	84 / 16 60 / 40
OSi'BuMe ₂		57 ^b	87 / 13
OSi ^r BuMe ₂		89 ^a	37 / 63
OSi ^t BuMe ₂		36 ^b	63 / 37
OSi ⁱ BuMe ₂ BnO SPy 60% <i>E</i>	Ph PMP ^{-N}	49 ^a	60 / 40
OSi ^r BuMe ₂ 'BuPh ₂ SiO 92% <i>E</i>	PMP ^{-N}	21 ^a	40 / 60

^a In CH₃CN. ^b In CH₃NO₂.

Table 16. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Mannich-type Reactions of a Chiral Silyloxypyrrole

	$_{6}$ + RCHO + PhNH 5 mol% Yb(OTf) ₃ CH ₃ CH ₂ CN, -45°C	H ₂ Ph/, PhHN R	OCOPh
	dr		
R	erythro	threo	yield/%
Ph	45/27	19/9	71
Furan	53/34	10/3	86
^t Bu	73/27	0/0	81
CH_3	74/16	8/2	82
PhCH ₂	85/15	0/0	80
$CH_3(CH_2)_6$	81/13	6/0	85
PhCH ₂ CH ₂	80/14	6/0	77

formaldehyde and chloroacetaldehyde solutions could be used directly, and the corresponding β -amino ketones were obtained in good yields. Wide varieties of aldehyde, including phenylglyoxal monohydrate, methyl glyoxylate, an aliphatic aldehyde, and an α , β unsaturated aldehyde, gave the corresponding β -amino esters in high yields. It is noted that the condensation of aldehydes and amines proceeds in aqueous solution. Other rare-earth triflates also showed similar catalytic activities.

When compared to aldehydes, aldimines are less reactive toward nucleophilic additions.⁵⁶ Recently it

Table 17. Three-Component Mannich-type Reactions Catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃ in Aqueous Media

R^{1} H $R^{2}NH_{2}$ H	OMe R ³ 10 mol% YI THF/H ₂ O rt, 12-2	<u>o(OTf)₃</u> (9/1) 4 h	R^2 NH O R^1 R^3
R ¹ CHO	R^2NH_2	\mathbb{R}^3	yield/%
aq. HCHO	p-ClPhNH ₂	Me	92
aq. HCHO	p-anisidine	Ph	quant.
PhCHO	p-ClPhNH ₂	Me	90
Ph(CH ₂) ₂ CHO	p-ClPhNH ₂	Me	55
aq. ClCH ₂ CHO	p-ClPhNH ₂	Me	59
PhCH=CH	<i>p</i> -ClPhNH ₂	Me	73
PhCOCHO·H ₂ O	<i>p</i> -ClPhNH ₂	Me	93ª
MeO ₂ CCHO	<i>p</i> -anisidine	Me	67

 a 91% yield with Sc(OTf)_3, 90% yield with Sm(OTf)_3, 94% yield with Tm(OTf)_3.

Table 18. Selective Activation of Aldimines over Aldehydes for Nucleophilic Addition Reactions in the Presence of a Catalytic Amount of RE(OTf)₃

	l h ⁺ Ph´	OSiMe₃ ✓ M€	20 mol% CH ₂ Cl ₂	⁶ RE(OTf) ₃ ₂, -23 °C	Ph Me A	1 Ph ⁺ F	o ^H `N ^{~Ph} Ph H Me B
	yiel	d/%			yield	/%	
RE	Α	В	A/B	RE	Α	В	A/B
Sc	24	65	27/73	Gd	3	81	4/96
Y	19	64	23/77	Dy	12	46	21/79
La	3	82	4/96	Hŏ	2	78	3/97
Ce	2	77	3/97	Er	22	63	26/74
Pr	1	55	2/98	Tm	3	82	4/96
Nd	5	72	6/94	Yb	2	92	2/98
Sm	10	34	23/77	Lu	trace	70	<1/>99
Eu	2	78	3/97	$\mathrm{SnCl}_4{}^a$	93	1	99/1
^a 10	0 mol	% of S	nCl ₄ was	s used at	−78 °C.		

has been shown that a dramatic change in their reactivities is observed by employing $Yb(OTf)_3$ as a catalyst.⁵⁷ Thus, aldimines are preferentially activated by a catalytic amount of $Yb(OTf)_3$ in the coexistence of aldehydes for nucleophilic additions with silyl enol ethers and ketene silyl acetals (Table 18).⁵⁸ On the other hand, excess SnCl₄ promoted the addition to aldehyde exclusively. Selective formation of an aldimine–Yb(OTf)₃ complex over an aldehyde– Yb(OTf)₃ complex was indicated by ¹³C NMR analyses.

Shibasaki and co-workers reported the first example of direct catalytic asymmetric Mannich-type reactions of unmodified ketones using a combination of AlLibis[(R)-binaphthoxide] complex [(R)-ALB] and La(OTf)₃ hydrate (Table 19).⁵⁹ (R)-ALB alone was not sufficient to promote the reaction, and other rareearth triflates resulted in lower enantiomeric excesses.

A polymer-supported scandium catalyst was successfully used in three-component reactions. In the presence of polyallylscandium trifylamide ditriflate (PA-Sc-TAD), three-component reactions proceeded smoothly to afford β -amino ketones, β -amino esters, and β -amino nitriles in high yields (Scheme 10). Aldimine-selective reactions in the coexistence of

Table 19. Direct Catalytic Asymmetric MannichReactions of Propiophenone



Ar	yield/%	ee/%
Ph	65	40
4-MeOC ₆ H ₄	76	31
2-naphtyl	61	44
6-MeO-2-naphtyl	69	44

Scheme 10. Polymer-Supported Scandium-Catalyzed Three-Component Reactions







aldehydes using PA-Sc-TAD proceeded to afford the corresponding adducts in high yield.⁶⁰ Microencapsulated Sc(OTf)₃-catalyzed Mannich-type reactions were also reported. The catalyst was easily recovered and reusable.³⁷

In the presence of a polymer-supported scandium catalyst, Mannich-type reactions of *N*-acylimino esters prepared from α -bromoglycine derivatives and a polymer-supported amine proceeded smoothly to afford the N-acylated amino acid derivatives directly (Table 20).⁶¹

Mannich-type reactions of polymer-supported α imino esters proceeded in the presence of a catalytic



65-94% vield

PMP = p-methoxyphenyl

Scheme 12. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Mannich-type Reactions of Polymer-Supported Silyl Enol Ethers with Imines



amount of Sc(OTf)₃ to give the corresponding α -amino esters after cleavage from the polymer support (Scheme 11).⁶²

Polymer-supported thioketene silyl acetals reacted with imines in the presence of a catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃ to give the corresponding β -amino thioester derivatives, which were converted to β -amino alcohol, β -amino acid, and β -lactam derivatives (Scheme 12).⁶³ Three-component reactions using polymer-supported thioketene silyl acetals proceeded under similar conditions.

Mannich-type reactions of iminium ions generated from 2-methoxypiperidines proceeded smoothly to afford the corresponding piperidine derivatives in high yield. In this reaction, conventional Lewis acids such as $SnCl_4$ and BF_3 · Et_2O gave only trace amounts of the adducts (Table 21).⁶⁴

It was reported that Sc(OTf)₃-catalyzed addition of 1-trimethylsilyl nitropropanate to imines proceeded to give β -nitro amines in good yields (Table 22).⁶⁵

2.1.2.2. Mannich-type Reactions of Other C=**N Groups.** Recently, it was found that in the presence of a catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃, benzoyl-hydrazones reacted with ketene silyl acetals to afford the corresponding adducts, β -*N*-benzoylhydrazino esters, in high yields (Table 23).⁶⁶ Typical Lewis acids such as TiCl₄, SnCl₄, and BF₃·OEt₂, etc., were not effective in this reaction. β -*N*-Benzoylhydrazino esters were readily converted to various nitrogen-containing compounds. Thus, reductive cleavage of the nitrogen–nitrogen bonds of the hydrazino compounds afforded β -amino esters. Cyclization of β -*N*-benzoylhydrazino esters with *n*BuLi at -78 °C provided β -lactams, while pyrazolones were produced in

Table 21. Nucleophilic Substitution Reactions of a2-Methoxypiperidine

N OMe + Cbz	OSiM R ²	fle ₃ 10 m solve	ol% LA nt, 0 °C	$P_{\text{pz}} = \frac{1}{R^2}$
LA	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	solvent	yield/%
SnCl ₄	Ph	Н	CH_2Cl_2	trace
BF ₃ •Et ₂ O	Ph	Н	CH_2Cl_2	trace
$Sc(OTf)_3^a$	Ph	Н	CH_2Cl_2	89
Sc(OTf) ₃	Ph	Н	CH ₃ CN	95
Sc(OTf) ₃	^t Bu	Н	CH ₃ CN	89 ^b
Sc(OTf) ₃	Ph	Me	CH ₃ CN	91 ^{b,c}

 a 0.5 equiv of LiClO4 was used as an additive. b Performed at room temperature. c Diastereomeric ratio was 90/10.

Table 22. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Addition of 1-Trimethylsilyl Nitropropanate



Table 23. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Mannich-type Reactions of Hydrazones

R^{1} H Ph Ph $+$ O	OSiR R ² R ²	⁴ Me ₂ 5 mol% Sc(OTf); CH ₃ CN 0 °C to r		$R^2 R^2$
\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbb{R}^3	\mathbb{R}^4	yield/%
Ph	Me	OMe	Me	81
PhCH=CH	Me	OMe	Me	63
Ph(CH ₂) ₂	Me	OMe	Me	98
ⁱ Bu	Me	OMe	^t Bu	quant.
ⁱ Bu	Me	SEt	Me	53
ⁱ Bu	Н	SEt	Me	36
EtO ₂ C	Me	OMe	ⁱ Bu	76

the presence of NaOMe in MeOH at room temperature or under reflux conditions (Scheme 13). Polymersupported acylhydrazones have been developed, and the reactions with ketene silyl acetals proceeded smoothly in the presence of a catalytic amount of $Sc(OTf)_3$.⁶⁷

It was reported that rare-earth metal triflatecatalyzed addition of ketene silyl acetals to nitrones proceeded smoothly to afforded the corresponding adducts in good yields under mild conditions. La(OTf)₃ was the most effective as a catalyst in this reaction (Table 24).⁶⁸

Scheme 13. Conversion of β -N-Benzoylhydrazino Esters to β -Amino Esters, Pyrazolones, and β -Lactams



Table 24. Ln(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Addition of Ketene Silyl Acetals to Nitrones

0-	OSiMe ₃	Me ₃ Si	O、Ph N O
PhCH=N⁺–Ph [⁺]	OEt	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt F	h OEt
LA	yield/%	LA	yield/%
Yb(OTf) ₃	58	BF ₃ ·OEt ₂	21
La(OTf) ₃	80	AlCl ₃	17
$Sc(OTf)_3$	14	TiCl ₄	8
Sm(OTf) ₃	59	ZnI_2	39

 Table 25. Effect of Acid Catalysts on Pictet-Spengler

 Reaction



2.1.2.3. Pictet–Spengler Reaction. Pictet– Spengler reaction has been used for construction of tetrahydro- β -carbolines and tetrahydroisoquinolines, whose structures are widely distributed in many alkaloids.⁶⁹ Asymmetric reactions with tryptophan alkyl esters,⁷⁰ chiral aldehydes,⁷¹ or *N*- β -(3-indolyl)-ethyl amino acid esters⁷² have been reported in the literature. Nakagawa and her group studied acid-catalyzed asymmetric Pictet–Spengler reaction of tryptamine derivatives with α -methylbenzylamine as chiral auxiliary (Table 25).⁷³ Although TFA (0.5–1 equiv) provided the best result, a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃ was also effective.

Sc(OTf)₃ catalyzed in situ generation of the acyliminium ion from α -methoxyindolone and subsequent cyclization to give the corresponding β -carboline in moderate yield (Scheme 14).⁷⁴ The same reaction was also mediated by Cu(OTf)₂ in a better yield.

It was also found that heating a solution of tryptamine and methyl 2-(1,1-dimethoxyethyl)benz-

Scheme 14. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Intramolecular Acylaminoalkylation



Scheme 15. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Reactions of an Acetal with Amines and Cascade Cyclization Reactions



oate in toluene in the presence of 10 mol % of Sc(OTf)₃ and MS 4A gave the β -carboline derivative in excellent yield (Scheme 15).⁷⁵ A similar reaction with the ethyl ester of tryptophane gave the desired product as a single diastereomer.

2.1.3. Ene Reaction

Carbonyl–ene reactions between glyoxylates and simple alkenes were efficiently catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃ (Table 26).⁷⁶ Other Ln(OTf)₃ also constituted effective catalysts, while lanthanide(III) chlorides and alkoxides did not promote the reaction. 2-Methyl-1,3butadiene (isoprene) is known to react with glyoxylate to form a hetero-Diels–Alder product and an ene product.⁷⁷ The Yb(OTf)₃-catalyzed reaction of isoprene with a glyoxylate in CH₃CN gave the hetero-Diels–Alders adduct as a major product (Scheme 16). In contrast, the ene product was formed in CH₂Cl₂ preferentially. Chiral ytterbium catalysts generated from Yb(OTf)₃ and chiral ligands (BINOL derivatives or Pybox derivatives) were used in an asymmetric carbonyl–ene reaction (Table 27).

Table 26. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Carbonyl–Ene Reactions



Scheme 16. Competitive Hetero-Diels-Alders Reaction and Carbonyl-Ene Reaction of Isoprene Catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃



in CH₃CN: 73-87% yield (78/22 to 65/35) in CH₂Cl₂: 69-81% yield (25/75 to 33/67)





Scheme 17. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Reactions of Methylenecyclohexane with Aldehydes



Table 28. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Intermolecular Carbonyl–Ene Reactions

R ^O H ⁺	Sc(OTf) ₃ Ac ₂ O, CH ₃ CN rt, overnight	R
R	Sc(OTf) ₃ /mol%	yield/%
Ph	10	68
$p-MeC_6H_4$	5	61
p-MeOC ₆ H ₄	5	0
m-MeOC ₆ H ₄	5	29

Sc(OTf)₃ was found to catalyze intermolecular carbonyl—ene reactions of methylene cyclohexane with aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes.⁷⁸ Interestingly, without any additive, the reaction gave a pyran instead of the ene adduct (Scheme 17). Formation of the pyran was presumably via initial addition of the alkene to the aldehyde, followed by rapid formation of hemiacetal, generation of an oxonium ion, and cyclization. In the presence of acetic anhydride, the ene product was then trapped in situ as an acetate (Table 28). It was found that the electronic effect controlled the reaction; highly electron-rich aromatic

Scheme 18. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Intramolecular Carbonyl–Ene Cyclization of Citronellal



5 mol% Sc(OTf)₃: >95%, isopulegol/other isomers: 94/6 100 mol% ZnBr₂: 70%, isopulegol/other isomers: 94/6

Scheme 19. Imine–Ene Reaction Catalyzed by a Combination of Yb(OTf)₃ and TMSCl



aldehydes failed to react, whereas highly electrondeficient aldehydes and aliphatic aldehydes furnished unexpected geminal diacetates (acylals). The intramolecular ene cyclization of citronellal was originally promoted by a stoichiometric amount (1 equiv) of ZnBr₂.⁷⁹ Notably, a catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃ could be used without affecting the selectivity (Scheme 18).

The imino ene reaction of *N*-tosyl benzaldimine with α -methylstyrene was catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃.⁸⁰ Addition of a catalytic amount of TMSCl dramatically enhanced the reaction (Scheme 19). TMSCl alone did not catalyze the reaction, while TMSOTf or TfOH was less effective to promote the reaction. Moreover, a combination of 50 mol % each of Yb(OTf)₃ and TMSOTf catalyzed three-component coupling of aromatic or aliphatic aldehydes, tosylamine, and α methylstyrene to afford the desired products in good yields (76–90%). Among rare-earth metal triflates screened, Sc(OTf)₃ and Yb(OTf)₃ gave the best yields.

Ene reactions of polymer-supported glyoxylate with alkenes were effectively catalyzed by $Yb(OTf)_3$ (Table 29).^{62b}

2.1.4. Allylation

The Lewis-acid-catalyzed reaction of allyl organometallics with carbonyl compounds provides synthetically useful homoallylic alcohols.⁸¹ Yb(OTf)₃ proved to be a catalyst for allylation of aldehydes with allyltributyltin (Table 30).⁸² In the coexistence of a stoichiometric amount of benzoic acid, the rate of allylation with some less reactive aldehydes was much enhanced (Table 31).⁸³ The added protic acid

Table 29. Ene Reactions of a Polymer-SupportedGlyoxylate



 a 100 mol % of Yb(OTf)_3 was used. b 6% of the exo-methylene isomer was included.

Table 30. Allylation of Aldehydes with Allyltributyltin Catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃

о н + .	SnBu ₃ <u>5 r</u> C	nol% Yb(OTf) ₃ ;H ₂ Cl ₂ , rt, 24 h	
R	yield/%	R	yield/%
Ph p-NO ₂ C ₆ H Hex 1-naphthy PhCHMe 2-furyl	85 93 94 1 88 87 85	^o pent ^r Pr	66 93 86

Table 31. Effect of Benzoic Acid on Allylation of Aldehydes Catalyzed by $Yb(OTf)_3^a$

R	PhCO ₂ H/equiv	time/h	yield/%
C ₆ H ₁₁	0	48	33
C_6H_{11}	1	1.5	100
p-MeSC ₆ H ₄	0	48	27
p-MeSC ₆ H ₄	1	0.75	100
Ph	1	0.25	100
Ph	1	48	0^{b}
^a 2 mol % of V	$b(OTf)_{a} = b$ In the abs	sence of Vh((ጋፐብ

was suggested to promote the catalyst regeneration step where a ytterbium alkoxide intermediate might decompose to Yb(OTf)₃ and a homoallylic alcohol.

Although the allylation reaction with less reactive allyltrimethylsilane was not catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃, it proceeded smoothly in the presence of Sc(OTf)₃ (Table 32).⁸⁴ Moreover, in the coexistence of aldehydes and ketones, aldehydes reacted exclusively under the conditions and high chemoselectivity was demonstrated.⁸⁵ YbCl₃ was also effective in this reaction.⁸⁶

Anhydrous α -keto aldehydes and glyoxylates are unstable and easily polymerized, and thus, they are usefully prepared and stored as hydrates. It is

Table 32. Allylation of Aldehydes with Allyltrimethylsilane Catalyzed by $Sc(OTf)_3$

R H +	SiMe ₃ <u>cat. Sc(</u> CH ₃ NC	(OTf) ₃ D ₂ , rt R ^{<}	ОН
R	Sc(OTf) ₃ /mol%	time/h	yield/%
Ph	2	14	79
2-naphthyl	2	14	73
$p-ClC_6H_4$	2	14	98
$p-NO_2C_6H_4$	2	14	84
PhCH ₂	10	14	53
nBu	10	18	56
^c Hex	10	18	62
^t Bu	10	18	71

Table 33. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Allylation Reactions of α -Keto Aldehydes and Glyoxylates

R OH +	SiMe ₃	mol% Yb(OTf) ₃ solvent, rt 1.5-24 h	R OH
R	solvent	time/h	yield/%
Ph	CH_2Cl_2	2	71
p-HOC ₆ H ₄	MeCN	20	74
p-MeOC ₆ H ₄	MeCN	20	65
BuO	CH_2Cl_2	1.5	76
(–)-menthyloxy	dioxane	20	76 (30% de)

Table 34. Sc(OTf) $_3$ -Catalyzed Allylation of Acetals and gem-Diacetes

10 mol% Sc(OTf)₃

ΟR'

OR'

	SiMe ₃	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt		\checkmark
	R′ =	= Me	R' =	= Ac
Ar	time/h	yield/%	time/h	yield/%
Ph	6	90	4	90
3,4-(OCH ₂ O)C ₆ H ₃	6	87	4	87
3,4-(MeO) ₂ C ₆ H ₃	5	81	5	78
$3,4-Cl_2C_6H_3$	4	87	6	90
3-PhOC ₆ H ₄	5	78	5	89
p-BrC ₆ H ₄	6	85	4	81
m-MeOC ₆ H ₄	6	75	6	80
<i>p</i> -MeC ₆ H ₄	7	90	5	87
o-ClC ₆ H ₄	6	85	4	84
2-naphthyl	6	77	8	88
9-anthracenyl	8	74	10	83
2-thienyl	5	80	7	62
$Ph(CH_2)_2$	6	71	6	65
^c Hex	8	68	8	70

desirable to use these hydrates directly for Lewisacid-catalyzed reactions. Toward this end, It was shown that Yb(OTf)₃ catalyzed reactions of the hydrates from α -keto aldehydes and glyoxylates with allyltrimethylsilane affording α -keto and α -ester homoallylic alcohols, respectively (Table 33).⁸⁷ It is noted that allylation reactions of the corresponding dimethyl acetals were not successful even in the presence of 20 mol % of Yb(OTf)₃.

Scandium triflate catalyzes also allylation of acetals and *gem*-diacetates with allyltrimethylsilane to give homoallyl ethers in high yields (Table 34).⁸⁸ In the presence of trimethylorthoformate, the direct formation of homoallyl methyl ethers from aldehydes and allyltrimethylsilane proceeds smoothly (Table 35).

Table 35. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Direct Allylation of Aldehyde in the Presence of Trimethylorthoformate

	SiMe	CH(C 10	CH(OMe) ₃ (1.2 equiv.) 10 mol% Sc(OTf) ₃		OMe	
HUHU + //~		3	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt R	\sim		
	time/	yield/		time/	yield	
R	h	°%	R	h	۳%	
Ph	5	90	p-MeC ₆ H ₄	5	90	
3,4-(OCH ₂ O)C ₆ H ₃	7	85	3,4,5-(MeO) ₃ C ₆ H ₄	8	75	
3,4-(MeO) ₂ C ₆ H ₃	7	81	2-naphthyl	8	84	
3,4-Cl ₂ C ₆ H ₃	8	90	2-thienyl	5	90	
3-PhOC ₆ H ₄	6	80	Ph(CH ₂) ₂	8	75	
p-BrC ₆ H ₄	5	85	PhCH=CH	5	70	
<i>m</i> -MeOC ₆ H ₄	6	82	^c Hex	8	74	

Scheme 20. Allylation with Tetraallyltin in Aqueous Media Using Sc(OTf)₃



Scheme 21. Allylation in Water Using a Polymer-Supported Scandium Catalyst

$B^{1} = B^{2} + ($	γ_{4} Sn $-$	at. (1.6 mol%) H₂O, rt, 12 h	
R ¹ = Ph, alkyl, CO R ² = H, Me, CO ₂ l	DPh, CH=CH Et	IPh-(<i>E</i>)	72%-quant. yield
	cat: Or	Pacer	

Likewise, other allyl organometallics were subjected for allylation reactions. For example, in the presence of a catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃, tetraallyltin⁸⁹ and tetraallylgermane⁹⁰ reacted with aldehydes to afford homoallylic alcohol, in high yields (Scheme 20). In most cases, the reactions were performed in organic solvent–water mixtures. Remarkably, unprotected sugars reacted directly to give the corresponding adducts in high yields, which provided an easy entry to higher sugars (Scheme 20).⁸⁹ It was possible to conduct reactions without using organic solvents; allylation of aldehydes with tetraallyltin proceeded in water in the presence of a surfactant (SDS).⁹¹

As stated before, ketones are unreactive for allylation.⁸⁵ However, a polymer-supported scandium catalyst showed high activity even toward ketones in pure water. The allylation of carbonyl compounds proceeded smoothly in the presence of the catalyst to afford the corresponding homoallylic alcohols in high yields (Scheme 21).²⁴

Acylsilanes reacted smoothly with tetraallyltin in the presence of $Sc(OTf)_3$.⁹² The silyl groups in the products were easily removed by tetrabutylammonium fluoride (TBAF) to give secondary alcohols.

Scheme 22. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Allylation of Acylsilanes



Scheme 23. Reversal of Diastereoselectivity: Sc(OTf)₃ vs TiCl₄





$\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ R \\ H \\ (1 \text{ equiv.}) \end{array} + \begin{array}{c} R^{1} \\ R^{1} \\ (3 \text{ equiv.}) \end{array}$	In (3 equiv.) Br La(OTf) ₃ (1 equ aq. sat. NH₄Cl,	OH R ⁻ iv.) R {
RCHO	allylic bromide	% yield (<i>anti / syn</i>)
Ph	Br	80% (78 / 22)
СНО	Br	100% (50 / 50)
СНО	Br	88% (81 / 19)
носно П	Br	95% (76 / 24)
TMSCHO	Br	93% (77 / 23)
PhCHO	Br	70% (100 / 0)
PhCHO	EtCO ₂ Br	99% (90 / 10) ^a
PhCHO	EtCO ₂ Br	90% (99 / 1) ^a

 a Aldehyde (1 equiv), bromide (3 equiv), In (2 equiv), and La(OTf)_3 (2 equiv) were used.

When compared to the original procedures, this twostep protocol allows facile access to a wide range of homoallylic alcohols in good yields (Scheme 22). An interesting result was observed with a chiral acylsilane; a complete reversal of diastereoselectivity was observed using $Sc(OTf)_3$ in place of a traditional Lewis acid, $TiCl_4$ (Scheme 23).

La(OTf)₃ was introduced to induce allylation of aldehydes with metallic indium in water (Table 36).⁹³ The reaction was highly *anti*-selective regardless of the geometry of the starting allyl bromides. Given

Table 37. Yb(OTf)₃-Promoted Indium-Mediated Allylation in Aqueous Medium



none	H ₂ O, 10 h	66	41/59
none	DMF/H ₂ O (6/4), 2 h	82	17/83
Yb(OTf) ₃	DMF/H ₂ O (6/4), 1 h	88	6/94
SnCl ₄ ^b	CH₂Cl₂, −78 °C	76	88/12

^{*a*} Determined by ¹³C NMR spectroscopy. ^{*b*} Allyltrimethylsilane was used instead of a combination of In and allyl bromide.

Table 38. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Diasteroselective Allylation with a Chiral Sufinyl Aldehyde



the lower reactivity of γ -substituted allylic reagents, the reaction was much accelerated with sonication.

Loh and his group reported that Yb(OTf)₃ accelerated the indium-mediated allylation reaction of sugarderived chiral aldehyde in an aqueous medium giving high *anti* diastereoselectivity (Table 37).⁹⁴ The reaction proceeded slowly in pure water, and adducts were obtained with poor diastereoselectivity. DMF as a cosolvent resulted in a significant improvement in selectivity, and the best result was obtained with Yb(OTf)₃. Addition of SnCl₄ reversed the diastereofacial selectivity.

Diastereoselective allylation reactions of a chiral sulfinyl-substituted thiophene carboxaldehyde using different Lewis acids were examined.⁹⁵ The reaction with allyltriphenylsilane in the presence of $Ln(OTf)_3$ gave homoallylic alcohols with different selectivities, and Yb(OTf)₃ provided the best result (Table 38). TiCl₄ gave the same diastereomer as the major product, presumably through a chelation-controlled addition. On the other hand, SnCl₄ gave the other diastereomer predominantly.

Table 39. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Propargylation of Aldehydes

) mol% Yb(OTf) ₃ THF, rt, 4 d F	OH
R	yield/%	R	yield/%
Ph	82	p-MeOC ₆ H ₄	41
$p-NO_2C_6H_4$	91	2-furyl	71
m-MeOC ₆ H ₄	60	ⁿ Oct	66

Table 40. Intramolecular Allenylation of an Allenyl Aldehyde



Table 41. RE(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Allylation of Imines

R^{1} +	SnBu ₃ - 15 mol	% Ln(OTf) ₃ R ² ^{Cl₂, rt, 24 h R¹}	NH
\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	Ln(OTf)3	yield/%
Ph	Ph	Yb(OTf) ₃	56
Ph	Ph	La(OTf) ₃	62
Ph	Ph	Sc(OTf) ₃	66
Ph	<i>p</i> -MeOC ₆ H ₄	Yb(OTf) ₃	73
Ph	Bn	$Sc(OTf)_3$	29
2-furyl	Bn	Yb(OTf) ₃	30
PhCH=CH	<i>p</i> -MeOC ₆ H ₄	Yb(OTf) ₃	32
^c Hex	Ph₂CH	La(OTf) ₃	53
EtCO ₂	<i>p</i> -MeOC ₆ H ₄	Yb(OTf) ₃	46

Homopropargyl alcohols were prepared in good yields by Yb(OTf)₃-catalyzed addition of allenyltributylstannane to various aldehydes (Table 39).⁹⁶ A similar result was obtained using $Sc(OTf)_3$ in the propargylation of benzaldehyde. When La(OTf)₃ was used as a catalyst, only a trace amount of product was observed.

Intramolecular allenylation of a propargyl silane aldehyde was studied under different conditions, and it was reported that an allenic product was obtained in moderate to good yields (Table 40).⁹⁷ Sc(OTf)₃ was as good as TBAF to promote the reaction.

Recently, highly enanioselective addition and annulation reactions of allenylsilanes with ethyl glyoxylate were reported. The reactions are catalyzed by Sc(OTf)₃/a chiral pybox ligand complex to give homopropargylic alcohols or dihydrofuranes depending on the silyl group of allenylsilanes used.⁹⁸

It was reported that $\text{RE}(\text{OTf})_3$ catalyzed allylation reactions of imines with allyltributylstannane to furnish homoallylic amines in moderate yields (Table 41).⁹⁹ The choice of the amine partners of the imines was crucial to achieve good yields, e.g., with 15 mol % of Yb(OTf)₃, benzaldehyde imines derived from benzylamine and aniline gave products in 8% and 56% yield, respectively. Sc, La, and Yb triflates were

Scheme 24. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Diastereoselective Allylation of a Chiral Imine



Scheme 25. Selective Activation of Aldimines over Aldehydes in Nucleophilic Addition Reactions Using Yb(OTf)₃ as a Catalyst



Table 42. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Three-Component Reactions of Aldehydes, Amines, and Allyltributyltin in a Micellar System

$R^1CHO + R^2NH_2 +$		³ NHR ² R ¹
R ¹	\mathbb{R}^2	yield/%
Ph	Ph	83
Ph	p-ClC ₆ H ₄	90
Ph	$p-MeOC_6H_4$	81
$p-ClC_6H_4$	$p-ClC_6H_4$	70
2-furyl	p-ClC ₆ H ₄	67
2-thienyl	p-ClC ₆ H ₄	67
$Ph(CH_2)_2$	p-ClC ₆ H ₄	78
ⁿ Oct	p-ClC ₆ H ₄	66
c Hex	Ph	80
PhCO	p-ClC ₆ H ₄	71
(E)-PhCH=CH	p-ClC ₆ H ₄	80

used to get optimum yields with different imines. The chiral imine derived from valine methyl ester gave the allylated product in high diastereoselectivity (Scheme 24). The observed selectivity was attributed to a nucleophilic attack in a chelated transition state.

Selective allylation of aldimines over aldehydes can be achieved using 20 mol % of Yb(OTf)₃ as a catalyst (Scheme 25).⁵⁸ Again, an excess of SnCl₄ promoted the addition to an aldehyde exclusively.

Three-component reactions of aldehydes, amines, and allyltributyltin were achieved in water using $Sc(OTf)_3$ as a Lewis-acid catalyst and a surfactant (SDS) (Table 42).¹⁰⁰ Homoallylic amines were obtained in high yields with a wide range of aldehydes including aromatic, aliphatic, unsaturated, and heteroaromatic aldehydes. No homoallylic alcohol resulting from reactions of allyltributyltin with aldehydes was detected. It was proposed that imine formation

 Table 43. Three-Component Allylation Reactions

 Using Acylhydrazines as a Imine Equivalent

RCHO + H ₂ N	INHBz + ($\int_{4}^{5 \text{ mol\%}} \frac{5 \text{ mol\%}}{\text{Sc}(\text{OTf})_3} \text{Bz}} \frac{\text{Bz}}{\text{CH}_3\text{CN}} \\ \text{Na}_2\text{SO}_4} \\ \text{rt, 2 h}$	R NH
R	yield/%	R	yield/%
Ph(CH ₂) ₂	quant.	Ph	92
"Hex	9 4	p-NCC ₆ H ₄	90
′Bu	99	PhCH=CH	93
^c Hex	84		

Table 44. Use of Polyethylene Glycol–Ln(OTf)₃ Complexes in Allylation of Imines

R ́ Н + ∕∕ S	SnBu ₃ Cata CH ₂ C	$D_{12}, rt = R$	\sim
catalyst	mol%	time	yield/%
fresh Yb(OTf) ₃ 1-year-old Yb(OTf) ₃ [Yb(OTf) ₃ (EO ₄)] [Yb(OTf) ₃ (EO ₄)] [Yb(OTf) ₃ (EO ₂)] [Yb(OTf) ₃ (EO ₂)]	5 5 10 10 10 10 10	90 min 90 min 4 h 24 h 4 h 24 h	100 48 77 94 85 96
HO O O EO4	ООН	HO O EO2	ОН 2

from aldehydes and amines was significantly fast to allow selective activation of imines over aldehydes. Allyltriethylgermane was used in the same type of three-component reactions in CH_3NO_2 in the presence of $Sc(OTf)_3$.¹⁰¹

Sc(OTf)₃ catalyzed reactions of benzoylhydrazones with tetraallyltin, and three-component reactions of aldehydes, benzoylhydrazine, and tetraallyltin also proceeded smoothly to give the corresponding homoallylic hydrazines, which were readily converted to homoallylic amines (Table 43).¹⁰² This reaction was also successfully performed in aqueous media [H₂O/ THF (1/9)].¹⁰³

It was suggested that modification of the coordination sphere of $Ln(OTf)_3$ might lead to different reactivity or selectivity. Some lanthanide complexes with multidentate polyethers and poly(ethylene glycol)s ligands were prepared (Table 44).¹⁰⁴ These complexes were more soluble in organic solvents and less hygroscopic than $Ln(OTf)_3$. Polyether complexes did not catalyze the allylation of aldehydes with allyltributylstannane; however, poly(ethylene glycol)s complexes were effective to promote the reaction. These complexes show improved handling properties compared with the parent $Ln(OTf)_3$ and are not subject to the aging process observed for Yb(OTf)_3.

Intramolecular allylation of imines in the presence of various Lewis acids and protic acids was studied (Table 45).¹⁰⁵ The reaction with γ -alkoxyallylstannane (n = 1) gave *trans* isomer mainly with excellent diastereoselectivity when Yb(OTf)₃, TiCl₂(O'Pr)₂, ZrCl₄, or aqueous HCl was employed as a catalyst. On the other hand, the reaction using BF₃·OEt₂, ZnCl₂, or CF₃CO₂H provided high diastereoselectivities of the

Table 45. Lewis-Acid- and Protic-Acid-Promoted Intramolecular Allylation (n = 1)



catalyst	temp/°C	yield/%	<i>trans</i> (de)/ <i>cis</i> (de) ^a
Yb(OTf) ₃	rt	70	84 (>95)/16 (36)
$TiCl_2(O')_2$	-78	63	77 (>95)/23 (36)
$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	-78	88	90 (81)/10 (>95)
ZnCl ₂	0	94	91 (68)/ 9 (88)
ZrCl ₄	-78	97	100 (91)/0 ()
aqueous HCl	0	98	100 (92)/0 ()
CF_3CO_2H	0	97	87 (63)/13 (>95)

^{*a*} Diastereomeric excesses were determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy.

 Table 46. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Intramolecular

 Allylation

п	time	yield/%	<i>trans</i> (de)/ <i>cis</i> (de) ^{<i>a</i>}
0 1 2	10 min 3 h	90 70	88 (12)/12 (100) 84 (>95)/16 (36)
Z	24 n	62	>98 (-)/2 (-)

 a Diastereomeric excesses were determined by $^1\mathrm{H}$ NMR spectroscopy.

cis isomer, albeit in low yields. It was found that reactivity and diastereoselectivity observed in this reaction depended on the tether length of the γ -alkoxy-alkylstannanes (n = 0-2) (Table 46).

2.1.5. Cyanation

Yb(OTf)₃ was found to catalyze the addition of TMSCN to various carbonyl compounds (Table 47).¹⁰⁶ Aliphatic aldehydes, aliphatic ketones, and glyoxylates exhibit high reactivity for cyanation, whereas aromatic aldehydes are less reactive. Aromatic ketones and acetals are unreactive. The observed difference in reactivities allows chemoselective cyanation of α -keto aldehyde dimethyl acetals, in which the reaction occurred exclusively in the carbonyl moiety when Yb(OTf)₃ was used as a catalyst (Scheme 26). In a sharp contrast, both carbonyl and acetal group reacted with Me₃SiCN in the presence of AlCl₃, forming a 63:37 mixture of the addition and substitution products. Acetophenone was found to be unreactive for cyanation with TMSCN, but an independent study carried out by Jenner revealed that acetophenone did react with TMSCN to give the silylated cyanohydrin in 41% yield.¹⁰⁷

Table 47. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Cyanation of Aldehydes, Ketones, and Glyoxylates

0		2-5 mol% Yb(OTf) ₃		OSiMe ₃
$R^1 R^2$	Me ₃ SiCN [~]	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt, 2	2-20 h	$R^{1} \xrightarrow{f} R^{2}$
\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	mol%	time/h	yield/%
Ph	Н	5	15	86
ⁿ Hex	Н	2	2	95
BuCO ₂	Н	5	2	94
PhCH=CH	Н	5	2	81
Ph(CH ₂) ₂	Me	5	2	85
Ph	Me	5	20	0

Scheme 26. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Chemoselective Cyanation of α-Keto Aldehyde Dimethylacetal



Table 48. Lewis-Acid Catalytsts in Trimethylsilylcyanation of a α-Alkoxyketone

OMe + Me ₃ SiCN	10 mol% LA CH ₂ Cl ₂ TMSO CN Ph
LA	yield/%
ZnI_2	97
InCl ₃	90
InBr ₃	99
Sc(OTf) ₃	91
Sn(OTf) ₂	93





20 mol% Yb(OTf)₃, -45 °C: 100% (<1/>99) 400 mol% SnCl₄, -78 °C: 91% (>99/<1)

Table 49. Sc(OTf) ₃ -Catalyzed	l Strecker-type Reactions
of Aldehydes, Amines, and H	Bu₃SnCN

O Ph R [⊥] H ⁺ H₂N [↓] Ph	+ Bu ₃ SnCN <u>10 mol% Sc(OTf)₃</u> solvent, rt	Ph H、N Ph R CN
	yield/%	yield/%
R	[in MeCŇ/toluene (1/1)]	[Ĭn H ₂ O]
Ph	88	88
PhCH=CH	83	84
2-furyl	88	89
Ph(CH ₂) ₂	94	79
Bu	84	94
^c Hex	86	94

Meanwhile, in the trimethylsilylcyanation of an α -alkoxyketone, scandium triflate was found to be one of the effective catalysts (Table 48).¹⁰⁸

Selective cyanation of aldimines or aldehydes can be achieved with either $Yb(OTf)_3$ or $SnCl_4$ (Scheme 27).⁵⁸

Sc(OTf)₃ was used to achieve Strecker-type reaction of aldehydes, amines, and tributyltin cyanide (Bu₃-SnCN) in both CH₃CN/toluene (1/1) and water (Table 49).¹⁰⁹ Remarkably, dehydrative formation of imines occurred in water. The reaction rate in water was almost the same as that in organic medium, even when surfactant was not added to the reaction mixture. In both media, products resulting from cyanation of aldehyde were not observed. Similar

Table 50. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Strecker-type Reactions of Aldehydes, Amines, and Me₃SiCN

R ¹	+ R ² NH ₂ + H	$Me_3SiCN = \frac{5 \text{ mol}\%}{MS 4A, C}$	$\frac{\text{Yb(OTf)}_{3}}{\text{H}_{3}\text{CN, rt}} + \frac{\text{HN}^{\text{R}^{2}}}{\text{R}^{1}} CN$
-	R ¹	R ²	yield/%
-	Ph	MeOC ₆ H ₄	92
	Ph	Ph ₂ CH	88
	1-naphthyl	MeOC ₆ H ₄	91
	1-naphthyl	Ph ₂ CH	85
	^c Hex	MeOC ₆ H ₄	86
	°Hex	Ph ₂ CH	85
	Ph	Ph Ph HO NH ₂	78 (dr = 16/1) ^a

 a In the presence of 2,6-di-tert-butyl-4-methylpyridine (100 mol%).

Scheme 28. Strecker-type Reaction Using a Polymer-Supported Scandium Catalyst in Water



reactions with Me_3SiCN were catalyzed by $Yb(OTf)_3$ in organic medium in the presence of MS 4 (Table 50).¹¹⁰

Strecker-type reactions of benzaldehyde using polymer-supported scandium catalyst were reported.²⁴ The reaction proceeded cleanly in water to afford the corresponding α -amino nitrile derivatives in high yields (Scheme 28).

2.1.6. Reformatsky-type Reaction

Hashimoto, Saigo, and co-workers disclosed that a combination of Ph₃P and Sc(OTf)₃ mediated Reformatsky-type reaction of α -bromoamide with several aldehydes and that β -hydroxyamides were obtained in good yields with *syn*-selectivities (Table 51).¹¹¹ Other Lewis acids including BF₃·OEt₂, TiCl₄, and Yb(OTf)₃ were less efficient, resulting in low reaction rate and/or poor selectivity.

Table 51. Reformatsky-type Reactions of α -Bromoamides with Aldehydes in the Presence of Lewis Acids and Ph₃P



^{*a*} Determined by 300 MHz ¹H NMR spectroscopy. ^{*b*} The reaction was performed with 1.2 equivalents each of aldehyde, Lewis acid and Ph₃P.

Table 52. Synthesis of α -Fluoro- β -hydroxy Esters by Reformatsky-type Reaction

$R^{1} + C^{2} + C^{2$				
	DIVIA = /	v, iv-dimethylacetai	nide	
R^1 , R^2	cat. (mol %)	yield/%	dr	
Ph, H	none	81	1/1	
Ph, H	CeCl ₃ (5)	80	n.r. ^a	
$-(CH_2)_4-$	$CeCl_3$ (5)	45		
$-(CH_2)_4-$	Yb(OTf) ₃ (5)	40		
^a Not reported.				

It was also reported that Reformatsky-type reactions of ethyl chlorofluoroacetate with less reactive aliphatic aldehydes or ketones were efficiently catalyzed by CeCl₃ or Yb(OTf)₃ (Table 52).¹¹² In the absence of the catalyst, only low yields (5–10% yields) of products were obtained, while aromatic aldehydes reacted without catalyst.

2.1.7. Nucleophilic Addition Using Organolanthanide Reagents

It has been reported that lanthanum reagents prepared from La(OTf)₃ and organolithium reagents add to amides giving ketones in a highly selective manner.¹¹³ MeLi reacted with *N*,*N*-diethylbenzamide to give acetophenone and 2-phenyl propan-2-ol in 26% and 15% yields, respectively. *N*,*N*-Diethyl benzamide was recovered in 54% yield. The same reaction in the presence of La(OTf)₃ gave acetophenone as the sole product (95% yield). Likewise, other alkyllithium reagents reacted with substituted aryl amides to afford high yields of alkyl aryl ketones (Scheme 29).

Scheme 29. Preparation of Ketones by Addition of Organolanthanum Reagents to Amides



Organoytterbium reagents, prepared form of common organolithiums or organomagnesiums and Yb(OTf)₃, reacted with various 2-, 3-, or 4-substituted cyclohexanones in a highly diastereoselective manner (Table 53).¹¹⁴ In the carbonyl addition with 2-methylcyclohexanone, better selectivities of equatorial to axial attacks were achieved with organoytterbium reagents than with typical organotitanium,¹¹⁵ organolithium,¹¹⁶ or organomagnesium reagents.¹¹⁷

Although addition of Yb(OTf)₃ did not reverse the diastereoselectivity of the reactions of 2-methylcyclohexanone with oxygenated organolithiums, the reversal of diastereoselectivity was observed in the reactions of α -benzyloxy ketones with common organolithiums; thus, the addition of Yb(OTf)₃ favored formation of Felkin–Anh addition products (Table 54).¹¹⁸ Meanwhile, both the yields and diastereoselectivities in the reactions with

 Table 53. Diastereoselective Addition of

 Organoytterbium Reagents to 2-Methylcyclohexane



Table 54. Effect of Yb(OTf)₃ on Diastereoselective Addition of Organolithiums to Chiral Chelating Aldehydes

\sim		M 78 °C		
RM	\mathbb{R}^1	Yb(OTf) ₃	yield/%	dr
MeLi	Bn	_	84	70/30
MeLI	Bn	+	96	27/73
BuLi	Bn	—	83	76/34
BuLi	Bn	+	85	22/78
MeLi	′BuMe2Si	—	75	11/89
MeLi	′BuMe2Si	+	86	3/97
BuLi	′BuMe2Si	—	83	4/96
BuLi	^t BuMe ₂ Si	+	87	<1/>99

 Table 55. Efficient Addition of Organoytterbium

 Reagents to a Cyclobutanones



other 2- and 3- silyloxy ketones were improved by employing Yb(OTf)₃.

Recently, organoytterbium reagents were shown to add to a cyclobutanone derivative efficiently, while MeMgBr or MeLi in the absence of Yb(OTf)₃ or less basic organocerium reagents led to substantial epimerization of the ketone (Table 55).¹¹⁹

Homochiral organolanthanide reagents, prepared by the reaction of (R)-BINOL with in situ generated trimethyllanthanides, were used for enantioselective addition to 4-methylbenzaldehyde (Scheme 30).¹²⁰ While Yb(OTf)₃ and Ce(OTf)₃ gave products with moderate enantiomeric excesses, CeCl₃ gave better selectivity.

Recently, it was revealed that the 1,2-addition of Grignard reagents to *N*-*p*-methoxyphenyl (PMP) aldimines proceeded effectively in the presence of catalytic amounts of $Sc(OTf)_{3}$.¹²¹

Scheme 30. Enantioselective Addition of Organolanthanide Reagents to an Aldehyde



2.1.8 Michael Reaction

1,4-Conjugate additions of either stabilized or nonstabilized carbanions and heteroanions to activated alkenes and alkynes are one of the most convenient, intensely studied, and useful synthetic methods.¹²² The reactions using more selective and less basic organometallic nucleophiles, such as silyl enol ethers and ketene silyl acetals, were introduced by Mukaiyama,¹²³ and the so-called Mukaiyama– Michael reaction was effected with various Lewis acids.¹²⁴ In contrast to other enolate additions, the Lewis-acid-catalyzed reaction permits using basesensitive Michael acceptors, prevents 1,2-additions and enolate scrambling, and creates β -quaternary centers in high yields.

It has been reported that Ln(OTf)₃ catalyzed conjugate addition of silyl enol ethers to α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds to give the corresponding 1,5-dicarbonyl compounds (Table 56).¹²⁵ Silyl enol ethers derived from ketones, thioesters, and esters were applicable, and no 1,2-addition products were obtained. Products could be isolated as synthetically valuable silyl enol ethers when the crude adducts were isolated without acidic workup. Easily recoverable and reusable microencapsulated Sc-(OTf)₃ was also effective for the Michael reaction of silyl enol ethers with α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds.³⁷

Lewis-acid-catalyzed conjugate addition reactions of silyl enol ethers derived from a lactone and lactams with nitroenamines proceeded equally well in the presence of a catalytic amount of $Sm(OTf)_3$ or $(PrO)_2TiBr_2$ (Table 57).¹²⁶

It is well-known that Michael additions of β -ketoesters and dialkyl malonates are catalyzed by various Lewis acids under nonaqueous conditions¹²⁷ and that Michael additions of β -ketoesters are sluggish in water under neutral conditions.^{122,128} A report from Feringa and co-workers has shown that watertolerant Yb(OTf)₃ catalyzed Michael addition of β ketoesters to β -unsubstituted enones in water (Scheme 31).¹²⁹ Surprisingly, no acid-catalyzed hydrolysis of the ester was observed. The same reaction hardly occurred in organic solvents such as THF, dioxane, and CH₂Cl₂.¹²⁷

It was found that Yb(OTf)₃ on silica gel support catalyzed additions of β -ketoesters to β -substituted enones without using any solvent (Scheme 32), while high pressure and temperature facilitated the reactions with acrylic esters.¹³⁰

Table 56. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Mukaiyama–Michael Reactions



 Table 57. Lewis Acid-catalyzed Conjugate Addition of

 Lactam-derived Silyl Enol Ethers to a Nitroenamine

Me	OSiMe ₃ N Me + N	<u>10 mol% I</u> -78 °C NO ₂	A Me-N	Me NO ₂
n	LA (mol %)	solvent	time/min	yield/%
1	Sm(OTf) ₃ (10)	THF	18	75
1	(⁷ PrO) ₂ TiBr ₂ (10)	CH_2Cl_2	18	77
2	Sm(OTf) ₃ (10)	THF	18	70
2	(^{<i>i</i>} PrO) ₂ TiBr ₂ (10)	CH_2Cl_2	18	71

On the other hand, Michael addition with α -nitroesters proceeds in water using Yb(OTf)₃ as a catalyst (Scheme 33).¹³¹ The Michael adducts serve as versatile building blocks for making amino acid derivatives.

The conjugate addition of indoles to α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds has been limited because strong acidic conditions, long reaction time, and constraint on substrates employed were required.¹³² For instance, only highly reactive methyl vinyl ketone^{132a} and β -nitrostyrene^{132b} can react with indoles. Clay^{132c} and Lewis-acid^{132d} catalysts have been reported to accelerate the reactions of methyl vinyl ketone and some activated substrates.

It was found that Yb(OTf)₃ catalyzed conjugate additions of both *N*-substituted and unsubstituted indoles to various electron-deficient olefins, including β -substituted enones and esters (Table 58).¹³³ Unfortunately, other Michael acceptors, such as phenyl

Scheme 31. Michael Addition of β -Keto Esters in Water in the Presence of Yb(OTf)₃



Scheme 32. Michael Addition of Cyclopent-2-enone Catalyzed by $Yb(OTf)_3$ on a Silica Gel Support



Scheme 33. Michael Addition of α -Nitroesters in Water in the Presence of Yb(OTf)₃





Table 58. Conjugate Addition of Indoles

vinyl sulfone, ethyl cinnamate, methyl acrylate, acylonitrile, and several α , β -unsaturated aldehydes, failed to react in this process.

The effect of Lewis-acid catalysts on Pd-catalyzed reactions of sodium tetraphenylborate with various enones and enals was studied (Table 59).¹³⁴ In the reaction with benzalacetone, Yb(OTf)₃ and other conventional Lewis acids including BF₃·OEt₂, Al-



Table 60. Diastereoselective Conjugate Addition of Grignard Reagents in the Presence of Yb(OTf)₃

Me~N Me [*] Ph	Yb(OTf) ₃ (1 equiv.) RMgX, CH ₂ Cl ₂	•
Me∼ _N Me	O O R ¹ N R + Me~r Ph Me ² ▲	O O R ¹ N R Ph B
RMgX	yield/% ^a	A/B
PhMgCl	20 (11)	41/59
AllylMgCl	93 (7)	75/25
AllylMgBr	92 (8)	82/18
^a The yield in parer	theses is for the 1,2-	addition product

 $(O'Pr)_3$, and Ti $(O'Pr)_4$ gave the usual Heck-type reaction product in high yield, whereas SbCl₃ and AsCl₃ favored formation of an unexpected Michael-type conjugate addition compound. However, the reaction with 2-cyclohexen-1-one favored conjugate addition compounds regardless of the acid catalyst employed.

Asymmetric conjugate addition of Grignard reagents to chiral imides was attempted by using a stoichiometric amount of $Yb(OTf)_3$.¹³⁵ Despite low yield and diastereoselectivity being observed with PhMgCl, allyl Grignard reagents gave better yields and selectivities (Table 60).

The chiral Lewis acid generated from a 1:1 mixture of Sc(OTf)₃ and 3,3'-bis(diethylaminomethyl)-1,1'-bi-2-naphthol catalyzed stereoselective Michael addition of 2-(trimethylsiloxy)furan to *N*-crotyloxazolidinone.¹³⁶ The reaction proceeded with *anti* selectivity, providing the product with moderate enantioselectivity. In a sharp contrast, other Ln(OTf)₃ resulted in poor selectivities (Table 61).

Nakajima and co-workers reported that a chiral N,N-dioxide/scandium triflate complex served as an effective enantioselective catalyst in Michael addition of β -keto esters to methyl vinyl ketone (Table 62).¹³⁷

2.1.9. Others

It was reported that the diastereoselectivity of the Grignard reaction was changed in the presence of Yb(OTf)₃. This can be rationalized by a chelated

 Table 61. Asymmetric Michael Addition of

 2-(Trimethylsiloxy)Furan to N-Crotyloxazolidinone



LA	yield/%	anti/syn	ee/% ^a
Sc(OTf) ₃ b	80 (86)	>50/1 (>50/1)	65 (68)
Y(OTf) ₃	87	39/1	0
La(OTf) ₃	62	1.6/1	28
Yb(OTf) ₃	65	12/1	10

^{*a*} Enantiomeric excesses of the *anti* isomers. ^{*b*} The values in parentheses were obtained from the reaction with 10 mol % of LA and 12 mol % of chiral ligand.

 Table 62. Enantioselective Michael Addition Using a

 Chiral N,N-Dioxide/Scandium Triflate Complex



\mathbb{R}^2	yield/%	ee/%	configuration
Me	98	39	R
Me	85	38	R
Me	94	47	R
Me	98	69	R
Me	93	80	R
Н	73 ^a	75^{a}	R
	R ² Me Me Me Me H	R ² yield/% Me 98 Me 94 Me 98 Me 93 H 73 ^a	R ² yield/% ee/% Me 98 39 Me 85 38 Me 94 47 Me 98 69 Me 93 80 H 73 ^a 75 ^a

^a Determined after conversion of aldehyde to methyl ester.

Scheme 34. Diastereoselective Addition of Phenyl Grignard Reagent to 1-(Arylsulfinyl)-2-naphthaldehydes

Tip



transition state between the sulfinyl and formyl oxygens with Yb(OTf)₃ (Scheme 34).¹³⁸

The reactions of acylzirconocenes with imines proceeded in the presence of Yb(OTf)₃/Me₃SiOTf to afford α -amino ketones directly (Scheme 35).¹³⁹

Reactions of 2-methyl-2-vinyloxirane with aldehydes were reported. Sc(OTf)₃ induced ring opening followed by a [1,2] hydride shift to generate the β , γ -unsaturated aldehydes. This intermediate was then translated to give an enol form which reacts with aldehydes to yield the corresponding adducts in high yields (Table 63).¹⁴⁰

Scheme 35. Yb(OTf)₃/Me₃SiOTf-Catalyzed Reactions of Acylzirconocene Chlorides with Imines



Table 63. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Reactions of 2-Methyl-2-vinyloxirane with Aldehydes



Table 64. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Ring Opening ofEpoxide with Lithium Enolates



enolate	catalyst	yield/%	syn/anti
Α	Sc(OTf) ₃	90	55/45
Α	$Y(OTf)_3$	80	58/42
Α	Ti(Cp) ₂ (OTf) ₂	74	54/46
В	Sc(OTf) ₃	95	45/55
В	Y(OTf) ₃	90	45/55
В	Ti(Cp) ₂ (OTf) ₂	62	51/49

The effect of Lewis acids on ring opening of epoxide with lithium enolates was studied.¹⁴¹ Sc(OTf)₃ catalyzed the reactions in excellent yields, whereas $Y(OTf)_3$ and a titanium-based catalyst were less effective (Table 64). It was shown that *syn/anti* ratios of the products were independent of the lithium enolate geometry.

2.2. Cyclization Reactions

2.2.1. Carbon Diels-Alder Reactions

Diels-Alder reactions provide powerful entries for cyclic structures with up to four consecutive stereogenic centers in a single operation. Although many Diels-Alder reactions have been carried out thermally without using catalysts, heat-sensitive com-

 Table 65. Rare-Earth Metal Triflate-Catalyzed

 Diels-Alder Reactions



 a Isolated yield. b Determined by ¹H and/or $^{13}\mathrm{C}$ NMR spectroscopy. c 2,3-Dimethyl-1,3-butadiene. d 20 mol % of Yb(OTf)_3 was used.

n

88

Scheme 36. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Diels–Alder Reaction in Aqueous Medium

Me

Sc

Η

Me Me



CH₂Cl₂: 83%, *endo/exo* (100/0) THF/H₂O (9/1): 93%, *endo/exo* (100/0)

pounds cannot survive under such conditions. Furthermore, Diels—Alder reactions are reversible, and the lowest possible temperatures are generally used to prevent equilibration and/or retro-Diels—Alder reactions. While Lewis-acid catalysts allow the reactions to proceed at room temperature or below with satisfactory yields, they are often accompanied by diene polymerization and excess amounts of catalysts are often needed to mediate carbonyl-containing dienophiles.¹⁴²

While Yb(OTf)₃ was shown to be an effective catalyst in Diels–Alder reactions,^{125a} Sc(OTf)₃ was later found to be the most effective as a catalyst among rare-earth metal triflates (Table 65).¹⁴³ In the presence of 10 mol % of Y(OTf)₃ or Yb(OTf)₃, only a trace amount of the adduct was obtained from methyl vinyl ketone (MVK) and isoprene. However, the same reaction gave the desired adduct in 91% yield in the presence of 10 mol % of Sc(OTf)₃. Several examples of the Sc(OTf)₃-catalyzed Diels–Alder reactions are shown in the table. In all cases, the Diels–Alder adducts were obtained in high yields with high *endo*-selectivities. Scandium perfluoroalkanesulfonate is also an effective catalyst for Diels–Alder reactions.¹⁴⁴

Sc(OTf)₃ catalyzed the Diels–Alder reaction of naphthoquinone with cyclopentadiene in aqueous media (THF/H₂O 9/1) to give the desired adduct in excellent yield (Scheme 36).^{143,145}

In an effort to prepare isoarborinol and fernenol, the stereoselectivity of the Diels-Alder reaction of a Table 66. Stereoselective Variation in the Diels–Alder Reaction of a Chiral Diene with 2,6-Dimethylbenzoquinone under Different Conditions



LA (mol %)	conditions	yield/%	A/B/C/D
Sc(OTf) ₃ (100)	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , -78 °C, 8 h	92	77/15/8/0
Sc(OTf) ₃ (100)	CH ₂ Cl ₂ /H ₂ O (1/10), 25 °C, 20 h	96	2/0/77/21
Sc(OTf) ₃ (10)	THF/H ₂ O (9/1), 25 °C, 21 h	18	0/0/75/25
Eu(fod) ₃ (200)	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 25 °C, 24 h	73	0/0/42/58
none	benzene, reflux, 20 h	96	0/0/100/0
AlCl ₃ (120)	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , -70 °C, 2 h	80	58/42/0/0
TiCl ₄ (130)	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , -78 °C, 3 h	70	89/11/0/0
LiCl (5 M)	H ₂ O, 25 °C, 7 h	79	0/0/76/24
10 kbar	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 50 °C, 24 h	96	0/0/75/25

chiral diene with 2,6-dimethylbenzoquinone was studied under different conditions (Table 66).¹⁴⁶ The reaction using a stoichiometric amount of Sc(OTf)₃ in CH₂Cl₂ favored two of the endo-products resulting from meta approach of the substrates. This selectivity was similar to the results obtained using AlCl₃ and TiCl₄. However, in the presence of water, the reactions gave the other endo-products resulting from ortho approach, and this selectivity was independent of the stoichiometry of the catalyst employed. The same preference was observed when $Eu(Fod)_3$ or a high concentration of LiCl (5 M) was used or under a hydrostatic pressure (10 kbar). The best conditions were in boiling benzene without a Lewis-acid catalyst, giving exclusively one of the products from ortho approach.

It has been demonstrated that the stereoselectivity in Sc(OTf)₃-catalyzed Diels–Alder reactions of alkyl acrylates with cyclopentadiene was improved by employing supercritical CO_2 (sc CO_2) as the reaction medium (Table 67).¹⁴⁷

Ionic liquids act as powerful media in scandium triflate-catalyzed Diels–Alder reactions not only for facilitating catalyst recovery but also for accelerating reaction rate and improving selectivity (Table 68).¹⁴⁸

Polymer-supported scandium catalyst has high activity for Diels–Alder reactions in water (Scheme 37).²⁴

Diels–Alder reactions of various electron-deficient dienophiles with 1,3-cyclohexadiene proceed smoothly in the presence of 10 mol % of Yb(OTf)₃·H₂O under ultrahigh pressure (13 kbar) (Scheme 38).¹⁴⁹

Table 67. Effect of Reaction Media on Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Diels–Alder Reactions of Acrylates with Cyclopentadiene

+	$CO_2R \xrightarrow{6.5 \text{ mol% Sc(OTf)}_3} \qquad \swarrow \qquad CO_2F$	+ 2 CO2R
	endo	exo
R	reaction medium	endo/exo
Bu	toluene	10/1
Bu	CHCl ₃	11/1
Bu	scCO ₂ (1.03 g/mL) ^a	24/1
Me	toluene	4/1
Me	scCO ₂ (1.12 g/mL)	>10/1
Ph	toluene	2/1
Ph	scCO ₂ (1.09 g/mL)	>8/1
^a Density	of scCO ₂	

 Table 68. Scandium Triflate-Catalyzed Diels-Alder

 Reactions with Ionic Liquids

dienophile	e + diene	0.2 mol% Sc(OT rt, 2-4 h	⊡[4+2] a	dduct	
bmim = N + N					
dienophile	diene	condition		yield/% (<i>endo/exo</i>)	
	\mathbf{i}	CD ₂ Cl ₂ CD ₂ Cl ₂ , [bmim][F CD ₂ Cl ₂ , [bmim][F [bmim][PF ₆] (solv [bmim][OTf] (solv	PF ₆] (0.5eq.) PF ₆] (1eq.) vent) vent)	22 85 >99 >99 >99	
0	\bigcirc	[bmim][PF ₆]		94 (>99:1) ^a	
°,	X	[bmim][PF ₆] [bmim][OTf] {	1 st run 2 nd run 3 rd run 11 th run	88 94 86 81 90	
	\bigcirc	[bmim][PF ₆] (solv	vent)	96 (>99:1) ^b	
	\mathbf{i}	[bmim][PF ₆]		80	
) O	\bigcirc	[bmim][PF ₆]		84 (>99:1)	
		[bmim][PF ₆]		71 (>99:1)	

 a 94% endo-selectivity was obtained in CH_2Cl_2. b 95% endo-selectivity was obtained in CH_2Cl_2.

The thermal [4+2] cycloaddition of in situ produced dienyl sulfide from cyclic dithioacetal of 3-methylcyclopent-2-enone reacted with dimethyl acetylene dicarboxylate to give 2-norbornanone dithioacetal in good yield (Table 69).¹⁵⁰ Lewis acids and a Brønsted acid were added in order to facilitate the conversion to dienyl thioacetals, but in all cases, yields were not high.

Intramolecular Diels–Alder reactions of oxazole– olefins are catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃, Sc(OTf)₃, and most effectively Cu(OTf)₂ to afford pyridine derivatives (Table 70).¹⁵¹

Scheme 37. Diels-Alder Reaction in Water Using a Polymer-Supported Scandium Catalyst



Scheme 38. Diels-Alder Reaction Catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃·H₂O under Ultrahigh Pressure



Table 69. Preparation of 2-Norbornanone Dithioacetalby [4+2] Cycloaddition



^{*a*} Reactions were performed with 1 equiv of dithioacetal and 1.7 equiv of dienophile in MeCN at 60 °C, unless otherwise stated. ^{*b*} Determined by GC. ^{*c*} Isolated yield. ^{*d*} GC yield based on the consumption of dithioacetal.

Table 70. Lewis-Acid Catalysis of Intramolecular Diels-Alder Reaction of Oxazole-Olefins

		R ² catalyst o-dichlorobenzene 150 °C	R^2	
\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	catalyst/mol%	time/h	yield/%
Н	Me		24	21
		Yb(OTf) ₃ (10)	2	37
		Sc(OTf) ₃ (10)	3	40
		Cu(OTf) ₂ (10)	3	48
		$Cu(OTf)_2 (2)^a$	1	55
Н	Н		24	6
		Sc(OTf) ₃ (10)	8	15
		Cu(OTf) ₂ (10)	8	24
CO ₂ Me	Me	Cu(OTf) ₂ (10)	0.5	95
^a At 18	0 °C.			

Lewis-acid-mediated asymmetric Diels–Alder reactions of 2-(3-tolyl-*p*-sufinyl)furyl- α , β -unsaturated enones with cyclopentadiene were investigated.¹⁵² The reaction gave poor selectivity without a Lewis acid (Table 71). Conventional Lewis acids such as TiCl₄ and BF₃·OEt₂ gave disappointing results. On the other hand, catalytic amounts of AlCl₃ and Table 71. Effect of Lewis Acids in Asymmetric Diels–Alder Reactions of Chiral (Sulfinyl)furyl- α,β -unsaturated Enones with Cyclopentadiene^a



R	LA (mol %)	yield/%	A/B/C/D
Ph	None ^b	72	27/36/17/20
Ph	TiCl ₄ (100) ^c	0	
Ph	BF ₃ •OEt ₂ (100) ^c	100	65/32/2/1
Ph	AlCl ₃ (20)	100	88/4/7/1
Ph	$Yb(OTf)_{3}$ (100)	96	84/10/4/2
Ph	$Yb(OTf)_{3}(20)$	88	83/6/9/2
Ph	Nd(OTf) ₃ (20)	100	88/4/7/1
Ph	$Sm(OTf)_{3}$ (20)	100	89/3/6/2
Me	AlCl ₃ (20)	87	74/16/8/2
Me	Yb(OTf) ₃ (20)	94	87/4/7/2
Me	Nd(OTf) ₃ (20)	100	89/5/5/1
Me	Sm(OTf) ₃ (20)	97	90/4/5/1

 a The reactions were performed in CH_2Cl_2 at 25 °C unless otherwise stated. b The reaction was performed in benzene at 80 °C. c At -20 °C.

 $Ln(OTf)_3$ facilitated the reaction to give the Diels-Alder adduct in high yields and selectivities.

As an extension of this work, the use of 1-(2-tolyl*p*-sufinyl)pyrrolyl- α , β -unsaturated enones as dienophiles was studied (Table 72).¹⁵³ Again, AlCl₃ and Ln(OTf)₃ mediated the cycloaddition reactions with cyclopentadiene in high yields and selectivities; however, stoichiometric amounts of Lewis acids were required when these chiral dienophiles were employed.

Chiral Lewis-acid-mediated asymmetric Diels– Alder reactions have been reported recently.¹⁵⁴ Although rare-earth metal compounds were expected to be promising Lewis-acid reagents, only a few asymmetric reactions catalyzed by chiral rare-earth metal Lewis acids have been reported.¹⁵⁵ On the other hand, rare-earth metal triflates, especially Yb(OTf)₃ and Sc(OTf)₃, are good catalysts in Diels–Alder reactions of various dienophiles with cyclic and acyclic dienes.^{125,143}

Kobayashi and co-workers reported that a chiral ytterbium catalyst generated in situ from Yb(OTf)₃, (R)-(+)-1,1'-bi-2-naphthol [(R)-BINOL], and a tertiary amine in dichloromethane (Scheme 39) was quite effective in enantioselective Diels–Alder reactions (Table 74).¹⁵⁶ Moreover, some additives were found to be effective to stabilize the catalyst and at the same time to control enantiofacial selectivities in the Diels–Alder reactions. By employing 3-acetyl-1,3-oxazolidin-2-one as an additive, the *endo*-adduct was obtained in 93% ee with (2*S*,3*R*)-form. On the other hand, the use of 3-phenylacetylacetone as an additive



R	LA (mol %)	yield/%	endo (A+B)/ exo (C+D)	% de (<i>endo</i>)
Ph	BF ₃ •OEt ₂ (100)	0	-	-
Ph	ZnCl ₂ (100)	60	77/23	38
Ph	AlCl ₃ (100)	99	95/5	98
Ph	Yb(OTf) ₃ (100)	61	69/31	89
Ph	$Yb(OTf)_{3}(20)$	33	80/20	80
Me	Yb(OTf) ₃ (100)	93	92/8	93
Et	Yb(OTf) ₃ (100)	99	95/5	84
Et	Nd(OTf) ₃ (100)	100	95/5	90
Et	Sm(OTf) ₃ (100)	96	96/4	96
^a Tł	ne reactions were p	erformed in	n CH2Cl2 at 25 °	°C.

Scheme 39. Preparation of Chiral Rare-Earth Metal Triflates





gave endo-adduct in 81% ee with (2R,3S)-form.¹⁵⁷ Following the same method, a chiral Sc catalyst was prepared from $Sc(OTf)_3$, (*R*)-BINOL, and a tertiary amine in dichloromethane (Scheme 39). The catalyst was also effective for the Diels-Alder reactions of an acrylic acid derivative with dienes (Table 73).¹⁵⁸ The amines employed in the preparation of the catalyst had a strong influence on enantioselectivities. The highest enantioselectivities were obtained when cis-1,2,6-trimethylpiperidine was used. It should be noted that even 3 mol % of the catalyst was sufficient to complete the reaction and that the endo-adduct was produced in 92% ee. 3-Acetyl-1,3-oxazolin-2-one and 3-benzoyl-1,3-oxazolin-2-one were also effective additives to stabilize the chiral Sc catalyst. However, unlike the similar chiral Yb catalyst, the sense of the enantioselections for these additives was the same.

 Table 73. Enantioselective Diels-Alder Reactions

 Using Chiral Rare-Earth Metal Triflates



R	RE catalyst ^a (mol %)	additive	yield/%	endo/exo	ee /% ^b
Me	Yb (20)	none	77	89/11	95 (2 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>R</i>)
Me	Yb (20)	Α	77	89/11	93 (2 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>R</i>)
Me	Yb (20)	\mathbf{B}^{c}	83	93/7	81 (2 <i>R</i> ,3 <i>S</i>)
Me	Sc (20)	none	94	89/11	92 (2 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>R</i>)
Me	Sc (10)	none	84	86/14	96 (2 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>R</i>)
Me	Sc (3)	none	83	87/13	92 (2 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>R</i>)
Ph	Yb (20)	Α	40	81/19	83 (2 <i>R</i> ,3 <i>R</i>)
Ph	Yb (20)	\mathbf{B}^{c}	60	89/11	79 (2 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>S</i>)
Ph	Sc (20)	none	99	89/11	93 (2 <i>R</i> ,3 <i>R</i>)
Ph	Sc (10)	none	96	90/10	97 (2 <i>R</i> ,3 <i>R</i>)
<i>n</i> Pr	Yb (20)	none	81	80/20	83 (2 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>R</i>)
<i>n</i> Pr	Yb (20)	Α	34	80/20	86 (2 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>R</i>)
<i>ⁿ</i> Pr	Yb (20)	\mathbf{B}^{c}	81	91/9	80 (2 <i>R</i> ,3 <i>S</i>)

^{*a*} *cis*-1,2,6-Trimethylpiperidine was used as the amine component for preparation of the chiral catalyst unless otherwise stated. ^{*b*} Enantiomeric excess of *endo*-adduct. ^{*c*} 1,2,2,6,6-Pentamethylpiperidine was used to prepare catalyst.

Table 74. Asymmetric Diels-Alder Reactions of a 2-Pyrone Derivative Using a Chiral Yb(OTf)₃ Catalyst

CO ₂ Me	XR Yb(OTh THF ⁱ Pr ₂ N	f) ₃ /(<i>R</i>)-BINOL (5-10 equiv.) NEt, CH ₂ Cl ₂	O O CO ₂ Me XR
XR	THF/equiv	yield/%	ee/%
BuO	5	81	65
BuS	10	85	74
^c HexO	10	90	96
^c HexS	10	67	>95
PhS	10	92	>95

This observation may be attributed to different coordination numbers of Sc(III) and Yb(III); Sc(III) has up to seven ligands, while specific coordination numbers of Yb(III) allow it to have up to 12 ligands.¹⁵⁹

A possible structure of the chiral Sc catalyst was postulated based on the observation by ¹³C NMR and IR spectroscopy.¹⁶⁰ The most characteristic feature of the catalyst was the existence of hydrogen bonds between phenolic hydrogens of the binaphthol and nitrogens of the tertiary amines. The coordination of this catalyst may be similar to that of the lanthanide(III)–water or –alcohol complex. It should be noted that the structure is quite different from those of conventional chiral Lewis acids based on aluminum,¹⁶¹ boron,¹⁶² or titanium.¹⁶³ In the present chiral catalyst, the axial chirality of (R)-BINOL is trans-



Figure 1. Assumed transition state.

ferred through the hydrogen bondings to the amines, which shield one side of the dienophile effectively. Thus, the amines employed in the preparation of the chiral catalysts strongly influenced the selectivities, and hence, bulky amines gave better selectivities.

The sense of asymmetric induction in the chiral Sc(III)-catalyzed reactions can be rationalized by assuming an octahedral Sc(III)-dienophile complex (Figure 1). The axial chirality of (R)-BINOL is transferred to the amine, the *re* face of the acyl-1,3-oxazolidin-2-one is effectively shielded by the amine part, and a diene approaches the dienophile from the *si* face to afford the adduct with a high enantio-selectivity. Since the amine part can be freely chosen, the design of efficient catalyst systems is easier when compared to other chiral Lewis-acid catalysts based on (R)-BINOL.

Wipf and his group reported that catalytic asymmetric Diels–Alder reaction of an aminodiene proceeded enantioselectively in the presence of the chiral scandium catalyst prepared from $Sc(OTf)_3$ and BINOL (Scheme 40).¹⁶⁴

Scheme 40. Catalytic Asymmetric Diels-Alder Reaction of an Aminodiene



Enantioselective cycloaddition reactions of 3-carbomethoxy-2-pyrone with various vinyl ethers and sulfides were mediated by a catalyst consisting of Yb(OTf)₃ and BINOL to afford bicyclic lactones in good to excellent enantiomeric excesses (Table 74).¹⁶⁵ It should be noted that Yb(OTf)₃ itself did not promote the reaction of 3-carbomethoxy-2-pyrone with butyl vinyl ether and that Lewis acids such as BF₃·OEt₂, TiCl₄, and Et₂AlCl coordinated strongly to 3-carbomethoxy-2-pyrone to give complexed pyrylium cations, hampering the reaction.

Nakagawa and co-workers utilized catalysts prepared from chiral 1,1'-(2,2'-bisacylamino)binaphthalenes, Yb(OTf)₃, and 'Pr₂NEt in asymmetric Diels– Alder reactions of 3-crotonyloxazolidinones with cyclopentadiene (Scheme 41).¹⁶⁶

Fukuzawa and co-workers investigated enantioselective Diels–Alder reactions of 3-(2-alkenoyl)oxazolidinones with 1,3-dienes using chiral nitrogendonor ligands–Sc(OTf)₃ complex.¹⁶⁷ Among chiral

Scheme 41. Enantioselective Diels-Alder Reaction Catalyzed by

1,1'-(2,2'-Bisacylamino)binaphthalene-Yb(OTf)₃ Complexes



Table 75. Enantioselective Diels-Alder Reaction Using a Chiral Pybox-Sc(OTf)₃ Complex

(1.2 equiv.)



R	temp/°C	yield/%	endo/exo	(endo)	configuration
Н	0	63	92/8	82	S
\mathbf{H}^{a}	0	60	98/2	90	S
Me	0	99	89/11	78	2S, 3R
Me^a	0	94	91/9	83	2S, 3R
Ph	25	27	78/22	75	2 <i>R</i> ,3 <i>R</i>

^a The complex was prepared at -78 °C.

ligands tested, isopropyl pybox was found to be the most effective, providing up to 90% ee (Table 75). The reactions can be carried out in less toxic benzotrifluoride and supercritical carbon dioxide with slightly inferior selectivities.

2.2.2. Aza-Diels-Alder Reactions

The Diels–Alder reactions of imines (aza-Diels– Alder reactions, imino Diels–Alder reactions) allow an easy access to nitrogen-containing six-membered heterocycles.¹⁶⁸ Although Lewis acids often promote these reactions, more than a stoichiometric amount of the acids is required due to strong coordination of the acids to the nitrogen atoms.

Sc(OTf)₃ was proved to be an efficient catalyst in aza-Diels–Alder reactions.¹⁶⁹ In the presence of 10 mol % Sc(OTf)₃, substituted *N*-benzylideneaniline reacted with 2-*trans*-1-methoxy-3-trimethylsiloxy-1,3-butadiene (Danishefsky's diene) to afford the corresponding imino Diels–Alder adducts (a tetrahydropyridine derivative in this case) quantitatively. On the other hand, the reaction course between substituted *N*-benzylideneaniline and cyclopentadiene under the same conditions was changed, and tetrahydropuinoline derivative was obtained as the sole



Table 76. Syntheses of Quinoline Derivatives Using $Yb(OTf)_3$

R ² Ph	H	R ³ R ⁴	10 mol% Yb(C CH ₃ CN, 0 °C	$\frac{\text{DTf}_{3}}{\text{or rt}} \stackrel{\text{R}^{1}}{\underset{\text{R}^{2}}{\overset{\text{CTf}_{3}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}}{\overset{\text{R}^{2}}}}{\overset{R}^{2}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}$	R ³ R ⁴ V N H
R ¹	\mathbb{R}^2	R ³	\mathbb{R}^4	yield/%	cis/trans
Н	Н	Н	PhS	75	57/43
Cl	Н	Н	PhS	quant.	n.d. ^a
MeO	Н	Н	PhS	Ô	-
Н	MeO	Н	PhS	70	n.d.
Н	Н	Н	EtO	96	n.d.
MeO	Н	Н	EtO	77	67/33
Cl	Н	Н	EtO	95	n.d.
MeO	Н	Ph	Me ₃ SiO	quant.	$83/17^{b}$
^a Not determined. ^b Tentative assignment.					

product (Scheme 42). In this reaction, the aromatic imines acted as azadienes and cyclopentadiene as a dienophile.¹⁷⁰ However, with 2,3-dimethylbutadiene, a mixture of tetrahydropyridine and tetrahydroquinoline derivatives was obtained. Other dienophiles, such as vinyl sulfide, vinyl ethers, and silyl enol ether, were attempted to afford the tetrahydroquinoline derivatives in high yields (Table 76).^{171,172}

Sisko and Weinreb reported a convenient procedure for the imino Diels-Alder reaction of an aldehyde, a 1,3-diene, and N-sulfinyl p-toluenesulfonamide via an in situ generated N-sulfonyl imine using a stoichiometric amount of BF·OEt₃ as a promoter.¹⁷³ The synthetic problem associated with the instability of imines under the influence of Lewis acids was overcome by trapping imines immediately by dienes or dienophiles in the reaction mixture. $Sc(OTf)_3$ catalyzed three-component coupling reactions of aldehydes, amines, and dienes.¹⁶⁹ With 10 mol % of $Sc(OTf)_3$ and magnesium sulfate, aldehydes were treated with aromatic amines and Danishefsky's diene or cyclopentadiene to afford the corresponding tetrahydropyridines or tetrahydroquinolines. Various aldehydes, amines, and alkenes were coupled effectively to provide two diverse libraries in high yield. Commercial aqueous formaldehyde solution could be directly used (Table 77).

A stepwise mechanism was proposed based on experimental observations (Scheme 43).^{169b,174} The reactive intermediate generated from *N*-benzylideneaniline (an azadiene) and 2-methoxypropene (an dienophile) was transformed into a hemiacetal with

 Table 77. One-Pot Synthesis of Tetrahydroquinoline

 Derivatives



Scheme 43. Possible Mechanism of the Three-Component Coupling Reaction



water (generated from condensation of the aldehyde and the amine) or an acetal with methanol (released from the hemiacetal to form the β -aminoketone), and the hemiacetal was then collapsed to give the β aminoketone. Nevertheless, under anhydrous conditions (by using preformed imines or adding drying agent), spontaneous cyclization of the reactive intermediate would give the tetrahydroquinoline and the quinoline.

It was shown that $Yb(OTf)_3$ was as effective as $BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$ to mediate the aza-Diels-Alder reactions shown below. Surprisingly $BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$ could also be employed in catalytic quantity in the reaction with dihydrofuran (Table 78).¹⁷⁵

It was also reported that $In(OTf)_3$ was effective for aza-Diels–Alder reactions. Cycloaddition of the imine prepared from 3-formylchromone with 3,4-dihydro-2*H*-pyran proceeded smoothly to afford the cycloadduct in good yield. Sc(OTf)₃ could be also used for this reaction (Table 79).¹⁷⁶

The original protocol for aza-Diels-Alder reactions has been limited to either the simplest aldehyde,

 Table 78. Effect of Lewis Acids on Aza-Diels-Alder

 Reactions



^{*a*} The reactions were performed in toluene at -78 °C. ^{*b*} The reactions were performed in CH₃CN at room temperature.^{*c*} 1 equiv of BF₃·OEt₂ was employed.

Table 79. Aza-Diels–Alder Reaction of Chromone Derivatives



Table 80. Ln(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Aza-Diels–Alder Reactions of Higher Aldehydes, *N*-Benzylammonium Chloride, and Cyclopentadiene in Water

RCHO +	+ BnNH ₃ *Cl ⁻	H ₂ O H ₂ O N H + Bn exo	N Bn endo
R	Ln(OTf) ₃	yield/%	exo/endo
ⁿ Pent	Pr(OTf) ₃	68	2.9/1
Et	$La(OTf)_3$	64	2.5/1
PhCH ₂	Yb(OTf) ₃	72	4/1
Ph	Yb(OTf) ₃	7	<i>exo</i> only

formaldehyde, or activated aldehydes such as glyoxylates.¹⁷⁷ It was found that $Ln(OTf)_3$ promoted aza-Diels–Alder reactions in water, particularly for substrates which have been difficult to use under standard conditions.¹⁷⁸ For instance, hexanal, propanal, and phenylethanal reacted in good yields in the presence of $Ln(OTf)_3$ (Table 80). Less reactive dienes, including 2,3-dimethyl-1,3-butadiene, 2-methyl-1,3-butadiene, and 1,3-cyclohexadiene, did not react with higher aldehydes using this protocol; however, they reacted smoothly with formaldehyde and a L-phenylalanino ester (Scheme 44).¹⁷⁸ Aza-sugars were prepared by using this reaction.¹⁷⁹

Unlike carbon Diels–Alder reactions, enantioselective aza-Diels–Alder reactions are far less studied and most of the available methodologies are auxiliary-based.¹⁸⁰ Research on using chiral Lewis Scheme 44. Products from Ln(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Aza-Diels–Alder Reaction of Different Dienes with Formaldehyde and L-Phenylalanine Methyl Ester







^{*a*} Enantiomeric excess of the *cis*-isomer. ^{*b*} The reaction was performed with cyclohexane carboxaldehyde and 2-aminophenol at -45 °C with 2,6-di-*tert*-butylpyridine instead of DTBMP.

Scheme 45. Asymmetric Hetero-Diels-Alder Reaction.



acids is rather limited but not unprecedented.^{181,182} The first example of a *catalytic* aza-Diels–Alder reaction was reported using chiral lanthanide catalysts that were prepared from Yb(OTf)₃ or Sc(OTf)₃, (R)-BINOL, and DBU.¹⁸³ The reaction of *N*-alkylidene- or *N*-arylidene-2-hydroxyaniline with cyclopentadiene proceeded in the presence of the chiral catalyst and 2,6-di-*tert*-butyl-4-methylpyridine (DTBMP) to afford the 8-hydroxyquinoline derivatives in good to high yields with good to excellent diastereo- and enantioselectivities (Table 81). The present protocol allows three-component coupling using the chiral Sc catalyst.

A parallel combinatorial approach to find chiral Lewis-acid catalysts for asymmetric aza-Diels–Alder reactions has been reported.¹⁸⁴ A catalyst generated from Yb(OTf)₃, 1,2-diphenylethylenediamine, and 2,6-lutidine in acetonitrile gave the desired product in high enantiomeric excess (Scheme 45).

Scheme 46. Polymer Scandium-Catalyzed Aza-Diels-Alder Reactions



Table 82. Aza-Diels-Alder Reactions in Ionic Liquid



\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^1	yield/%	recovered ionic liquid/%
Ph	Ph	80	99
Ph	3,4-FC ₆ H ₃	99	92
Ph	$4 - FC_6H_4$	79	97
p-FC ₆ H ₄	Ph	95	98
p-F ₃ CC ₆ H ₄	Ph	88	98

Three-component reactions in the presence of a polymer-supported scandium catalyst proceeded smoothly to give the corresponding adducts in good yields. This method is especially useful for construction of a quinoline library (Scheme 46).¹⁸⁵

Aza-Diels–Alder reactions in ionic liquid were catalyzed effectively by microencapsulated $Sc(OTf)_3$. In view of 'green chemistry', the utility of ionic liquid as a safe recyclable reaction media and microencapsulated $Sc(OTf)_3$ (MC $Sc(OTf)_3$) as a recyclable and easy recoverable catalyst should be noted (Table 82).¹⁸⁶

The aza-Diels–Alder reactions of polymer-supported α -imino esters were also catalyzed by Sc(OTf)₃ (Scheme 47).⁶²

2.2.3. Other Hetero-Diels-Alder Reactions

The effect of Lewis acids on the asymmetric hetero-Diels–Alder reaction of chiral 3-(*p*-tolylsulfinyl)-2furaldehyde with Danishefsky's diene was studied (Table 83).¹⁸⁷ ZnCl₂ produced a 1:1 mixture of diastereomers. In sharp contrast, LnCl₃ and Ln(OTf)₃ served as effective promoters, resulting in high yields and diastereomeric excesses. Among them, the triflates showed better selectivities. It was interesting that an Eu-based NMR shift reagent gave the other diastereomer selectively.

A catalytic enantioselective hetero-Diels–Alder reaction of butyl glyoxylate with Danishefsky's diene was reported.¹⁸⁸ The reaction was catalyzed by a chiral yttrium bis-trifluoromethane sulfonamide (bis-triflamides) generated from $Y(OTf)_3$ and chiral bis-triflamides (Scheme 48). Sc(OTf)₃ and Yb(OTf)₃ gave less satisfactory results.

Yb(OTf)₃ promoted asymmetric hetero-Diels–Alder reaction of 2,4-diphenyl-1-thiabuta-1,3-diene with

Scheme 47. Aza-Diels–Alder Reactions of Polymer-Supported α-Imino Esters



Table 83. Asymmetric Hetero-Diels–Alder Reaction of Chiral 3-(*p*-Tolylsulfinyl)-2-furaldehyde with Danishefsky's Diene



LA (equiv)	conditions	yield/%	de /% ^{<i>a</i>}
ZnCl ₂ (1.0)	THF, 25 °C, 15 h	63	0
CeCl ₃ (1.0)	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 25 °C, 11 h	58	81
YbCl ₃ (1.0)	toluene, 25 °C, 12 h	56	54
Yb(OTf) ₃ (1.0)	THF, –20 °C, 2 h	88	93
Nd(OTf) ₃ (1.0)	THF, –20 °C, 2 h	68	98
Sm(OTf) ₃ (1.0)	THF, –20 °C, 2 h	73	97
$Eu(thd)_{3}^{b}(1.0)$	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 25 °C, 21 h	92	-77

^{*a*} Positive sign: (S_S ,S)-isomer was in excess; negative sign: (S_S ,R)-isomer was in excess. ^{*b*} Eu(thd)₂tris(2,2,6,6-tetra-methyl-3,5-heptanedionate)europium.

Scheme 48. Catalytic Enantioselective Hetero-Diels-Alder Reaction of Butyl Glyoxylate with Danishefsky's Diene



(*S*)-*N*-acryloxyl-4-benzyl-1,3-oxazolidin-2-one to give the adduct with moderate *endo/exo*-selectivity, and excellent enantioselectivity of the *endo*-isomer (3*R*,4*R*isomer) was observed (Scheme 49).¹⁸⁹ The same reaction without Yb(OTf)₃ favored the opposite *endo*enantiomer (3*S*,4*S*-isomer). In the stoichiometric reaction promoted by Yb(OTf)₃, the use of coordinating solvents, including THF, DMSO, and DMF, also

Scheme 49. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Hetero-Diels-Alder Reaction of 2,4-Diphenyl-1-thiabuta-1,3-diene with (S)-N-Acryloxyl-4-benzyl-1,3-oxazolidin-2-one



99% yield; endo/exo (58/42); >99% e.e. (endo) without Yb(OTf)₃: 86% yield; endo/exo (79/21); -67% e.e. (endo)

Table 84. Acid-Catalyzed Ionic Diels-Alder Reaction

O Me		i. catalyst CH ₂ Cl ₂ ii. TsOH MeOH	н он	
catalyst (mol %)	temp/°C	time/h	yield/% (dr)	
$HBF_4 \cdot OMe_2$ (2)	-45	10	70 (90/1)	
$BF_{3} \cdot OEt_{2}$ (10)	-78	4	а	
Me ₂ AlCl (100)	-78	2	75 (44/1)	
$Zn(OTf)_{2}$ (10)	rt	24	0	
Sc(OTf) ₃ (10)	-20	20	67 (5.3/1)	
^a Decomposition of the substrate.				

favored the (3S,4S)-endo-isomer. For hetero cycloaddition of *N*-acylimines with chiral vinyl ethers, Yb(OTf)₃ activation caused dominant decomposition of *N*-acylimines.¹⁹⁰

2.2.4. Ionic Diels–Alder Reaction

The Gassman ionic Diels–Alder reactions of α , β unsaturated acetals provide substituted cyclohexanes under mild conditions.¹⁹¹ Efficiency of various acid catalysts in a diastereoselective reaction of chiral dienophiles with isoprene was investigated (Table 84).¹⁹² The reaction proceeded with catalytic amounts of HBF₄·OMe₂ or Sc(OTf)₃ or a stoichiometric amount of Me₂AlCl. Other Lewis acid, including BF₃·OEt₂ and Zn(OTf)₂ were not effective to promote the reaction.

2.2.5. 1,3-Dipolar Cycloadditions

The 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of nitrones to alkenes provides a useful route to isoxazolidine derivatives. Their reductive cleavage gives a range of compounds, such as β -hydroxy ketones, β -amino alcohols, etc.,¹⁹³ which in turn are versatile intermediates and chiral auxilaries for organic synthesis.

A detailed study of the effect of lanthanide triflates for 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition was reported,¹⁹⁴ and an excellent *endo/exo*-selectivity was observed using Yb(OTf)₃ in toluene (Table 85). Interestingly, the same reaction in acetonitrile was moderately selective for an *exo*-adduct, which was also formed preferentially using other classical Lewis-acid catalysts.

The three-component coupling reaction of benzaldehyde, *N*-benzylhydroxylamine, and *N*-phenylmaleimide was investigated in the presence of a catalytic amount of $Sc(OTf)_3$. The corresponding



Table 86. RE(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Three-Component Coupling Reaction of Benzaldehyde, *N*-Benzylhydroxylamine, and *N*-Phenylmaleimide



isoxazolidine derivative was obtained in good yield with high *endo*-selectivity (Table 86).¹⁹⁵

1,3-Dipolar cycloaddition of polymer-supported nitrones with alkenes proceed smoothly in the presence of a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃. Diverse 2-isoxazoline derivartives were prepared based on these solidphase reactions (Scheme 50).¹⁹⁶

Rare-earth metal triflate-catalyzed 1,3-dipolar cycloaddtion of carbonyl ylides generated from α -diazocarbonyl compounds are discussed in section 2.7.

Substituted indenones reacted smoothly with a variety of in situ generated nitrones in the presence

Scheme 50. 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Reactions of Polymer-Supported Nitrones



Table 87. Ln(OTf)₃-Catalyzed 1,3-Dipolar Cycloadditions of an Indenone

HONHR ¹ + CHO +				
$\begin{array}{c} 20 \text{ mol}\% \text{ RE}(\text{OTf})_3 \\ \hline \text{MS 3Å, benzene} \\ 50 ^{\circ}\text{C} \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ H \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ H \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} $ \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{O} \\ \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{NHAc } \text{NHAc } \text{NHAc } \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text{NHAc } \text{NHAc } \text{NHAc } \end{array} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{NHAc } \text				
R ¹	R ²	RE	yield/%	exo/endo
PhCH ₂	<i>p</i> -MeO	Yb	88	98/2
4-MeOPhCH ₂	p-MeO	Yb	84	98/2
3,4-(MeO) ₂ PhCH ₂	p-MeO	Yb	81	98/2
3,4-(MeO) ₂ PhCH ₂	p-MeO	Sc	86	98/2
3,4-(MeO) ₂ PhCH ₂	$p-NO_2$	Sc	78	98/2
3,4-(MeO) ₂ PhCH ₂	Ĥ	Sc	69	98/2
3,4-(MeO) ₂ PhCH ₂	<i>p</i> -MeO	none	0	—

Table 88. Effect of Lewis-Acid Catalysts onDiastereoselective 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Using aChiral Dipolarophile



of lanthanide triflates to give exclusive *exo*-adducts (Table 87).¹⁹⁷

Sc(OTf)₃ was used for asymmetric 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition with chiral dipolarophiles (Table 88).¹⁹⁸ A higher reaction rate was achieved with Sc(OTf)₃ than Yb(OTf)₃, and in both cases, excellent *endo*-selectivities were observed. The reaction with Mg(ClO₄)₂ was less selective and much slower. It was noteworthy that in the absence of a catalyst, the reaction proceeded slowly to give predominantly *exo*-isomers. Scheme 51. Asymmetric 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Catalyzed by a Chiral Ytterbium Triflate



chiral Yb catalyst: Yb(OTf)₃, (R)-BINOL, cis-1,2,6-trimethylpiperidine

Table 89. Effect of Additive on Selectivity of1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition



^a Reference 199. ^b Reference 200.

Catalytic asymmetric 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of a nitrone with a dipolarophile was carried out using a chiral Yb catalyst, which was readily prepared from Yb(OTf)₃, (*R*)-(+)-BINOL, and *cis*-1,2,6-trimethylpiperidine.¹⁹⁵ The reaction of benzylbenzylideneamine *N*-oxide with 3-(2-butenoyl)-1,3-oxazolidin-2one gave the desired isoxazolidine in 78% ee with perfect diastereoselectivity (*endo/exo* \geq 99/1) (Scheme 51). On the other hand, it was found that reverse enantioselection was observed with a chiral scandium catalyst generated in a similar way.

The chiral Yb catalyst for asymmetric 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition was improved by addition of a chiral amine, *N*-methyl-bis[(R)-1-(1-naphthyl)ethyl]amine [(R)-MNEA] (Table 89).¹⁹⁹ Thus, a combination of Yb(OTf)₃, (S)-BINOL, and (R)-MNEA gave 1,3-dipolar adducts with good to excellent *endo*- and enantio-selectivities. A reverse of the selectivity was achieved using the same chiral catalyst simply by replacing molecular sieves with *N*-methylmorpholine *N*-oxide or benzylidenebenzylamine *N*-oxide (Table 89).²⁰⁰

A chiral scandium catalyst prepared from $Sc(OTf)_3$ and a BINOL-Box ligands (Figure 2) also catalyzes the same asymmetric 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition to provide the (3*R*,4*S*,5*R*)-adduct with high diastereoand enantioselectivity (94% yield, 97% *endo*, 87% ee).²⁰¹



Figure 2. BINOL-Box ligand.

2.2.6. Other Cycloaddition Reactions

 α,β -Unsaturated thioimidates are useful intermediates in organic synthesis.²⁰² Sc(OTf)₃ catalyzes reactions of imines with alkynyl sulfides providing α,β -unsaturated thioimidates (Table 90).²⁰³ These reactions are assumed to proceed via [2+2]-cycloaddition of imines to alkynyl sulfides, forming azetine intermediates, which are unstable and immediately fragment to give the corresponding α,β -unsaturated thioimidates. Yb(OTf)₃ and BF₃·OEt₂ were less effective in this reaction.

Recently, it has been reported that analogous reactions with alkynyl selenides are also catalyzed by $Sc(OTf)_3$ (Scheme 52).²⁰⁴ Again, other Lewis acids, including Yb(OTf)₃, BF₃·OEt₂, ZnCl₂, MgBr₂, and ScCl₃, were less effective for the process.

A Lewis-acid-catalyzed stereoselective method for preparation of α -(trifluoromethyl)- α , β -unsaturated amides was reported (Table 91).²⁰⁵ The reaction of *N*,*N*-dibutyl-(3,3,3-trifluoro-1-propynyl)amine with benzaldehyde was mediated by La(OTf)₃ to give the enamide as a major product with high *Z* stereoselectivity. Other classical Lewis acids were more effective

Table 90. Preparation of α , β -Unsaturated Thioimidates from [2+2] Cycloaddition of Imines and Alkynyl Sulfides



 a A: isolated imine was used. B: imine was prepared in situ. b In CH₂Cl₂.

В

62

Scheme 52. Preparation of α , β -Unsaturated Selenylimidates from [2+2] Cycloaddition of Imines and Alkynyl Selenides

Sc(OTf)₃

Ph(CH₂)₂

Ts



Table 91. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Stereoselective Synthesis of α -(Trifluoromethyl)- α , β -unsaturated Amides^a

CF ₃ NBu ₂				
Ph ──O	LA PI CH ₂ Cl ₂	CF ₃ NBu₂ + H O	CF ₃ O NBu ₂	
н́		Α	В	
LA (mol %)	time/h	yield/% A (<i>E</i> /2	<i>c)</i> yield/% B	
La(OTf)3 (30)	24	71 (<3/>97)	8	
BF ₃ •OEt ₂ (10)	1	98 (<3/>97)	trace	
TiCl ₄ (10)	1	80 (<3/>97)	12	
ZnBr ₂ (10)	1	90 (<3/>97)	5	
$SnCl_{10}$	1	81(<3/>>07)	5	

 a The reactions were performed at room temperature in the presence of MS 4 Å, unless otherwise stated. b In the absence of MS 4 Å.

Table 92. RE(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Reaction of Silyl Ynolate with Aldimine



	yield/%			yield/%	
RE	A (<i>E</i> / <i>Z</i>)	B ^a	RE	A (<i>E</i> / <i>Z</i>)	В
Sc	35 (100/0)	4	Tb	46 (100/0)	15
\mathbf{Y}^{b}	52 (100/0)	0	Dy	61 (100/0)	4
La	22 (100/0)	9	Ho	56 (100/0)	6
Pr	43 (100/0)	22	Er	54 (100/0)	7
Nd	38 (100/0)	13	Tm	36 (100/0)	16
Sm	32 (100/0)	0	Yb	38 (100/0)	0
Eu	45 (100/0)	0	Lu	56 (100/0)	0
Gd	62 (100/9)	7			

 a Only cis-isomer was obtained. b Y(OTf)_3·3H_2O was used instead of anhydrous sample.

than $La(OTf)_3$ to promote the stereoselective reaction in high yields in the presence of MS 4 (Table 91).

TiCl₄ catalyzed the reaction of silyl ynolates with aldehydes but did not catalyze the reaction with imines.²⁰⁶ RE(OTf)₃ was introduced as effective catalysts to the later reaction, and the reaction gave enamides as the major products with perfect *E* stereoselectivity (Table 92).²⁰⁷

2-(Triisopropylsilyloxy)acrolein reacted with various dienes in the presence of a catalytic amount of $Sc(OTf)_3$ to afford the corresponding [4+3] cycloadducts (Table 93).²⁰⁸ Although TiCl₄ (1.1 equiv) promoted the reaction with furan to give the adduct in 88%, Ti(O'Pr)₄ and Ti(O'Pr)₂Cl₂ were ineffective.

Sc(OTf)₃ was recently shown to be effective for [5+2] cycloaddition of a η^3 -pyridinylmolybdenum complex to a methyleneoxindole (Scheme 53).²⁰⁹ The reaction is reversible, and the yield of the cycloadduct

Table 93. Reactions of 2-(Triisopropylsiloxy)acrolein



TIPS = triisopropylsilyl



Scheme 53. [5+2] Cycloaddtion of a η^3 -Pyridinylmolybdenum Complex



is dependent on the reaction time and the amount and nature of the Lewis acid. The adducts were obtained in good ee, and the starting material was recovered with high enantiopurity.

Recently, it was reported that 1-benzyl-4-*tert*-butyl-1,4-dihydronicotinamide (*t*-BuBNAH) reacts with *p*-benzoquinone (Q) to yield a [2+3] cycloadduct in the presence of Sc(OTf)₃ in acetonitrile at room temperature. On the other hand, when a weaker Lewis acid such as Lu(OTf)₃, Y(OTf)₃, or Mg(ClO₄)₂ is used, the

Table 94. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Formations of 4-Tetrahydropyranols and Their Ethers



hydride transfer reaction from BNAH to Q occurs besides the cycloaddition reaction.²¹⁰

2.2.7. Prins-type Cyclization

The acid-catalyzed condensation of an aldehyde and an olefin is well-known as the Prins reaction.²¹¹ The reaction is usually promoted by strong acids and high reaction temperatures and resulted in a mixture of products. Recently, it was shown that Sc(OTf)₃ catalyzed Prins-type cyclization of aromatic aldehydes and a homoallylic alcohol to provide synthetically useful 4-tetrahydropyranols and their homoallylic ethers (Table 94).²¹² It is noted that *cis*-adducts were obtained exclusively and that aliphatic aldehydes were less effective for the reactions. A mechanism of a tandem carbonyl acetalization–Prins reaction was postulated.

2.3. Friedel–Crafts Acylation and Alkylation

While Friedel-Crafts acylation reactions are fundamental and important processes in organic synthesis as well as in industrial chemistry,²¹³ more than a stoichiometric amount of a Lewis acid such as AlCl₃ or BF_3 is needed due to coordination of the Lewis acids to aromatic ketones produced. It has been reported that a small amount of $Sc(OTf)_3^{214a}$ or Ln(OTf)₃^{214b} catalyzes Friedel–Crafts acylation reactions efficiently.²¹⁵ The catalytic activity of Sc(OTf)₃ was much higher than that of $Ln(OTf)_3$ in several cases. An example of acetylation of anisole is shown in Table 95.²¹⁶ Moreover, acetylation of other electronrich aromatics, e.g., thioanisole or *o*- or *m*-dimethoxybenzene, gave a single regioisomer in excellent yield. It was found that the regioselectivity of acetylation of 2-methoxynaphthalene depended on the amounts of the catalyst (Table 96). While 1-acetylated product was obtained in the presence of a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃ or Sc(OTf)₃, 6-acetylated product was yielded in the presence of a stoichiometric amount of the catalyst. Benzoylation of anisole also proceeded smoothly in the presence of a catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃, which was easily recovered and reused after the reaction. In addition, it was found that the addition of lithium perchlorate (LiClO₄) as a cocatalyst improved the yields dramatically (Table 95).²¹⁷

Table 95. Effect of Lewis Acids on Friedel-Craft Acetylation of Anisole



Table 96. RE(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Acylations of 2-Methoxynaphthalene



A microencapsulated Sc(OTf)₃ was also effective for Friedel–Crafts acylation reactions.³⁷

The catalytic effect of $Sc(OTf)_3$ and $Ln(OTf)_3$ on Friedel–Crafts alkylation with mesylates of secondary alcohols was systematically investigated.²¹⁸ Among the rare-earth metal triflates tested, $Sc(OTf)_3$ and $Yb(OTf)_3$ gave the most outstanding performance and $Sc(OTf)_3$ was more active than $Yb(OTf)_3$ (Table 97). Surprisingly, TfOH was even more active than the rare-earth metal triflates screened.

Conventional Friedel–Crafts alkylation employs alkyl halides and a Lewis acid. However, hydrogen halide produced during the reaction often induces

Table 97. Catalytic Friedel–Crafts Alkylation with Mesylates of Secondary Alcohols

R-OI	Vls + Ar-H (excess	10 mol% Sc(OTf) ₃) 80°C	Ar-R	
R-OMs	Ar-H	product	time /h	yield /%
-OMs	benzene	$\mathbf{n} = \mathbf{n}$	4	92
────────────────────────────────────	toluene	Me	3	98
-OMs	mesitylene	$\neg \overleftarrow{-} \bigcirc$	2	93
◯ → OMs	benzene	$\bigcirc - \bigcirc$	1	87
OMs	benzene	\mathbf{r}	2	92
OMs	benzene	Ph 2-/3- = 76/24	2	93

side reactions. Moreover, reactions with alcohols require more than stoichiometric amounts of Lewis acids due to deactivation of the Lewis acids by alcohols and/or water produced during the reaction. It was reported that catalytic Friedel-Crafts alkylation with benzylic and allylic alcohols proceeded using a water-tolerant Lewis acid, Sc(OTf)₃.²¹⁹ Chemical yields ranging from moderate to excellent yields were obtained with 10 mol % of the catalyst (Table 98). The effect of other Lewis-acid catalysts for benzylation of benzene with benzyl alcohol was studied, and Sc(OTf)₃ gave the best result. Interestingly, the reaction of arenes with an aromatic aldehyde and 1,3-propanediol or with their acetal affords diarylmethane as a sole product. This reaction is considered to proceed through a redox process including a hydride shift from 1,3-propanediol.²¹⁹

Friedel–Crafts alkylation reactions of aromatic compounds with α -chloro- α -(ethylthio)acetate were effectively catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃ (Table 99).²²⁰ Even the reaction of acid-sensitive furan proceeded well to afford the mono-alkylated product in good yield, while both mono- and dialkylated products were obtained when ZnCl₂ was used as a Lewis acid.

It was also reported that Friedel–Crafts alkylation reactions of aromatic compounds with alkenes proceeded in the presence of $Sc(OTf)_3$ immobilized in ionic liquid (Scheme 54).²²¹

Calix[4]resorcinarenes are used as host compounds for ions, sugars, and other organic molecules.²²² They are usually prepared by condensation of resorcinol with aldehydes in the presence of mineral acids.²²³ Two examples using classical Lewis acids (AlCl₃²²⁴ and SnCl₄²²⁵) were reported in the literature, where only aromatic aldehydes reacted to give moderate to good yields in the presence of large amounts of Lewis acids (50–200 mol %). Yb(OTf)₃ nonahydrate was employed for the condensation reaction, and both

 Table 98. Catalytic Friedel-Crafts Alkylation Using Alcohols



aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes gave the desired resorcinarenes in 71–94% yield (Scheme 55).²²⁶ The thermodynamically more stable all-*cis* (bowl-shaped) isomer was obtained with aliphatic aldehydes. In contrast, benzaldehyde gave the kinetically favored $\alpha, \alpha, \beta, \beta$ -isomer along with the all-*cis* configuration. The catalyst was recovered without loss of activity.

Substituted indoles can be used for Friedel–Crafts alkylation with stabilized carbinols in the presence of Sc(OTf)₃ (Scheme 56).²²⁷ No selectivity was observed in the reaction with a chiral carbinol.

Protic acids²²⁸ and Lewis acids²²⁹ (e.g., AlCl₃) have been successfully employed in reactions of indole with aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes and ketones to form bisindolyl-methanes.²³⁰ The same chemistry was catalyzed by Ln(OTf)₃ in aqueous media.²³¹ Dy(OTf)₃ gave the best result, mediating reactions of substituted indoles with aldehydes and ketones smoothly (Table 100). It has been reported that a complicated mixture was obtained by using BF₃·OEt₂ or AlCl₃ as a promoter in the reaction of indole with acetone.²²⁹ Other main-group triflates such as NaOTf and $Mg(OTf)_2$ were not effective. The reaction of indole-3-acetic acid with hexanal gave different products in different reaction solvents. Bisindolylmethane was isolated as a sole product in chloroform (CHCl₃), while 1:1 indole-aldehyde ethanolysis product was produced in aqueous ethanol (Scheme 57).

Table 99. Friedel–Crafts Alkylation Reactions with α -Chloro- α -(ethylthio)acetate



Scheme 54. Friedel-Crafts Alkylation Reactions in Ionic Liquids



Scheme 55. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Preparation of Calix[4]resorcinarenes



^a All-cis isomer. Another isomer (37%) was obtained.

Smith and co-workers utilized a catalytic amount of $Sc(OTf)_3$ in the cascade reaction involving intramolecular Friedel–Crafts alkylation of an indole in total synthesis of (–)-Penitrem D (Scheme 58).²³² The reaction proceeded in a highly stereoselective fashion (>95:5).

Scheme 56. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Friedel–Crafts Alkylation of 1,2-Dimethylindole with Carbinols



Table 100. Dy(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Reaction of Indoles with Aldehydes and Ketones



Scheme 57. 2:1 and 1:1 Products Resulted from Dy(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Reactions of Indole-3-acetic Acid with Hexanal in Different Reaction Media



It was reported that rare-earth metal triflates [La(OTf)₃, Nd(OTf)₃, Dy(OTf)₃, Sc(OTf)₃, Yb(OTf)₃] catalyzed effectively electrophilic substitution of arenes with ethyl glyoxylate.²³³ When Yb(OTf)₃ was used as a catalyst, the best result was obtained. In this reaction, no desired product was observed when commonly used Lewis acids (AlCl₃, MgCl₂, ZnCl₂) were examined (Table 101).

Indole has been reported to react with a number of imines in the presence of a protic acid to afford the desired secondary amines in moderate yields.²³⁴ Wang and his research group found that Dy(OTf)₃ catalyzed the reactions of indole with imines in protic media (Table 102).²³⁵ Other lanthanide triflates (La, Nd, Eu, Gd, Yb, and Er triflates) and lanthanide chloride hydrates (Nd, Dy, and Y chloride hexahydrates) also promoted the reactions of indole with *N*-benzylidene anilines, while no reaction occurred without catalyst. Dy(OTf)₃ and Yb(OTf)₃ gave the best Scheme 58. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Cascade Reaction as a Key Step in Total Synthesis of (–)-Penitrem D



Table 101. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Electrophilic Substitution of Arenes with Ethyl Glyoxylate





yield of the desired secondary amine, and $Dy(OTf)_3$ was chosen as a catalyst for the reactions with other imines.
Table 102. $Dy(OTf)_3$ -Catalyzed Reactions of Indole with Imines



\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	Α	В
Н	Н	57	12
Н	Н	83	10 ^a
Cl	Н	63	21
Cl	Cl	60	17
Me	Cl	53	14
Me	Cl	71	8 ^a
Me	OMe	47	9

Table 103. Friedel–Crafts Reaction of Phenol with $\alpha\text{-Iminoesters}$

OH R ¹ +	HCOCO ₂ R ² + H	20 mol% Of Sc(OTf) ₃ MgSO ₄ CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt	H NHR ³ CO_2R^2 R^1
\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbb{R}^3	yield/%
<i>p</i> -MeO	Me	$2,4-Cl_2C_6H_3$	70
p-MeO	<i>'</i> Pr	$2,4-Cl_2C_6H_3$	72
<i>p</i> -Ph	<i>i</i> Pr	$2,4-Cl_2C_6H_3$	57
<i>m-t</i> Bu	<i>i</i> Pr	$2,4-Cl_2C_6H_3$	86
Н	<i>i</i> Pr	$2,4-Cl_2C_6H_3$	61
<i>p</i> -MeO	Et	4-ClC ₆ H ₄	43
<i>m-t</i> Bu	Et	$4 - FC_6H_4$	65
<i>o</i> -Br	ⁿ Bu	$4-FC_6H_4$	trace

It was reported that Friedel–Crafts reaction of phenol with α -imino esters proceeded smoothly in the presence of 20 mol % of Sc(OTf)₃.²³⁶ In addition, three-component reactions of phenols, glyoxylates, and amines have been achieved under similar conditions (Table 103).

The fact that the use of ultra-high-pressure facilitates Yb(OTf)₃-catalyzed addition of indole to α,β saturated ketones¹³³ motivated the study of homologous processes, i.e., homo-Michael addition.²³⁷ In fact, a combination of Yb(OTf)₃ and high pressure promoted nucleophilic ring opening of activated cyclopropanes with indoles to give homo-Michael adducts (Table 104). It was unexpected that the nucleophilic attack occurred exclusively at the more substituted carbons.

The reaction of a substituted indole with an aziridine was also mediated by a stoichiometric amount of $Sc(OTf)_3$ (Table 105).²³⁸

Yb(OTf)₃ was found to be effective for the corrole formation via condensation of a dipyrromethane and an aldehyde as well as protic acids (Table 106).²³⁹





 a Yield based on 75% conversion. b Desilylation product was obtained in 27%.

Table 105. Sc(OTf)₃-Promoted Reactions of Indoles with Aziridines



2.4. Baylis–Hillman Reaction

The classical Baylis-Hillman reaction suffers from low reaction rates, especially when acrylate esters are involved as the substrates.²⁴⁰ Although significant rate enhancement has been observed using high pressure,²⁴¹ water as solvent,²⁴² sonication,²⁴³ or microwave irradiation,²⁴⁴ these methods are often lacking of substrate generality. The rate-determining step of the Baylis-Hillman reaction is believed to be a nucleophilic attack to the aldehyde, and thus, activation of the aldehyde through coordination with a Lewis acid should accelerate the reaction.²⁴⁵ However, the classical Lewis acids bind irreversibly with nucleophilic amine bases such as DABCO and shut down the catalytic cycle. By careful examination on the promotion by Lewis-acid catalysts, it was found that oxophilic scandium and lanthanide triflates accelerated the reaction (Table 107).²⁴⁶ Importantly, the addition of diols such as (+)-BINOL caused a further acceleration. Although the product obtained was racemic, this observation will provide a promising basis for future development of asymmetric catalysis.



	yielu//o		
acid	corrole	porphyrin	
none	18	3	
TFA	19	4	
HOAc	8	2	
$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	12	12	
TfOH	13	5	
Yb(OTf) ₃ ^a	18	3	
K-10	18	3	

 a 0.005 mmol of the acid and 0.4 mmol of the bispyrrole were used.

Table 107. Relative Rate of Baylis–Hillman Reaction between *tert*-Butyl Acrylate and Benzaldehyde Using 100 mol % DABCO and 5 mol % Catalyst

0	0 0	E	OH O
II +		5 mol% catalyst	
Рр Н	∫ `OʻBu	DABCO (1 equiv.)	Ph' Y O'Bu
	II	CH ₂ CN, 50 °C	II.

DABCO = 1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane

catalyst	time/h	yield/%	k _{rel}	
none	24	3.8	1	
Sc(OTf) ₃	24	11.6	3.3	
Yb(OTf) ₃	24	12.3	3.6	
Gd(OTf) ₃	24	13.2	3.9	
Eu(OTf) ₃	24	12.1	3.5	
Sm(OTf) ₃	24	16.3	4.9	
$La(OTf)_3$	24	15.9	4.7	
$La(OTf)_3 + N(CH_2CH_2OH)_3^a$	72	74		
$N(CH_2CH_2OH)_3^b$	72	65		
MeOH ^c	48	35		
^a 50 mol%. ^b 80 mol%. ^c 240 mol%.				

Recently, it was reported that the aza-version of the Baylis–Hillman reaction, a three-component coupling reaction of aromatic aldehydes, sulfonamides, and activated alkenes, was efficiently catalyzed by La(OTf)₃ and a base such as DABCO.²⁴⁷

2.5. Radical Addition

Although stereoselective acyclic radical addition has received much attention,²⁴⁸ the use of Lewis acids in the reactions is rather limited due to its incompatibility with typical conditions for radical generation.²⁴⁹ Until recently, Lewis acids have been used to control a population of interconverting rotamers through chelation (Scheme 59).²⁴⁸ A variety of Lewis acids were evaluated by Sibi and co-workers for their Scheme 59. Conformation Control by Chelation with Lewis Acids



Table 108. Effect of Lewis Acids on Regio- and Diastereoselective Radical Addition to *N*-Enoyloxazolidinones



R	LA (equiv)	yield/% ^a	diastereoselectivity <i>RS/RR</i>
Me	none ^b	60	1.3/1
Me	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2 (2.0)^b$	80 (5)	1.3/1
Me	$MgBr_{2}$ (2.0)	90	6/1
Me	SnCl ₄ (2.0) ^b	30 (60)	3/1
Me	$Sc(OTf)_{3}$ (2.0)	90	15/1
Me	La(OTf) ₃ (2.0)	80	7/1
Me	Sm(OTf) ₃ (2.0)	90	18/1
Me	$Yb(OTf)_{3}$ (2.0)	93	25/1
Me	$Yb(OTf)_{3}(1.0)$	90	25/1
Me	Yb (OTf) ₃ (0.3)	90	20/1
Ph	$MgBr_2 (2.0)^c$	90	20/1
Ph	$ZnCl_2$ (2.0) ^c	70	9/1
Ph	La(OTf) ₃ (2.0)	80	12/1
Ph	Yb(OTf) ₃ (2.0)	89	45/1

 a Yields in parentheses are for alkene reduction product. b Run in CH₂Cl₂/hexane. c Run in CH₂Cl₂/hexane/ether.

ability to control acyclic diastereoselection in β -radical addition (Table 108).²⁵⁰ In the absence of a Lewis acid or with a monodentate Lewis acid, the product was also formed regioselectively (no α -addition was detected) with a diastereomeric ratio of 1.3/1. Conventional Lewis acids gave β -adducts with varying yields and moderate selectivities. In some cases, significant amounts of the alkene reduction products were observed. However, maximum yields and selectivities were achieved using Ln(OTf)₃, and among Ln(OTf)₃, Yb(OTf)₃ provided the product with the highest diastereoselectivity, which was comparable to or better than the results obtained in the reactions under ionic conditions. For the lanthanides, the selectivity increased (from La, Sm, to Yb) with reducing ionic radius. The β -substituent in the alkene had a great influence on diastereoselectivity; cinnamate as compared to crotonate gave a better selectivity. A substoichiometric amount of Yb(OTf)₃ allowed radical addition to crotonate with minimal change in yield and selectivity.

In connection with a total synthesis of butyrolactone natural products, a highly regio- and stereoselective method for addition of radicals to a desymmetrized fumarate was reported.²⁵¹ The reaction was nonselective without using a Lewis acid, while conventional Lewis acids and Sc(OTf)₃ gave quite poor selectivities (Table 109). On the other hand, Ln(OTf)₃ gave good to excellent selectivities. Table 109. Effect of Lewis Acids on Regio- and Diastereoselectivity of Radical Addition to a Desymmetrized Fumarate



LA	solvent	yield/%	β / α^a	dr ^a (β-adduct)
none	CH ₂ Cl ₂	92	11/1	1.6/1
BF ₃ ·OEt ₂	CH_2Cl_2	86	9/1	1.2/1
$Mg(OTf)_2$	CH_2Cl_2	87	7/1	1/1
Zn(OTf) ₂	CH_2Cl_2	88	33/1	1.6/1
$Sc(OTf)_3$	CH ₂ Cl ₂ /toluene (4/1)	95	6/1	2.1/1
Y(OTf) ₃	CH_2Cl_2 /toluene (4/1)	90	>100/1	21/1
$Sm(OTf)_3$	CH_2Cl_2 /toluene (4/1)	95	>100/1	29/1
Ho(OTf) ₃	$CH_2Cl_2/toluene (4/1)$	88	>100/1	13/1
$Tm(OTf)_3$	$CH_2Cl_2/toluene(4/1)$	92	>100/1	47/1
Yb(OTf) ₃	$CH_2Cl_2/toluene(4/1)$	91	80/1	10/1
$Lu(OTf)_3$	CH ₂ Cl ₂ /toluene (4/1)	95	87/1	31/1
Er(OTf) ₃	CH ₂ Cl ₂ /toluene (4/1)	90	>100/1	33/1
<i>a</i> D.+		NMD		

^a Determined by 400 MHz ¹H NMR spectroscopy.

Table 110. Effect of Lewis Acids on ρ -Selective Radical Addition



Sibi's group extended the idea of conformational restriction using chelating Lewis acids for acyclic ρ -diastereoselective radical addition (Table 110).²⁵² In the absence of Lewis acids, the newly formed stereogenic center for the major diastereomer had an (*R*)-configuration. This preference was maintained in the presence of monodentate Lewis acids, while it was reversed with multidentate Lewis acids. Of the Lewis acids attempted, MgI₂, MgBr₂, and Sc(OTf)₃ resulted in the best selectivity. Among them, Sc(OTf)₃ was the most efficient in terms of catalyst loading. In this case, lanthanide triflates were not as efficient as Sc(OTf)₃. The authors proposed a working model



Figure 3. Working model for diastereoselective radical addition with a chelating Lewis acid.

Table 111. Diastereoselective Tandem RadicalAddition with Lewis Acids

Ph Ph -78	SnBu ₃ Etl, Et ₃ B/O ₂ ⁹ C, solvent	
LA (equiv)	yield/%	$\mathrm{d}\mathbf{r}^{a}$
none	90	1/1
BF ₃ •OEt ₂ (2.0)	90	1/1.8
ZnI_{2} (2.0)	85	2.2/1
$ZnCl_{2}$ (2.0)	90	4.1/1
$Zn(OTf)_{2}$ (2.0)	85	1.3/1
$MgBr_2 \cdot OEt_2$ (2.0)	93	>100/1
$Yb(OTf)_{3}(1.0)$	90	>100/1
$Sm(OTf)_{3}(1.0)$	90	>100/1
$La(OTf)_{3}$ (1.0)	71	>100/1
^a Determined by 400 M	IHz ¹ H NMR spect	roscopy.

to account for the observed stereoselectivity (Table 110). Coordination of the substrate with a Lewis acid leads to a chelated intermediate with a σ -(Z) orientation of the bond linked with α -substituent (Figure 3). The addition of allylic tin species will then occur from the face away from the bulky diphenylmethyl group, leading to the adduct with the observed stereochemistry. It was also reported that Yb(OTf)₃ was moderately effective for radical allylation of xylose-derived α -bromoacetates with allyltributyltin.²⁵³

It was interesting that a radical could be trapped diastereoselectively with a proper choice of chelating Lewis acids. In addition, the use of a stoichiometric amount of a chiral Lewis acid for enantioselective tandem addition processes with N-propenoxyloxazolidinone was reported. Encouraged by these results, tandem radical addition with chiral Nenoxyloxazolidinone was investigated (Table 111).²⁵⁴ Diastereoselectivities of the reaction were generally poor without a Lewis acid or with a boron- and zincbased Lewis acid. Lanthanide triflates were as effective as MgBr₂ in achieving high diastereoselectivities. It was of particular note that functionalized radical-possessing Lewis-basic sites such as methoxymethyl radical and acyl radical could also be used. With methoxymethyl radical, Yb(OTf)₃ gave 58/1 selectivity while MgBr₂ gave only 1.8/1 (Scheme 60). This result may be attributed to the higher coordinating ability of the oxophilic ytterbium(III) cation.

The classical Kharasch reaction, which results in an overall addition of alkyl halides to alkenes (an atom economy process), requires high reaction temperatures, long reaction times, and large excesses of alkyl halides to ensure good yields.²⁵⁵ It was found that the reactivity of this sluggish atom-transfer process could be much improved by employing α -halo Scheme 60. Comparison of Diastereoselective Tandem Radical Processes with $Yb(OTf)_3$ and $MgBr_2$



Yb(OTf)₃ (1.0 equiv.):70 %, 58/1 d.r. MgBr₂ (2.0 equiv.): 50 %, 1.8/1 d.r.

 Table 112. Effect of Lewis Acids on Conversion of

 Bromoacetyl 2-Oxazolidinone Amide with Terminal

 and Internal Alkenes^a



	conversion/% ^b				
LA	1-hexene	<i>cis</i> –3-hexene	trans-3-hexene		
none	25	<10	<10		
MgBr ₂	34	<10	<10		
$Mg(OTf)_2$	37	16	<10		
Zn(OTf) ₂	37	<10	<10		
$Sc(OTf)_3$	86	47	23		
La(OTf) ₃	46	20	<10		
Eu(OTf) ₃	54	19	11		
Yb(OTf) ₃	100	100	63		

^{*a*} Reagents and conditions: bromide (1 equiv), alkene (5 equiv), LA (1 equiv), Et₃B (0.5 equiv), 1,2-dichloroethane, 25 °C. ^{*b*} Determined by NMR of the crude product.

esters, nitriles, or amides without Lewis acid.²⁵⁶ The effect of chelating Lewis acids on atom-transfer addition of bromoacetyl 2-oxazolidinone amide to terminal and internal alkenes was reported (Table 112).²⁵⁷ Poor conversion was observed with a Lewis acid. MgBr₂, Zn(OTf)₂, and La(OTf)₃, which were used successfully for radical additions with allyl tributyl-stannane, gave only slight improvement. On the other hand, Sc(OTf)₃ resulted in good conversion with 1-hexene, and quantitative conversions were obtained with Yb(OTf)₃ for addition to both 1-hexene and *cis*-3-hexene.

A secondary bromide reacts with 1-hexene in the presence of scandium or ytterbium triflate, but very low conversion resulted with *cis*- or *trans*-3-hexene. The tertiary bromide does not react with both terminal and internal alkenes under otherwise the same conditions. A diastereoselective atom-transfer reaction with 1-hexene was promoted by $Sc(OTf)_3$, and up to 92% diastereomeric excesses was obtained using a benzyl-substituted chiral oxazolidinone (Scheme 61). This result clearly showed a possibility to extend radical addition reactions with simple alkenes and a proper choice of a Lewis acid.

An intermolecular alkyl radical addition to carbonnitrogen double bonds of oxime ethers and hydrazones was studied.²⁵⁸ In a model reaction with an oxime ether, Yb(OTf)₃ as well as most of the tradi-

Scheme 61. Diastereoselective Radical Addition



Table 113. Effect of Lewis Acids on Radical Addition to Imine^a

Et^	$\frac{\text{NOBn}}{\text{H}} = \frac{\text{LA, E}}{\text{Et}_3\text{B, EtOH}}$	tl N ²⁵ , 25 °C Et Et Et	i I
LA	yield/% ^b	LA	yield/% ^b
none	0 (94)	Zn(OTf) ₂	28 (70)
BF ₃ •OEt ₂	95	Yb(OTf) ₃	17 (68)
Et ₂ AlCl	14 (78)	TFA	13 (83)

 a LA (2 equiv), EtI (5 equiv), Et₃B (2.5 equiv), and EtOH (2.5 equiv) in CH₂Cl₂. b Yields in parentheses are the yields of the recovered starting material.

Table 114. Radical Addition of Alkyliodides to Hydrazones



		product ratio		
catalyst	yield/%	$R = {}^{i}Pr$	Et	Н
none BF3·OEt2 MøBr2	NR 0 NR	0	0	100
Yb(OTf) ₃ InCl ₃ ZnCl ₂ Zn(OTf) ₂	32 55 60 53	96 92 91 93	4 8 9 7	0 0 0 0

tional acid catalysts showed poor results, while 2 equiv of BF_3 ·OEt₂ promoted the reaction in excellent yield (Table 113).

Radical additions of hydrazones took place using $Yb(OTf)_3$ as a catalyst to afford the corresponding adducts in moderate yield (Table 114).²⁵⁹

Yb(OTf)₃-promoted diastereoselective radical cyclization was investigated. The cyclization of a chiral bromoenoate in the presence of 2 equiv of Yb(OTf)₃ proceeded to give the corresponding cyclic compound in good yield with low selectivity (Scheme 62).²⁶⁰

A highly diastereoselective radical cyclization method has been developed for construction of a tricyclic intermediate in formal synthesis of a natural product.²⁶¹ The Mn(OAc)₃-mediated oxidative radical cyclization reaction has been applied to construction of polycyclic ring systems, and this reaction was much accelerated in the presence of Ln(OTf)₃ to give the products in higher yields and better diastereoselectivities. When a stoichiometric amount of Yb(OTf)₃ was employed, the cyclization reaction of

00-

Scheme 62. Diastereoselective Radical Cyclization of a Chiral Enoate



MgBr₂: 85% (dr >100 : 1) Yb(OTf)₃: 75% (dr 1.6 : 1)

Table 115. Diastereoselective Radical Cyclization Promoted by Yb(OTf)₃



Figure 4. Conformational restriction of radical rotamers by chelation with Ln(OTf)₃; a highly diastereoselective radical cyclization.

isopropyl-substituted ester afforded *trans* products with a diastereomeric ratio of 1/38 (Table 115). The use of a catalytic amount (20 mol %) of Yb(OTf)₃ gave the product in a similar yield but with a declined selectivity. However, improved selectivity was observed by using the ester ($\mathbb{R}^1 = \mathbb{H}$). Similar selectivities were obtained when other Ln(OTf)₃ were employed. The resulting stereoselectivity was attributed to bidentate chelation of the β -ketoester to oxophilic Ln(OTf)₃, which fixed the two carbonyl groups in a *syn*-orientation. The chiral auxiliary then blocked the *si* face of the radical and thus allowed the cyclization to occur from the *re* face (Figure 4).

1,2-Acyloxy shift of β -(acyloxy)alkyl radicals, socalled Surzur–Tanner rearrangement,²⁶² has been used as an efficient method for making 2-deoxy

Table 116. Radical 1,2-Acyloxy Shift Promoted by a Lewis Acid



	procedure A ^a		procedu	ıre B ^b
additive	yield/%	A/B	yield/%	A/B
none	88	3/97	78	25/75
MeAl(O- <i>p</i> -Tol) ₂	68	38/62	73	88/12
$La(OTf)_3$, Et_3N	78	9/91		
Sc(OTf) ₃ , Et ₃ N	75	25/75		
Sc(OTf) ₃ , 2,6-lutidine	71 (86)	33/67 (2/98)	76	83/17
40.09 M to D. Coll	h D. C.			

^a 0.02 M in Bu₃SnH. ^b Bu₃SnH was added over 12 h with a syringe pump.

Scheme 63. Lewis-Acid-Promoted Radical 1,2-Acyloxy Shift of a Lactate Derivative



sugars.²⁶³ However, the rate of the rearrangement of many β -(acyloxy)alkyl radicals is too slow to allow synthetic utilities. A recent computational investigation has shown that the rate of the rearrangement could be accelerated by a protic acid.²⁶⁴ This theoretical argument was later verified experimentally.²⁶⁵ In the absence of a Lewis acid, the product of direct reduction was formed as a major product, while slow addition of Bu₃SnH improved the amount of the rearranged product (Table 116). Complexation of the substrate with an aluminum-based Lewis acid has proven to enhance the rate of the rearrangement; methylation of the phenolic hydroxyl group fully inhibited the effect of the Lewis acid. Among the RE(OTf)₃ tested, Sc(OTf)₃ was again found to be an effective promoter of the rearrangement, and by using a combination with 2,6-lutidine and slow addition of Bu₃SnH, the yield of the rearranged product was much improved. An even greater increase in the rearrangement rate was observed in a lactate-derived bromide (Scheme 63).

2.6. Heterocycle Synthesis

The first utilization of $Ln(OTf)_3$ in organic synthesis was reported by Forsberg and co-workers in amidine synthesis. In the presence of a catalytic amount of $Ln(OTf)_3$, amines reacted with nitriles to give a variety of products including N,N-disubsti-





Table 117. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Biginelli Reaction



<i>p</i> -MeOC ₆ H ₄	EtO	Me	96	<i>i</i> Pr	EtO	Me	83
$p-NO_2C_6H_4$	EtO	Me	94	Ph	Me	Me	94
p-ClC ₆ H ₄	EtO	Me	97	<i>p</i> -MeOC ₆ H ₄	Me	Me	91
$2,4-Cl_2C_6H_4$	EtO	Me	89	$p-NO_2C_6H_4$	Me	Me	90
PhCH=CH	EtO	Me	81	Ph	Ph	CF ₃	96

tuted amidines and triazines depending on the molar ratios of the amines to the nitriles (Scheme 64).⁵ Excess amines favored formation of *N*,*N*-disubstituted amidines, while excess nitriles gave predominantly triazines. It was reported that the reactions had to be carried out under strictly anhydrous conditions. The authors showed that the catalytic activities of Ln^{3+} ions depended on their effective ionic potential (or effective nuclear charge) and that higher turnover rates were observed for smaller ions (Ho³⁺ to Lu³⁺) than for larger ions (La³⁺ to Sm³⁺). The results highlighted the ability of a Ln³⁺ ion to activate nitriles in the presence of a strongly coordinating *N*-donor ligand (an amine).

Multiple component condensations (MCCs), such as Ugi,²⁶⁶ Passerini,²⁶⁷ and Bidinelli²⁶⁸ reactions, etc.,²⁶⁹ are particular attractive for parallel synthesis of large arrays (libraries) of small-molecule compounds used for evaluation of biological activities.

The Biginelli reactions proceeded in the presence of a catalytic amount of $Ln(OTf)_3$ to give the corresponding compounds in high yields. The Biginelli reaction, first described more than a century ago, is a one-pot but low yielding (20–50%) condensation of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds with aldehydes and urea or thiourea in the presence of a catalytic amount of an acid.²⁷⁰ Among the rare-earth metal triflates [La(OTf)₃, Sc(OTf)₃, Yb(OTf)₃], Yb(OTf)₃ was particularly effective for this transformation (Table 117).²⁷¹

Table 119. Ln(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Synthesis of 2,3-Dihydropyridinium and Pyridinium Derivatives in Water

R ⁺ Cl R ¹ -N	HO 50 m Ln(O H ₃ +CI ⁻ H ₂	$\frac{1}{\frac{1}{2}}$	$R^{R} + R^{1}$	R
R	\mathbb{R}^1	Ln	yield/%	A/B
Et	Ph	Dy	31	100/0
Pr	Ph	Př	56	100/0
'Bu	Ph	Pr	61	90/10
ⁿ Pent	Ph	Pr	82	76/24
ⁿ Pent	Et	Pr	51	72/28
PhCH ₂	Ph	Yb	75	0/100

Recently, the preparation of a dihydropyrimidine library via microwave-assisted Biginelli three-component condensation was investigated. Yb(OTf)₃ as a catalyst in AcOH/EtOH (3/1) proved to be successful, leading to an average isolated yield of 52% of dihydropyrimidines with >90% purity.²⁷²

2,3-Dihydropyridines²⁷³ are generally prepared either by nucleophilic addition of organometallic reagents or metal hydrides to pyridines or by cyclization of acyclic materials. In nucleophilic addition, a mixture of 1,4- and 2,3-dihydropyridines is obtained, and few general methods for the preparation from acyclic precursors have been reported in the literature.²⁷⁴ It was found that Ln(OTf)₃ promoted reactions of aldehydes and amine hydrochlorides in water to provide the corresponding 2,3-dihydropyridinium and pyridinium derivatives.²⁷⁵ In a model reaction, La and Pr triflates showed high activities and the product ratios of 2,3-dihydropyridinium to pyridinium were almost independent of Ln(OTf)₃ used (Table 118). Other aldehydes and amine hydrochlorides gave the desired products in good yields, and the product ratio was dependent on the aldehydes and the amines employed (Table 119).

Recently, pyridine formation from enamino esters and alkynones (Bohlamm–Rahtz heteroannulation) was found to be effectively catalyzed by $Yb(OTf)_3$ or $ZnBr_2$.²⁷⁶

Sm(OTf)₃ and Sc(OTf)₃ were used to promote the condensation of butylamine, propionaldehyde, and nitroethane to give the substituted pyrrole.²⁷⁷ Their catalytic efficiencies were inferior to samarium(III) chloride and samarium(II) iodide but were comparable to classical Lewis acids such as AlCl₃ and TiCl₄. In the absence of a Lewis acid, no reaction took place (Table 120).

Blackburn and his group reported a new Sc(OTf)₃catalyzed three-component condensation (3CC) reac-

Table 118. Synthesis of 2,3-Dihydropyridinium and Pyridinium Derivatives with Different Ln(OTf)₃

\sim	^CHO + ₽h	.NH ₃ ⁺CI [−] 50 mo H	I% Ln(OTf) ₃ H₂O	Ph	∽ ,	Ph	\sim
Ln(OTf) ₃	La	Pr	Nd	Gd	Dy	Er	Yb
yield/% (A / B)	73 (3.1)	82 (3.2)	74 (3.2)	57 (3.1)	38 (3.2)	64 (3.1)	56 (3.1)

Table 120. Lewis Acid-Promoted Synthesis of aSubstituted Pyrrole

Et N ⁹ Bu	+ Ph NO2	5 mol% catalyst THF 60 °C, 15 h	Et Ph N Bu
catalyst	yield/%	catalyst	yield/%
Sm(O ⁷ Pr) ₃	63	Sm(OTf) ₃	7
Cp*Sm(thf) ₂	45	Yb(O ⁱ Pr) ₃	58
SmI_2	20	La(O'Pr) ₃	45
$SmCl_3$	12		

Scheme 65. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Three-Component Condensation



Scheme 66. Alkylative Cyclization of 1,3-Dimethylindole



tion between 2-aminopyridine or 2-aminopyrazine, an aldehyde, and an isonitrile to afford 3-aminoimidazo-[1,2-a]pyridines or pyrazines (Scheme 65).²⁷⁸ The reaction was proposed to follow the initial stage of the Ugi reaction with the in situ generated imine attacked by an isonitrile to form a nitrilium ion, which was then cyclized (instead of being attacked by a carboxylic acid in Ugi reaction). This three-component condensation was applied to the solid-phase synthesis with any of the three reacting partners tethered to an amide resin.²⁷⁹

It was reported that the alkylative cyclization of 1,3-dimethylindole with *N*-Cbz-aziridine proceeded in the presence of Sc(OTf)₃ and Me₃SiCl to give the corresponding cyclic compound in 90% yield (Scheme 66).²⁸⁰

Recently, it was found that phenyl aziridines undergo 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition efficiently with olefins such as cyclic enol ethers and trimethylsilane in the presence of Sc(OTf)₃ at ambient temperature to afford the corresponding pyrrolidine derivatives in high yields with high regioselectivity.²⁸¹

D-Glucal undergoes sequences of rearrangement and dehydration reactions catalyzed by mercuric ion in aqueous sulfuric acid to yield 2-(D-glycero-1,2dihydroxyethyl) furan.²⁸² However, this transformation required highly toxic metal and acidic conditions. Yb(OTf)₃ and Sm(OTf)₃ were found to promote the same reaction under milder conditions (Scheme 67).²⁸³ The product is a versatile chiral synthon for further transformations.

 α -Tocopherol was prepared by $ZnCl_2$ -catalyzed condensation of trimethylhydroquinone and iso-

Scheme 67. Ln(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Transformation of D-Glucal to Chiral Furan Diol



Table 121. Efficiency of RE(OTf) $_3$ in Synthesis of α -Tocopherol



RE (mol %)	yield/%	RE (mol %)	yield/%
Sc (20)	88 (98) ^a	Dy (10)	47
Y (20)	42	Ho (10)	63
La (20)	<1	Er (10)	33
Pr (10)	32	Tm (10)	<1
Sm (10)	<1	Yb (20)	59
Eu (20)	84	Lu (10)	59
Gd (10)	<1		

^{*a*} The yield of the reactions performed in toluene.

Table 122. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Formation of 2,4-Dimethoxy-2-methylbenzopyrans

R	СНО + Ч	MeO_OMe	5 mol% Sc(OTf) ₃ CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt	R	OMe Me le
R	time/min	yield/%	R	time/min	yield/%
Н	20	92	4- ^{<i>i</i>} Pr	25	88
3-MeO	25	93	3,4-(MeO) ₂	30	90
3-EtO	20	95	4-Cl	40	86
4-Me	30	90	4-Br	45	85

phytol.²⁸⁴ A stoichiometric amount of the Lewis acid was required for the reaction because of the deactivation of the catalyst by water produced. Therefore, water-tolerant rare-earth metal triflates were examined in this reaction, and their efficiencies are summarized in Table 121. $Sc(OTf)_3$ was the most effective, whereas other Ln(OTf)₃ gave lower yields.²⁸⁵

It was reported that $Sc(OTf)_3$ catalyzed an unusual cyclocondensation of *o*-hydroxybenzaldehydes with 2,2-dimethoxypropane to afford a class of 2,4-dimethoxy-2-methylbenzopyrans in high yields (Table 122).²⁸⁶

2,3-Dihydro-1*H*-1,5-benzodiazepines have been synthesized in very good yields in solvent-free conditions from *o*-phenylendiamine and ketones in the presence of Yb(OTf)₃ as catalyst (Table 123).²⁸⁷

Meanwhile, 2,3-dihydro-4-amino-2*H*-1-benzopyrans have been synthesized from salicylaldehyde–Schiff's bases and 2,2-dimethoxypropane in the presence of Sc(OTf)₃ or BF₃·OEt₂ as catalyst (Table 124).²⁸⁸





Table 124. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Synthesis of 3,4-Dihydro-4-amino-2*H*-1-benzopyranes



Table 125. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Quinoline Formation

Dh

R U + NH2	$Ph \xrightarrow{\text{Br}}_{O} \frac{10 \text{ mol}\%}{CH_2C}$	$\frac{f(b(OTf)_3}{I_2, rt} = R \frac{f(t)}{U}$	N N Н
aniline R	temp/°C, time/h	product R	yield/%
Н	rt, 0.5	Н	43
o-MeO	rt, 12	8-MeO	61
<i>m</i> -MeO	rt, 1	7-MeO	15
		5-MeO	48
<i>p</i> -MeO	rt, l	6-MeO	42
o-Me	rt, 1	8-Me	51
<i>m</i> -Me	rt, 1	7-Me	14
		5-Me	29
<i>p</i> -Me	rt, 1	6-Me	56
2-MeO-5-Me	rt, 1	8-MeO-5-Me	47
2-MeO-5-Cl	rt, 1	8-MeO-5-Cl	49

Yb(OTf)₃ was found to be effective as a catalyst for the quinoline formation from aromatic amines with $(2R^*, 1'R^*)$ -2- $(\alpha$ -bromobenzyl)oxiranes (Table 125).²⁸⁹ The tandem ring-opening reaction of the oxirane/ring closure via intramolecular Friedel–Crafts alkylation proceeded stereoselectively. The second step is suggested to proceed with inversion at the benzyl carbon.

Recently, an efficient synthesis of pyranoquinolinones was achieved by ytterbium triflate-catalyzed reaction of 4-hydroxy-2-quinolones with a variety of α,β -unsaturated aldehydes in moderate yields.²⁹⁰ This new method has been applied to the synthesis of pyranoquinolinone alkaloids.

2.7. Diazocarbonyl Insertion

The diazocarbonyl insertion reactions have been used for the synthesis of α -heteroatom-substituted carbonyl compounds.²⁹¹ The traditional protocols employed Rh₂(OAc)₂ and RuCl₂(PPh₃)₃ as catalysts to promote the reactions of diazoketones or diazoesters with alcohols, thiols, or amines.²⁹² A high-throughput catalyst screening for the C–H insertion reaction was investigated (Table 126).^{293,294} The best stereoselectivity was found with a typical copper catalyst. Surprisingly, comparable yields and diastereoselectivities were observed when Sc(OTf)₃ was used. Less satisfactory results were obtained by using La(OTf)₃ and Yb(OTf)₃.

It has been demonstrated that the product distribution resulting from Rh(II)-catalyzed decomposition of α -diazoimide can be controlled by proper choice of catalysts and solvents.²⁹⁵ In the reaction of *N*-phenylmaleimide as a dipolarophile, an epoxide was formed exclusively via attack of rhodium carbenoid on the ester carbonyl in nonpolar solvents, such as PhH, CHCl₃, and pentane (Table 127). On the other hand, the *exo*-cycloadduct was obtained as a sole product via [3+2]-cycloaddition of the intermediate dipolar resulting from the attack of the rhodium

Table 126. Metal-Catalyzed C-H Insertion Reaction^a



^a The reactions were performed with 10 mol % each of metal salt and ligand in PhMe.

21

34

44

1/1.3

1/1.1

1.3/1

B

С

С

CuOTf•PhH

CuOTf ·PhH

Sc(OTf)₃

Table 127. Site Selectivity in Rh(II)-Catalyzed Reaction of α -Diazoimides



Table 128. 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Reactions of o-(Methoxycarbonyl)- α -diazoacetophenone with Aldehydes



exo

R	RE	solvent	yield/%	exo/endo
Ph		CH_2Cl_2	83	50/50
	Sc		82	69/31
	Yb		96	90/10
	Lu		quant.	89/11
	Tm		<u>9</u> 6	87/13
	Ho		93	83/17
	Eu		99	73/27
	Sm		91	70/30
	La		87	55/45
Ph	Yb	Et ₂ O	89	97/3
<i>p</i> -MeOPh	Yb	Et ₂ O	77	87/13
<i>p</i> -NO₂Ph	-	CH_2Cl_2	93	27/75
<i>p</i> -NO ₂ Ph	Yb	Et ₂ O	99	82/18
^{'n} Pr	Yb	CH_2Cl_2	89	45/55
<i>'</i> Pr	Yb	CH_2Cl_2	65	34/66
^c Hex	Yb	CH_2Cl_2	95	69/31
PhCH ₂ OCH ₂	Yb	CH_2Cl_2	97	93/7

carbenoid on the acetyl group in polar solvents including CH_3NO_2 and CH_3CN . Addition of a catalytic amount of $Sc(OTf)_3$ to the reaction mixture in refluxing benzene modified the selectivity and gave the *exo*-cycloadduct and the acetate inserted product. Other Lewis-acid additives such as $MgBr_2$ and $ZnCl_2$ caused side reactions of the starting material and/or the reaction product.

1,3-Dipolar cycloaddtion reactions of o-(methoxycarbonyl)- α -diazoacetophenone with aldehydes proceeded in the presence of Rh(OAc)₂ and Yb(OTf)₃ to give the adducts in good yields with high diastereoselectivities (Table 128).²⁹⁶

Table 129. Metal-Catalyzed Decomposition of *o*-(Methoxycarbonyl)-α-diazoacetophenone in the Presence of *N*-Methylmaleimide



A combination of CuCl and Yb(OTf)₃ catalyzed a reaction of o-(methoxycarbonyl)- α -diazoacetophenone with *N*-methylmaleimide to give the 1,3-dipolar cyclo-addition product in high *endo*-selectivity (Table 129).²⁹⁷ It was of particular note that CuCl alone favored formation of the *exo*-adduct, which was a dominant product in a typical Rh(II)-catalyzed process.

3. C-X (X = N, O, P, Etc.) Bond Formation

3.1. Aromatic Nitration and Sulfonylation

Aromatic nitrates are versatile building blocks in pharmaceutical, dye, plastics, and perfumes industries, and conventionally their preparation involves using mixtures of concentrated HNO3 and H2SO4.298 Like Friedel-Crafts reactions, disposal of acidic wastes after the reaction is problematic. Recently, it was reported a catalytic aromatic nitration using Yb(OTf)₃ as a catalyst and 1 equiv of commercially available 69% HNO₃ reacted cleanly with electronrich arenes in refluxing dichloroethane to give the corresponding nitrates in good to excellent yields (Table 130).²⁹⁹ The effect of $RE(OTf)_3$ on nitration of *m*-xylene is summarized in Table 131. Moderate electron-deficient 2-nitrotoluene was nitrated in the presence of a stoichiometric amount of Yb(OTf)₃.³⁰⁰ The catalytic efficiency of Ln(OTf)₃ for aromatic nitration of bromobenzene was quantified according to tripositive lanthanides,³⁰¹ and as in many other similar studies, an inverse correlation between them

Table 130. Catalytic Aromatic Nitration UsingYb(OTf)3

	R	\mathbf{H}^{1}	Yb(OTf) 1 equiv. 69% (CH ₂ Cl) ₂ , r	HNO ₃ HNO ₂ HO ₂
\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	time/h	yield/%	isomeric ratio
Me	Н	12	>95	o/m/p (52/7/41)
Me	NO_2	14	88	2,4-DNT/2,6-DNT (65/35)

62

o/p (40/60)

Table 131. Effect of Catalysts on Nitration of *m*-Xylene^a

6

Н

Br

catalyst (mol %)	HNO ₃ (equiv)	time/ h	conversion/ %	(4-NO ₂ / 2-NO ₂)
Sc(OTf) ₃ (10)	69% (1.0)	12	85	85/15
La(OTf) ₃ (10)	69% (1.0)	12	22	86/14
Eu(OTf) ₃ (10)	69% (1.0)	12	36	86/14
Pr(OTf) ₃ (10)	69% (1.0)	12	65	88/12
Yb(OTf) ₃ (10)	69% (1.0)	12	88	85/15
TfOH (420)	100% (2.1)	1	n.r. ^{<i>c</i>}	$62/37^{d}$

^{*a*} The reactions were performed in refluxing dichloroethane unless otherwise stated. ^{*b*} The reaction was performed in CH_2Cl_2 at 25 °C. ^{*c*} Not reported. ^{*d*} About 1% of other isomers.

Scheme 68. Sulfonylation of Toluene under Microwaves



was reported. By extrapolation, it is not unexpected that trivalent $Sc(OTf)_3$ and tetravalent $Hf(OTf)_4$ showed superior activity over $Ln(OTf)_3$.^{300,301}

It has been shown that $Yb(OTf)_3$ increases the Brønsted acidity of an acidic reagent.^{226,299,302} It was argued that binding of Yb^{3+} to acidic ligands such as HNO_3^{299} and $HOAc^{302}$ would form the corresponding chelates, which are stronger Brønsted acids. These chelates may undergo equilibrium loss of triflic acid (TfOH), a very efficient catalyst used in some organic transformations. The isomer distribution in the electrophilic aromatic nitration supports the Brønsted acid-catalyzed mechanism rather than the Lewis-acid-catalyzed one.²⁹⁹ Other related reaction systems such as $Yb(Fod)_3$ -HOAc³⁰³ and $Yb(OTf)_3$ -PhCO₂H⁸³ have been reported recently.

It was reported that RE (Sc, Yb, Ce) triflates were ineffective for aromatic sulfonylation using benzenesulfonyl chloride whereas $Bi(OTf)_3$ and $In(OTf)_3$ are efficient catalysts (Scheme 68).³⁰⁴

3.2. Michael Reaction

The conjugate addition of amines to α,β -unsaturated esters requires drastic conditions,³⁰⁵ such as high temperature and/or high pressure, and is extremely sensitive to steric hindrance imposed by the substrates.³⁰⁶ The efficiency of different Lewis-acid

 Table 132. Efficacy of Lewis Acids in Michael

 Addition of Benzylamine to Ethyl Crotonate

	BnNH ₂			
CO ₂ Et	10 mol% LA rt	CO ₂ Et +	CONHBn	
		Α	В	
LA (mol %)	solvent	time/h	yield/% A/B	
none	CH ₂ Cl ₂	12	0/0	
BF ₃ •OEt ₂	CH_2Cl_2	12	0/0	
TiCl ₄	CH_2Cl_2	4.5	28/26	
La(OTf) ₃	CH_2Cl_2	6	95/0	
Sm(OTf) ₃	CH_2Cl_2	6	95/0	
Yb(OTf) ₃	CH_2Cl_2	2.5	92/0	
Yb(OTf) ₃	THF	6	97/0	
Yb(OTf) ₃	EtOH	6	95/0	
Yb(OTf) ₃	PhMe	6	92/0	
YbCl ₃	THF	17	28/26	
Yb(OTf) ₃ Yb(OTf) ₃ Yb(OTf) ₃ Yb(OTf) ₃ YbCl ₃	CH2Cl2 THF EtOH PhMe THF	2.5 6 6 17	92/0 97/0 95/0 92/0 28/26	

Scheme 69. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Diastereoselective Conjugate Addition of an Amine



catalysts in the conjugate addition of benzylamine to ethyl crotonate was examined (Table 132).³⁰⁷ In the absence of a catalyst or using a classical Lewis acid like BF₃·OEt₂, no conjugate adduct was detected. The reaction using TiCl₄ gave a low yield of the adduct accompanied by formation of *N*-benzylamide. On the other hand, Ln(OTf)₃ gave an excellent yield with a wide range of solvents including CH₂Cl₂, THF, ethanol, and toluene. Notably, YbCl₃ was less efficient for the reaction, resulting in low yield and formation of *N*-benzylamide.

The diastereoselectivities in the Yb(OTf)₃-catalyzed reactions with chiral α,β -unsaturated esters were dependent on the geometry of the olefins (Scheme 69).³⁰⁷ The *syn*-product was produced in high selectivity with the (*Z*)-isomer, whereas poor selectivity was resulted from the (*E*)-isomer.

It was disclosed that an independent study on the effect of Lewis acids and organic bases for conjugate addition of amines.³⁰⁸ Also in this case, Yb(OTf)₃ was quite effective to promote the addition of isopropylamine to methyl crotonate, whereas other Lewis acids, such as LiClO₄ and Eu(fod)₃, or organic bases were not suitable. Surprisingly, ZrCl₄ was a potent catalyst, despite that its amine complexes were active catalysts for polymerization.

Meanwhile, a comprehensive study on the effects of pressure, catalyst, water, and their combinations was investigated in conjugate addition of amines to α,β -unsaturated ethylenic compounds.³⁰⁹ Multiactivation by pressure and Yb(OTf)₃ was important in promoting the reactions; otherwise low reactivity resulted (Table 133). A comparison was made between the pressure effect and hydrophobic effect on

Table 133. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Conjugate Addition of Amines under High Pressure



amme	aci yne compound			temp/	yiciu /0		
R ¹ , R ²	\mathbb{R}^3	R4	X	°Ċ	no cat. ^a	$Yb(OTf)_3^b$	H ₂ O ⁴
ⁱ Pr, Me	Н	Н	CO ₂ Me	50	13	80 (17) ^d	0
<i>i</i> Bu, <i>i</i> Bu	Н	Н	CN	30	11	91 (20)	40
Pr, Pr	Н	Н	CN	50	8	95 (2)	69
Ph ₂ CH, H	Н	Н	CN	50	5	51 (6)	28
-(CH ₂) ₅ -	Н	Me	CN	20	19	36 (5)	100
-(CH ₂) ₅ -	Me	Н	CN	20	15	86 (18)	95
-(CH ₂) ₅ -	Н	Me	CONH ₂	20	2	65 (17)	70

^{*a*} The reactions were performed at 300 MPa pressure without a catalyst. ^{*b*} The reactions were performed at 300 MPa pressure with 2 mol % of Yb(OTf)₃. ^{*c*} The reaction was performed in water at ambient (0.1 MPa) pressure. ^{*d*} Yields in parentheses were for the reactions performed at ambient pressure.





^{*a*} Starting material was recovered. ^{*b*} 1,2-addition compound was the major product.

the reactivity. In some cases, the hydrophobic effect was quite pronounced. Surprisingly, a combination of $Yb(OTf)_3$ and water did not improve the yield.

In an effort to develop catalytic conjugate addition of silylcuprate, it was disclosed that rare-earth metal triflates including scandium and ytterbium triflate enhanced the rate of 1,4-addition of mixed silylcuprates to enones.³¹⁰ In the reaction with isophorone, addition of a catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃ and Yb(OTf)₃ shortened the reaction time from 2.5 h to 5 min and 15 min, respectively (Table 134). On the other hand, Me₃SiCl and BF₃·OEt₂ were less efficient, requiring an excess promoter and resulting in lower yields.

Aza-Michael addition of enantiopure 1-aminopyrrolidines to (*E*)-alkenyl sulfones was also reported to be catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃ (Scheme 70).³¹¹

During development of an enantioselective conjugate addition reaction of benzyloxyamine, it was shown that a reverse in enantioselectivity using the same chiral ligand was achieved when $Y(OTf)_3$ or $Yb(OTf)_3$ instead of MgBr₂ was used as a Lewis-acid catalyst (Table 135).³¹²

In the presence of a Lewis acid including $Sc(OTf)_3$, *O*-benzylhydroxyamine effectively adds to an unsaturated imide with a chiral auxiliary. Although a

Scheme 70. Aza-Michael Addition of 1-Aminopyrrolidine to (*E*)-Alkenyl Sulfones



Table 135. Enantioselective Conjugate AdditionReactions



LA (equiv)	conditions	yield/%	ee/% (configuration)
MgBr ₂ (1.0)	−80 °C, 72 h	60	97 (<i>R</i>)
$MgBr_{2}$ (0.3)	−60 °C, 22 h	80	92 (<i>R</i>)
Y(OTf) ₃ (1.0)	−60 °C, 22 h	67	59 (<i>S</i>)
Yb(OTf) ₃ (1.0)	−60 °C, 22 h	78	41 (<i>S</i>)

Table 136. Diastereoselective Conjugate Addition Reactions



Lewis acid (equiv)	temp/°C	time/h	yield/%	S/R
AlMe ₂ Cl (1.1)	-78 to rt	18	95	70/30
TiCl ₄ (1.1)	-60 to rt	18	10	46/54
$MgBr_2 \cdot OEt_2 (0.5)$	-10 to rt	18	95	75/25
Sc(OTf) ₃ (0.05)	-10 to rt	18	70	65/35
$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$ (1)	-10 to rt	72	50	90/10
$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$ (2)	-10 to rt	72	>95	90/10

catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃ was enough to promote the reaction, the highest diastereoselectivity was obtained with over a stoichiometric amount of BF₃· OEt₂ (Table 136).³¹³

It was reported that chiral catalysts prepared from metal triflates (metal = Yb, Sc, or Hf) and (*S*)-pralinederived chiral ligands were effective for asymmetric Michael addition of thiols to 3-(2-alkenoyl)-2-oxazo-lidinones (Table 137).³¹⁴

3.3. Glycosylation

Stereoselective glycosylation has received much attention due to a wide distribution of oligosaccharides in many different types of natural compounds.³¹⁵ Several Lewis acids have been used for this transformation. Recent studies have demonstrated that RE(OTf)₃ promotes glycosylation of several glycosyl donors. 1-*O*-Acetyl-2,3,5-tri-*O*-benzylribofuranose reacted with trimethylsilyl ethers in the presence of a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃ or Sc(OTf)₃





Table 138. Sc(OTf)₃- and Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Synthesis of Ribofuranosides



^a At 0 °C. ^b In the presence of LiClO₄ (1.5 equiv).

to give the corresponding ribofuranoses in good yields and selectivities (Table 138).³¹⁶

Yb(OTf)₃ promoted glycosylation of 1-*O*-methoxyacetyl pyranosides or furanosides with glycosyl acceptors, simple alcohols, and thiols (Tables 139 and 140).³¹⁷ The glycosides were obtained in almost quantitative yields with moderate to excellent selectivities. Moreover, a combination of Yb(OTf)₃ and methoxyacetic acid catalyzed the direct coupling of 1-hydroxy sugars with various alcohols and thiols to form the desired glycosides.³¹⁸

In the presence of hexamethyldisiloxane and Drierite, lanthanide (Yb and La) triflates were used for glycosylation reaction of 2,3,5-tri-*O*-benzyl-D-ribofuranose with various acceptors (Table 141).³¹⁹ While formation of β -anomers was favored in some cases, a reverse of selectivity was noted by addition of lithium perchlorate. Similar selectivity was observed in the glycosylation of the glucose derivative.

Table 139. Stereoselective Glycosylation of a Glucose Derivative Catalyzed by $Yb(OTf)_3$

BnO BnO Bn	BnO OMe	0.5-30 mc RXH (CH ₃ CN, 5	01% Yb(O⊺ I.2 equiv.) 3 ℃, 1.5-	^[f] ₃ BnC → BnO ⁻ 15 h BnC	BnO b BnO BnO BnO BnO		
	RXH	cat./mol%	time/h	yield/%	α/β	-	
	HOLOGO	, 30	15	87	27/73	-	
	[/] ⁿ OctOH	0.5	1.5	99	36/64		
	<i>с</i> -С ₆ Н ₁₁ ОН	0.5	6	98	36/64		
	cholesterol	5	6	87	33/67		
	1-adamantanol	5	8	51	54/46		
	PhSH	0.5	6	97	55/45		
	"OctSH	5	3	99	58/42		

Table 140. Stereoselective Glycosylation of a Ribose Derivative Catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃



Table 141. Stereoselective Glycosylation of 1-OHRibose and Glucose Derivatives

Bn Bn E	G	mol%) mol% acce Drie CH ₃ N	BnO- Ln(OTf) ₃ Br Me ₃ Si ₂ O aptor aptor aptor BnO-		lu Nu
donor	acceptor	Ln	Nu	yield/%	α/β
R	$\begin{array}{c} c\text{-}C_{6}\text{H}_{11}\text{OH} \\ c\text{-}C_{6}\text{H}_{11}\text{OH} \\ \text{Me}_{3}\text{SiN}_{3} \\ 1,3,5\text{-}(\text{MeO})_{3}\text{C}_{6}\text{H}_{3} \\ c\text{-}C_{6}\text{H}_{11}\text{OH} \\ c\text{-}C_{6}\text{H}_{11}\text{OH} \\ \text{Me}_{3}\text{SiN}_{3} \end{array}$	Yb La La La La ^a La ^a	c-HexO c-HexO N ₃ 2,4,6-(MeO) ₃ Ph c-HexO c-HexO N ₃	95 98 quant. 80 96 96 95	6/94 5/95 20/80 0/100 93/7 94/6 80/20
G	3b-cholestanol 1,3,5-(MeO) ₃ C ₆ H ₃	La ^a La	RO 2,4,6-(MeO) ₃ Ph	95 80	84/16 0/100

^{*a*} In the presence of $LiClO_4$ (1.5 equiv).

Glycosyl fluorides, which are now commonly used for complex oligosaccharide synthesis, were employed for glycosylation using $Ln(OTf)_3$.³²⁰ Both solvents and bases proved to be important to determine

Table 142. Stereoselective Glycosylation of Glucosyl Fluoride Promoted by Ln(OTf)₃



 Table 143. Effect of Lewis Acids for Glycosylation of Thioglycoside



the stereochemical outcome of the reaction (Table 142).

With a combination of iodosobenzene (PhIO) and $Ln(OTf)_3$ as a catalyst, thioglycosyl donors reacted rapidly to give disaccharides in good yields and selectivities (Table 143).³²¹ Other acid catalysts including $Sn(OTf)_2$, Me₃SiOTf, and TfOH also promoted the reaction efficiently.

Cyclic sulfites are stable surrogates of the corresponding epoxides, and they are prepared from readily available 1,2-diols. It was reported that the activation of glucose 1,2-cyclic sulfite was performed by Yb(OTf)₃ and that subsequent reactions with simple alcohols gave β -*O*-glycosides stereoselectively (Table 144).³²² The hydroxyl protecting groups of the sugar had a significant influence on the resulting stereoselectivity. When tri-*O*-benzyl cyclic sulfites were employed, the best result was obtained. With other protecting groups such as benzoyl and acetyl groups, glycosylation required a higher temperature (100 °C) and gave adducts with lower selectivities ($\alpha/\beta = 1/5$ to 1/11).

Glycosyl azides are important precursors for *N*-glycoproteins.³²³ Stereoselective preparation of glycosyl azides was successfully performed by employing Yb(OTf)₃ as a catalyst (Table 145).³²⁴ In all reactions, only β -azides were isolated. Surprisingly, no product was obtained when the reaction was carried out in CH₂Cl₂. This observation was consistent with the

 Table 144. Stereoselective Glycosylation of Glucose

 1,2-Cyclic Sulfite Using Yb(OTf)₃

PO PO PO	О 0-0 + ROH +S.0-	20 n tol	nol% Ln(OTf) ₃ uene, MS 3A	PO- PO- PO- OH	OR
donor	ROH	Ln	temp/°C	yield/%	α/β
P = Bz	AllylOH	Yb	100	86	1/10
	BnŎH	Yb	100	92	1/11
	<i>c</i> -HexOH	Ho	100	83	1/8
$\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{A}\mathbf{c}$	AllylOH	Yb	100	82	1/9
	BnOH	Yb	100	81	1/5
	<i>c</i> -HexOH	Ho	100	74	1/10
P = Bn	AllylOH	Yb	80	71	0/100
	BnŎH	Yb	80	85	0/100
	<i>c</i> -HexOH	Yb	80	75	0/100

Table 145. Synthesis of Glycosyl Azides Using Yb(OTf)₃



previous finding of activation of 1-O-methoxyacetyl sugar by $Yb(OTf)_{3.}^{317}$

In the glycosylation of mannosyl donors and methyl glucopyranoside, α -selectivity was obtained in the absence of a Lewis acid, while β -selectivity was observed using a stoichiometric amount of Eu(OTf)₃ (Table 146).³²⁵ Lanthanide(III) was supposed to coordinate to the 2-hydroxyl group of the mannosyl donor as well as the glycosyl acceptor, leading the acceptor to the β -side of the donor.

A catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃ was reported to be effective for the synthesis of aryl *O*-glycosides using triaryloxyboranes (Table 147).³²⁶

Recently, it was demonstrated that 1,2-*trans*selective *O*-glycosylation with disarmed 2-*O*-methoxycarbonylated glycosyl thrichloroacetoimidates was efficiently catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃. An *O*-methoxycarbonyl protection is critical in avoiding the formation of undesired ortho ester-like products.³²⁷

3.4. Aziridination

The transition-metal-catalyzed addition of a nitrene to an olefin or the addition of a carbene to an imine provides aziridines.^{328,329} It was found that the reaction of imines with ethyl diazoacetate gave a mixture of *cis* and *trans* aziridines and that the ratio was dependent on the Lewis acids employed to



donor	(equiv)	Ln	solvent	temp	yield/%	α/β
Α	Tf ₂ O		CH ₃ CN	-40 °C to rt	42	5/1
	Tf ₂ O	Eu	CH ₃ CN	-40 °C to rt	82	1/4.3
В	NIS (4), TfOH (cat.)		CH ₂ Cl ₂	0 °C	56	5.3/1
	NIS (4), TfOH (cat.)	Eu	CH_2Cl_2	−78 °C	64	1/3.0

Table 147. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Reactions of Glycosyl Acetates and Triaryloxyboranes

{	+ B(0 (0.5	DAr) ₃ — equiv.)	Yb(OTf) CH ₂ Cl ₂	³ → {) }~0/	٩r
donor						
donor	Ar	cat./mol%	% temp.	time	yield/%	ώ α/β
	Ph ԴCIP	2 b 4	0°0 0°0	1.5 h 5 h	86 61	α
BnO	<i>p</i> -Me	D 4	0°Č	5 h	96	α
BnOQ	Ph	2	0 °C	5 h	71	57/43
BnO OAc	<i>p</i> -CiP <i>p</i> -Me	n 4 D 4	0°C 0°C	5 h 5 h	45 83	70/30 65/35
OAc						
	Ph <i>p</i> -Me	D 5	rt rt	overnight	71 78	αα
Aco OAc Aco Aco	Ph <i>p</i> -Me	15 O 15	rt rt	2 d 2 d	75 72	α α
OAc						

Table 148. Yb(OTf) $_3$ -Promoted Aziridination of an Imine with Ethyl Diazoacetate

NCHI	Ph ₂ N ₂	10 mol% Yb(OTf) ₃	CHPh ₂	Ç⊢ , N	IPh ₂
R	+ CO ₂ Et	hexane, rt	R CO2	Et R	[∵] ″CO₂Et
			cis	tran	IS
R	yield/%	cis/trans	R	yield/%	cis/trans
Ph	89	93/7	<i>p</i> -ClPh	81	94/6
<i>p</i> -MePh	75	95/5	p-NO₂Ph	83	93/7
<i>p</i> -MeOPh	90	94/6	1-naphthyl	82	94/6

promote the reaction (Table 148).³³⁰ Main-group and transition-metal catalysts gave either poor yields or selectivities; however, Yb(OTf)₃ provided product with moderate yield and selectivity.

Yb(OTf)₃-catalyzed three-component coupling reactions of aldehydes, amines, and ethyl diazoacetate were also developed (Table 149).^{330a} This process is
 Table 149. Three-Component Coupling Reactions of

 Aldehydes, Amines, and Ethyl Diazoacetate

RCHO + H2NCHPh2		10 mol% Yb(OTf) ₃	CHF N	'n ₂	CHPh ₂ N	
+ N ₂ C	+ N ₂ CHO ₂ Et M		R	CO ₂ Et R	/ trans	
R	yield/%	cis/trans	R	yield/%	cis/trans	
Ph	83	95/5	<i>i</i> Pr	82	91/9	
PhCO	85	94/6	<i>'</i> Bu	86	70/30	
$c - C_6 H_{11}$	82	93/7	ⁿ Bu	60	85/15	

Scheme 71. Synthesis of Aziridine from Imines and Ethyl Diazoacetate Catalyzed by Ln(OTf)₃ in Protic Media



Table 150. Synthesis of Aziridines from CF₃-Substituted Imines and Ethyl Diazoacetate

F ₃ C	+ [[MP ^N 2	t <u>10 mol%</u> so	Lewis acid	F ₃ C N Pl	_, ୷CO₂Et MP
catalyst	solvent	temp/°C	time	yield/%	cis/trans
Yb(OTf) ₃ InCl ₃ BF ₃ ·OEt ₂ BF ₃ ·OEt ₂	Hexane CH ₂ Cl ₂ Et ₂ O Et ₂ O	rt rt rt –78	12 h 20 h 30 min 2 h	85 56 90 86	70/30 72/28 84/16 95/5

particularly useful for the reaction of aliphatic aldehydes whose imines are generally unstable.

An independent study showed that lanthanum and other rare-earth metal triflates promoted the formation of aziridines from imines and ethyl diazoacetate in protic media (Scheme 71).³³¹ *cis*-Aziridines were formed exclusively using most of the lanthanides, except for heavier lanthanides. In some cases, the reaction was accompanied by the formation of ring-opened products.

It was also reported that aziridine formation of CF_3 -substituted imines with ethyl diazoacetate was accelerated by a Lewis acid such as $Yb(OTf)_3$ (Table 150).³³² In terms of selectivity, BF_3 ·OEt₂ gave the best result.

3.5. Diazocarbonyl Insertion

Recently, Sc(OTf)₃ has been shown to catalyze diazocarbonyl insertion reactions with alcohols and thiols at ambient temperature (Table 151).³³³ Although Sc(OTf)₃ did not promote intermolecular insertion reactions with free or protected amines (such as benzyl carbamate), it catalyzed intramolecular diazoester N–H insertion reactions (Scheme 72).

Ar	N ₂	Ar Ar	XR
Ar	RXH	cat./mol%	yield/%
4-EtOC ₆ H ₄	[/] PrOH	2	64
Ph	PhSH	5	62
Ph	CbzNHCH ₂ CH ₂ OH	5	30
4-ClC ₆ H ₄	MeOH	5	93
4-ClC ₆ H ₄	PhCH(CH ₃)OH	10	64
2-thiophenyl	ⁿ BuSH	10	40
2-thiophenyl	PhSH	10	46
2-thiophenyl	CbzNHCH ₂ CH ₂ OH	10	36
2-thiophenyl	BnOH	3	63

Scheme 72. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Intramolecular Insertion(s) into a N–H Bond



3.6. Ring-Opening Reactions

 β -Amino alcohols are well-studied compounds. They act both as chiral auxiliaries for diastereoselective transformations and as ligands for metal-catalyzed enantioselective reactions. Aminolysis of 1,2-epoxides allows a simple preparation of the compounds; however, typical conditions in protic solvents suffer from low conversions when hindered amines and/or epoxides are involved.³³⁴ Searching for a new catalyst to facilitate this reaction, it was found that Ln(OTf)₃ was an ideal candidate to promote aminolysis with hindered amines and/or epoxides (Table 152).^{335,336} The best results were obtained in anhydrous nonpolar solvents such as toluene and CH₂Cl₂. The

Table 152. Aminolysis of Epoxides

epoxide + HNR ¹ F	3 ² 10 mol	l%Ln(OTf) ₃ ₂Cl₂, rt	R	$ \begin{array}{c} $
epoxide	Ln	amine	yield/%	α/β
"Hex	Yb Yb	NHEt ₂ NH ⁱ Pr ₂	97 95	>99/<1 >99/<1
PhO	Yb Yb Yb	HNEt ₂ H ₂ N ^t Bu HN ^t Pr ₂	100 95 95	>99/<1 >99/<1 >99/<1
$\bigcirc \circ$	Yb Gd Nd	H ₂ N ^t Bu H ₂ N ^t Bu H ₂ N ^t Bu	97 98 85	
Ph	Yb Gd Nd Yb Gd Nd	H ₂ N ⁱ Bu H ₂ N ⁱ Bu H ₂ N ⁱ Bu HNEt ₂ HNEt ₂ HNEt ₂	97 96 97 98 98 98 97	90/10 92/8 92/8 55/45 57/43 58/42

Scheme 73. Comparison of Regioselectivity in the Ring Opening of an Epoxide Catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃ and LiClO₄



 Table 153. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Azidolysis of

 Epoxides with TMGA

$R^{3}O$ R^{1} R^{2}	LA TMGA CH ₃ CN, rt	HO R ³ } R ¹	$\prec^{N_3}_{R^2}$ +	R ³ …} R ¹	OH ≺ R²
		Δ		B	

TMGA: 1,1,3,3-tetramethylguanidium azide

$\mathbb{R}^1, \mathbb{R}^2$	\mathbb{R}^3	LA (mol %)	yield/% (A / B)
C ₆ H ₁₃ , H	Н	Yb(OTf) ₃ (20)	54 (93/7)
C ₆ H ₁₃ , H	Н	$Zr(OTf)_{3}$ (20)	75 (82/18)
C ₆ H ₁₃ , H	Н	Hf(OTf) ₃ (20)	74 (82/18)
C_6H_{13}, H^a	Н	LiClO ₄ (150)	96 (92/8)
$-(CH_2)_4-$	Н	$Yb(OTf)_3$ (20)	78
$-(CH_2)_4-$	Me	Yb(OTf) ₃ (20)	51 (80/20)
Ph, H	Н	Yb(OTf) ₃ (10)	82 (28/72)
^a NaN ₃ was	used as	a nucleophile and	the reaction wa

reaction was slowed in MeCN or in the presence of water in an aprotic solvent. The reaction proceeded sluggishly in coordinating solvents such as DMF and THF. LiClO₄ was also a good promoter but not as efficient as Ln(OTf)₃.³³⁷ Complementary results were obtained in the reaction of cis-4-benzyloxy-1,2-epoxyhexane with diethylamine: LiClO₄ in CH₃CN gave predominantly C-1 product, whereas $Yb(OTf)_3$ in CH₂Cl₂ provided regioisomeric C-2 product exclusively (Scheme 73). The results were ascribed to the size of Yb³⁺ ion, which was too big to fit into the space between benzyl ethereal and epoxy oxygen atoms. More recently, it was reported that a cyclic epoxide derived from (-)-shikimic acid underwent the regioselective ring-opening reaction with benzylamine in the presence of Yb(OTf)₃.³³⁸

Azidolysis of epoxides with 1,1,3,3-tetramethyl guanidinium azide (TMGA) in the presence of a Lewis-acid catalyst was reported.³³⁹ Yb(OTf)₃, which was successful used for aminolysis of epoxides, gave only moderate yield in azidolysis (Table 153). Other metal triflates including Zr and Hf triflates improved yields but not regioselectivities. A stoichiometric amount of LiClO₄ promoted the reaction in excellent yield and selectivity.

The catalytic efficiency of InCl₃, Yb(OTf)₃, and Sc(OTf)₃ in azidolysis of an α , β -epoxycarboxylic acid using NaN₃ has been evaluated in water (Table

Table 154. Effect of Lewis Acids in Azidolysis in Water

CO ₂ H	NaN ₃ (5 equiv catalyst H ₂ O, 30 °C	$\xrightarrow{\text{CO}_2\text{H}} \xrightarrow{\text{CO}_2\text{H}} \xrightarrow{\text{H}} \xrightarrow{\text{H}$	CO ₂ H N ₃ OH
catalyst	pН	conversion/%	β/α
none	7.0	15	80/20
InCl ₃	7.0	25	>99/<1
Yb(OTf) ₃	7.0	32	>99/<1
Sc(OTf) ₃	7.0	17	>99/<1
none	4.0	10	>99/<1
InCl ₃	4.0	>99	>99/<1
Yb(OTf) ₃	4.0	32	>99/<1
Sc(OTf) ₃	4.0	30	> 99/< 1

Table 155. Reaction of Indole with Glycidyl Phenyl Ether



p-TsOH·H ₂ O (1)	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 10 kbar, 60 °C, 42 h	4 ^c
^a CH ₃ CN was used	l instead of CH ₂ Cl ₂ . ^b 5 mol % of	Yb(OTf) ₃ /
H ₂ O was used. ^c Dec	composition of substrate was ol	bserved.

CH₂Cl₂, 10 kbar, 60 °C, 42 h

CH₃CN, 10 kbar, 60 °C, 42 h

41

30

Table 156. Reaction of Indole with an Aziridinecarboxylic Acid

Eu(fod)3 (5)

LiOTf/H₂O (5)



154).³⁴⁰ At pH 4.0, InCl₃ was found to be a better catalyst than Yb(OTf)₃ and Sc(OTf)₃.

It was shown that the reaction of indole with glycidyl phenyl ether was accelerated efficiently by Yb(OTf)₃ under high pressure (Table 155).³⁴¹ PhB- $(OH)_2$ was as effective as Yb(OTf)₃ in accelerating the reaction, while other Lewis acids or Brønsted-acid catalysts were less efficient.

A similar reaction with an aziridinecarboxylic acid instead of an epoxide proceeded well in the presence of a Lewis acid such as Sc(OTf)₃ (Table 156).³⁴² In this reaction, Sc(ClO₄)₃ showed higher catalytic activity and regioselectivity than Sc(OTf)₃.

A catalyst prepared from Yb(OTf)₃, (R)-BINOL, and Ph₂NBn promoted asymmetric ring opening of meso-

Table 157. Enantioselective Ring Opening of meso-Epoxides with Aromatic Amines

R + ArN	H ₂ <u>Yb(OTf)₃/(<i>R</i>)-1 Ph₂NBn, tol</u> MS 4A, -78	BINOL uene 3 °C (1R,	NHAr R 2R)
epoxide (R,R)	Ar	yield/%	% ee
$-(CH_2)_4-$	Ph	90	80.1
$-(CH_2)_4-$	o-EtC ₆ H ₄	74	39.0
$-(CH_2)_4-$	p-ClC ₆ H ₄	98	75.5
$-(CH_2)_4-$	p-BrC ₆ H ₄	78	73.6
$-(CH_2)_4-$	p-MeOC ₆ H ₄	64	37.4
$-(CH_2)_3-$	Ph	98	11.6
$-(CH_2)_6-$	Ph		
Ph,Ph	Ph	92	17.4^{a}
Me,Me	Ph	99	42.7
^a At room tempe	rature.		

Scheme 74. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Ring Opening of Sugar-Derived Epoxide and Aziridine with Liquid Ammonia



Table 158. Asymmetric Ring Opening of Cyclohexene Oxide with a Chiral Tricarbonyl Arene Thiol **Chromium Complex**



CH₂Cl₂ Yb(OTf)3 (20) 44 $Yb(hfc)_3$ (20) CH_2Cl_2 94 41 epoxides with aromatic amines in good yields and poor to good enantiomeric excesses (Table 157).³⁴³ The

70

chiral Yb catalyst was originally used in asymmetric Diels-Alder reactions.

Yb(OTf)₃ was found to be effective even for ringopening reactions of an epoxide or the corresponding *N*-tosylaziridine with liquid ammonia (Scheme 74).³⁴⁴ Thus, N- and O-linked inositol oligomers were synthesized utilizing this reaction as a key step.

A chiral tricarbonyl arene thiol chromium complex reacted with cyclohexene oxide directly to give trans- β -hydroxyalkyl aryl sulfide in high yield with moderate selectivity (Table 158).345 Addition of a Yb catalyst slightly increased the diastereoselectivity of the reaction.

Aminolysis of oxetanes was studied (Table 159).³⁴⁶ Although LiBF₄ in MeCN mediated the aminolysis of oxetanes with various primary and secondary amines, the reaction proceeded sluggishly. Ln(OTf)₃ gave comparable or better yields in a shorter reaction

Table 159. Aminolysis of Oxetanes



Table 160. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Ring Opening of Aziridines with Amines

R1	$R^2NH + N$ R^3	10-20 mol Yb(OTf) ₃ THF or CH ₂ (IR ¹ R ² + R	NR ¹ R ² 3 NHR ⁴
			Α		В
	aziridine_	amine	conditions	yield/%	A/B
	Boc N Me	HNBn₂ HNBn₂ H₂NBn	THF, reflux CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt	quant. 91 82	75/25 62/38 65/35
	Ts N Me	HNBn ₂ H ₂ NBn HNEt ₂	CH_2Cl_2 , rt CH_2Cl_2 , rt CH_2Cl_2 , rt CH_2Cl_2 , rt	84 75 95	77/23 >99/<1 >99/<1
	Ph	HNBn ₂	THF, rt	77	67/33
	n-Oct	HNBn ₂	THF, rt	77	>99/<1
	NTs	H ₂ NBn HNEt ₂ H ₂ NPh pyrroridine HNBn ₂	CH_2CI_2 , reflux CH_2CI_2 , reflux CH_2CI_2 , reflux CH_2CI_2 , reflux CH_2CI_2 , reflux CH_2CI_2 , reflux	quant. 82 98 quant. NR	- - - -

time. Of $Ln(OTf)_3$ screened, $Yb(OTf)_3$ was the most effective, allowing aminolysis with hindered amines. In addition, 2-phenyloxetane, which was resistant to aminolysis with LiBF₄, reacted smoothly when $Yb(OTf)_3$ was employed as a catalyst.

Ring opening of aziridines with amines has become an attractive entry to the preparation of synthetically useful 1,2-diamines.³⁴⁷ It was found that the reaction of *N*-tosylcyclohexeneimine with benzylamine was sluggish and that only a 20% yield of the diamine was obtained after 1 week. Yb(OTf)₃ accelerated the same reaction to afford quantitative yield after 3 days at room temperature or 1 day under reflux in dichloromethane.³⁴⁸ Other Ln(OTf)₃ including Y, La, Sm, and Pr triflates were equally effective. Reactions Scheme 75. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Formations of Azafuranose and Azapyranose from Ring Opening of Bis-aziridine with Allyl Alcohol and Water



Scheme 76. Regioselective Ring Opening Controlled by Chelation of Lewis Acids



with monosubstituted aziridines proceeded smoothly, and regioselectivities depended on the amines employed (Table 160). On the other hand, the reactions with trisubstituted aziridines were relatively slow, resulting in low yields after prolonged reaction time. Nevertheless, Yb(OTf)₃ did not promote the ring opening of 1-tosylazetidine with benzylamine even in refluxing dichloromethane, and 1-tosylazetidine was recovered without decomposition.

Yb(OTf)₃ catalyzed the ring-opening reactions of bis-aziridine with allyl alcohol and water, followed by intramolecular heterocyclization to afford a mixture of azafuranose and azapyranose (Scheme 75).³⁴⁹ It was demonstrated that the Lewis acid employed for the reaction dictated the ratio of the products. For instance, BF₃·OEt₂ mediated the reaction with allyl alcohol in poor selectivity.

Tetrahydrofuran, tetrahydropyran, and tetrahydrooxepane ring systems are frequently found in biologically active marine polycyclic ether compounds.³⁵⁰ Stereoselective intramolecular ring opening of a proper tethered epoxy alcohol allows straightforward access to tetrahydrofuran and/or tetrahydropyran (Scheme 76). It was found that in the presence of both La(OTf)₃ and water, the 6-*endo*-mode of cyclization was preferred over the favored 5-exo-mode, affording tetrahydropyrans mainly.³⁵¹ CSA, BF₃·OEt₂, or anhydrous La(OTf)₃ gave tetrahydrofuran as the sole product (Table 161). CeCl₃ enhanced the formation of tetrahydropyran, albeit in low yield, and the major product was the ring-opened product by chloride. However, in the presence of water (1.1-2.2 equiv), the selectivity for La(OTf)₃-promoted reaction was reversed and tetrahydropyran was dominant at a longer reaction time. The influence of water was less pronounced in solvents other than dichloromethane.

Biomimetic successive ring-closure reactions also proceeded under similar reaction conditions (Schemes 77 and 78).³⁵²

Yb(OTf)₃ catalyzed intermolecular ring-opening reactions of epoxides with alcohols to give β -alkoxy alcohols in good to high yields with high regio- and stereoselectivity (Table 162).³⁵³





Scheme 77. Biomimetic Successive Ring-Closure Reaction Catalyzed by La(OTf)₃ (1)



Scheme 78. Biomimetic Successive Ring-Closure Reaction Catalyzed by La(OTf)₃ (2)



3.7. Other C–X Bond Formations

In the synthetic study of 1 α ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ A-ring synthon, it was found that treatment of a γ -keto ester with neat acetic anhydride in the presence of a catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃ gave a bicyclic diacetate cleanly in 65% yield with high diastereo-selectivity (Scheme 79).³⁵⁴

Lewis acids such as SnCl₂, SnCl₄, BF₃·OEt₂, ZnCl₂, and MgBr₂ have been employed to mediate the reactions of imines with phosphites.³⁵⁵ The results varied from case to case, but a one-pot reaction from an aldehyde has never been achieved by using these conventional Lewis acids. Yb(OTf)₃ has been shown to be effective in the three-component coupling of aldehydes, amines, and diethyl phosphite to afford α -aminophosphonates in high yields.³⁵⁶ Moderate diastereoselectivities were obtained in the reactions with chiral amines (Scheme 80).

Table 162. Yb(OTf)3-Catalyzed Ring-opening Reactions of Epoxides with Alcohols



 $^{a}\,Alcohol$ (2 equiv) was used in $CH_{2}Cl_{2}$ under reflux conditions.





It was also reported that $Sc(OTf)_3$ catalyzed the three-component synthesis of α -aminophosphonates in ionic liquids (Table 163).³⁵⁷ The catalyst immobilized in an ionic liquid can be reused several times without loss of activity.

4. Oxidation and Reduction

4.1. Oxidation

A wide range of oxidants has been developed for oxidation of alcohols to aldehydes, but most of them involve using toxic heavy metals such as chromium,

Scheme 80. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Three-Component Coupling of Aldehydes, Chiral Amines, and Diethyl phosphite



Table 163. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Three-Component Coupling of Aldehydes, Amines, and Triethyl



Table 164. Catalytic Oxidation of Benzylic Alcohols to Aromatic Aldehydes Using Yb(OTf)₃

	ArCH₂OH	Yb(O HNG (CH	Tf) ₃ (10 mol%) O ₃ (1 equiv.) I ₂ Cl) ₂ , reflux	ArCHO	
Ar	time/h	yield/%	Ar	time/h	yield/%
Ph	0.5	91	$2,4-F_2C_6H_3$	2	80
2-ClC ₆ H ₄	0.5	86	3-CF ₃ C ₆ H ₄	1	87
2-BrC ₆ H ₄	0.5	84	4-MeO ₂ CC ₆ H ₄	2	82
4-BrC ₆ H ₄	0.5	88	3-Py	24	33
2-IC ₆ H ₄	0.5	95	$4 - NO_2C_6H_4$	12	82
2-MeC ₆ H ₄	0.5	92	$3,5-(NO_2)_2C_6H_3$	24	70
$4-\text{MeC}_6H_4$	0.5	94			

manganese, selenium, etc.³⁵⁸ In related program for developing atom-economical transformations, it was shown that oxidation of benzylic alcohols to aromatic aldehydes with aqueous nitric acid (69%) was efficiently catalyzed by Yb(OTf)₃ (Table 164).³⁵⁹ A wide range of alcohols with different electronic properties was converted into the corresponding aldehydes in high yields.

The transformation of ketones with peroxide equivalents to give esters or lactones has been known as the Baeyer–Villiger reaction. Commercially available 85% *m*-chloroperoxybenzoic acid (*m*-CPBA) is generally employed with a buffer or an acid catalyst.³⁶⁰ It was shown that the rate of oxidation of 4-*tert*butylcyclohexanone with *m*-CPBA was much enhanced when Sc(OTf)₃ or TfOH was employed as a catalyst (Table 165).³⁶¹

 $Sc(OTf)_3$ was found to be effective as a catalyst for the oxidative double-ring-closure reaction of porphyrins with DDQ to afford conjugated oligoporphyrins in high yields (Scheme 81).³⁶²





^{*a*} Without catalyst. ^{*b*} With TfOH (10 mol %).

Scheme 81. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Oxidative Double-Ring-Closure Reaction of Porphyrins



4.2. Reduction

It was found that addition of a Lewis acid modified the yield and selectivity in the DIBAL-H reduction of β -silyloxy γ -ketosulfoxide.³⁶³ Of the Lewis acids tested, Yb(OTf)₃ resulted in high selectivity for *syn* product and ZnI₂ for *anti* product (Table 166).



^{*a*} 0.6 equiv of the acid was used.

Table 167. Stereoselective Reduction of a γ -Keto Sulfoxide



DIBAL-H/ equiv	LA	conditions	yield/%	S/R
1.1	none	THF, −105 °C, 1.5 h	85	85/15
1.5	ZnI_2	THF, −78 °C, 3 h	84	69/31
2.5	Yb(OTf) ₃	THF, −78 °C, 5 h	40	20/80
4.0	Nd(OTf) ₃	THF, −78 °C, 2 h	75	25/75
3.0	CeCl ₃	THF, -78 °C, 4 h	66	25/75

DIBAL-H was used for highly stereoselective reduction of γ -ketosulfoxide.³⁶⁴ Lewis acids including ZnI₂ and MgBr₂ caused reduction in selectivity, whereas the use of Yb(OTf)₃, Nd(OTf)₃, or CeCl₃ resulted in high selectivity for the other diastereomer (Table 167).

Remote stereocontrolled reduction of 1,6-hydroxy amino ketone with K-selectride was also modified by the addition of Lewis acids.³⁶⁵ SnCl₄ formed the product with low diastereoselectivity. Yb(OTf)₃ and Ti(O⁴Pr)₄ favored the *anti*-isomer, while Zn(OTf)₂, Yb(O⁴Pr)₃, and Al(OEt)₃ gave the *syn*-isomer preferentially (Table 168).

It was reported that selective reduction of carboxylic acids in the presence of aldehydes proceeded smoothly using a $SmI_2-Sm(OTf)_3-MeOH$ -base system (Table 169).³⁶⁶ Under this condition, acetalization of aldehydes occurs immediately and therefore aldehydes remain unreacted.

It has been reported that reduction of α -bromoamides with Ph₃P suffers from low chemoselectivity and reactivity.³⁶⁷ It was shown that addition of stoichiometric amounts of Lewis acids facilitated the process and that excellent yields were be obtained in most cases when a catalytic amount of a Lewis acid was employed (Table 170).³⁶⁸

Castellani and his group examined rare-earth metal cation (RE^{3+})-catalyzed Meerwein-Pondorff-

Table 168. Remote Stereocontrol in Reduction of 1,6-Hydroxy Amino Ketone



LA	yield/% ^a	anti/syn
SnCl ₄	40 (60)	1.1/1
Yb(OTf) ₃	51 (44)	4.8/1
Ti(O ⁱ Pr) ₄	91	>100/1
Zn(OTf) ₂	83	1/3.3
Yb(O ⁷ Pr) ₃	90	1/4.3
Al(OEt) ₃	88	1/7.1

^{*a*} The yields in parentheses were for recovery of starting material.

Table 169. Selective Reduction of Carboxylic Acids over Aldehydes

$ \begin{array}{r} 20 \text{ mol\% Sm}(OTf)_3 \\ Sml_2 (2 \text{ equiv.}) \\ \hline KOH \text{ or } H_2O \\ \hline KOH \text{ or } H_2O \\ MeOH, \text{ rt} \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{r} R^1CH_2OH + R^2CH_2OH \\ \hline R^1CH_2OH + R^2CH_2OH \\ \hline R^1CH_2OH \\ R^1$					
		time/			
\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	min	R^1CH_2OH	R^2CH_2OH	
$Me(CH_2)_3CH(C_2H_5)$	ⁿ Oct	8	93	1	
ⁿ Oct	ⁿ Hept	4.5	96	3	
"Hept	ⁿ Hex	4.5	99		
$c - C_6 H_{11}$	ⁿ Pent	4.5	99		
1-Me- <i>c</i> -Hex	<i>c</i> -C ₆ H ₁₁	7	82	8	
2-Me- <i>c</i> -Hex	$c - C_6 H_{11}$	7	84	10	
$CH_2 = CH(CH_2)_7$	ⁿ Oct	5	96	trace	
ⁿ HeptCH ₂ =CH	ⁿ HexCH ₂ =CH	15	91	5	
Ph	p-MeC ₆ H ₄	6	96		
p-MeC ₆ H ₄	Ph	28	53	8	
p-ClC ₆ H ₄	Ph	1	99		

Table 170. Effect of Lewis Acids on Reduction of $\alpha\mbox{-}Bromoamide$

Me NPh ₂ Br	Ph₃P (2 equiv.) H₂O (1 equiv.) LA THF, rt	MeNPh ₂
	У	ield/% ^a
	with LA	with LA
LA	(2 equiv)	(20 mol %)
Me ₃ SiOTf	94	88 (4)
$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	96 (3)	-
$TiCl_{4}^{b}$	92	92
ZnCl ₂	94	-
SnCl ₄	94	90
$GeCl_4$	96	95
$Sc(OTf)_3$	96	60 (38)

^{*a*} Yield in parentheses was for starting material recovery. ^{*b*} The reaction was performed in CH_2Cl_2 .

Verley-type reduction and etherification reactions.³⁶⁹ They found that the reduction rate of 4-nitrobenzaldehyde increased with decreasing ionic radii of RE^{3+} (La = 1.05 Å, Y = 0.89 Å, Lu = 0.85 Å, Sc = 0.75 Å). This observation was consistent with the

 Table 171. RE³⁺-Catalyzed

 Meerwein-Pondorff-Verley-type Reduction^a

O ₂ N CHC	ⁱ PrOH,	A 85 °C O ₂ N	∕он
LA ^a	$\log k^b$	LA^{a}	$\log k^b$
Sc(OTf) ₃	-3.29	Y(OTf) ₃ •nH ₂ O	-5.12
LaCl₃•nH₂O	с	Y(OTf) ₃	-4.52
LaCl ₃	d	LuCl ₃ •nH ₂ O	-6.68
La(ClO ₄) ₃ •nH ₂ O	-7.34	Lu(ClO ₄) ₃ •nH ₂ O	-5.49
La(OTf) ₃	-5.46	Lu(OTf) ₃	-4.46

^{*a*} Molar ratio of substrate to catalyst was 3/1. ^{*b*} *k* is the reaction rate constant. ^{*c*} No reaction after 9 days. ^{*d*} 1% product was obtained after 6 days.

Table 172. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Stereoselective Tishchenko Reduction



increasing Lewis acidity of the Ln^{3+} ions. Hydrated catalysts gave less satisfactory results (Table 171). Under optimized conditions, Sc(OTf)₃ was used for reduction of other aldehydes and ketones to give alcohols in good yields (78–99%).

Catalytic Tishchenko reduction of β -hydroxyketones with isobutyraldehyde using Sc(OTf)₃ has been developed (Table 172).³⁷⁰ Good to excellent *anti*selectivities were obtained using racemic β -hydroxyketones. The diastereoselectivity was rationalized using a similar transition-state model proposed by Evans and Hoveyda for the SmI₂-catalyzed reduction.³⁷¹

5. Rearrangement

Although traditional Claisen rearrangement³⁷² was accomplished under thermal control, significant rate acceleration was observed by introducing cationic³⁷³ or anionic³⁷⁴ charge to the molecules before the rearrangement. Despite the synthetic utility of the reaction,³⁷⁵ catalytic Claisen variants have not been the topic of intense studies.³⁷⁶ It was shown that in situ generated ketene from the corresponding acid chloride and diisopropylethylamine reacted with allylic amine in the presence of a proper Lewis acid to afford Claisen adduct in high yields and with an excellent level of stereocontrol (*syn/anti.* >99/1).³⁷⁷ In the absence of the Lewis acid, only ketene dimer was

Table 173. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Acyl–Claisen Rearrangement

	LA, [/] Pr ₂ NEt CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 23 °C	
LA (mol %)	yield/%	syn/antiª
none	b	
AlCl ₃ (10)	90	>99/1
$Ti(O'Pr)_2Cl_2$ (10)	76	>99/1
TiCl ₄ ·2THF (5)	92	>99/1
Yb(OTf) ₃ (10)	80	>99/1
^a Determined by GC. ^b C) nly ketene dir	ner was obtained.

Table 174. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed TandemAcyl-Claisen Rearrangement



NR_{2}^{1}	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbb{R}^3	yield/%	syn-anti/anti-anti
morpholine	Me	Me	97	98:2
pyrrolidine	Me	Me	90	95:5
piperidine	Me	Me	99	96:4
morpholine	Cl	Me	98	99:1
morpholine	OBz	Me	86	91:9
morpholine	CN	Me	78	97:3
morpholine	SPh	Me	70	93:7
morpholine	Me	Me	97	98:2
morpholine	Me	Bn	99	92:8
morpholine	Me	NPhth	98	95:5
morpholine	Me	OPiv	97	97:3
morpholine	OBz	OPiv	71	92:8
morpholine	Cl	OPiv	84	95:5

Table 175. Claisen Rearrangement of Allyl ArylEthers

P R	10 mol% Yb(OTf) ₃ CH ₃ CN reflux R	+ + R +	OH R
	A	Б	с
		yield/%	
R	Α	В	С
4-MeO	70	_	4
4- ^t Bu	44	—	27
4-F	11	-	6
$2,5-Me_2$	25	30	32
2-MeO	45	37	0
2-Ac	20	20	21

formed. Both conventional Lewis acids and $Yb(OTf)_3$ gave excellent results (Table 173). Recently, tandem acyl-Claisen rearrangement under similar conditions has been developed (Table 174).³⁷⁸

Claisen rearrangement of allyl ethers was catalyzed by $Yb(OTf)_3$ (Table 175).³⁷⁹ The rearrangement of crotyl ethers also proceeded under the same reaction conditions. It was reported that $Sc(OTf)_3$ also catalyzed Claisen rearrangement of allyl ethers in ionic liquid.³⁸⁰

 Table 176. Claisen Rearrangement of Allyl Vinyl Ethers

5 or 7.5 mol% Yb(OTf) ₃ R^2 O					
R ¹	MS 34 CO ₂ /Pr 25 %	A, CH ₂ Cl ₂ C, 24 h	CO ₂ i-Pr R ¹		
\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	yield/%	syn/anti		
Bn	<i>(E)-ⁿ</i> Pr	99	34/66		
Bn	(Z)- ⁿ Pr	99	96/4		
'Pr	<i>(E)-n</i> P r	95	69/31		
<i>i</i> Pr	(Z)- <i>n</i> Pr	99	91/9		

Table 177. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Rearrangement/ Ring-Expansion Reactions

	Me OSO ₂ CH ₂ CI	LA dioxane-H ₂	<mark>─ (1/1) →</mark> ()H _OR
n	LA (equiv)	temp/°C	time/h	R	yield/%
1	Zn(OAc) ₂ (4.0)	50	6	Ac	97
1	$Sc(OTf)_3$ (2.0)	50	7	Н	90
2	Zn(OAc) ₂ (4.0)	80	4	Н	82
2	$Sc(OTf)_3$ (2.0)	80	6.5	Н	82

It was reported that $Yb(OTf)_3$ catalyzed the Claisen rearrangement of 2-alkoxycarbonyl-substituted allyl vinyl ethers (Table 176).³⁸¹ Cu(OTf)₂ was also effective in this reaction.

Efficient rearrangement-ring expansion reactions were reported for the synthesis of tetrahydropyrans and tetrahydrooxepanes.³⁸² Treatment of precursor compounds with either $Zn(OAc)_2$ or $Sc(OTf)_3$ in aqueous dioxane provided the corresponding ring-expanded compounds in excellent yields with complete stereoselectivity giving only the *trans*-isomer (Table 177).

It was found that a Lewis acid promoted rearrangement of glycan epoxides to pyranones, which were reduced to give α -L-iduronic acid derivatives.³⁸³ BF₃·OEt₂ gave the desired pyranones from benzylprotected epoxides in excellent yields. On the other hand, Sc(OTf)₃ provided the best yield and selectivity for epoxides with acid-labile groups (Table 178).

It has been reported that dienone-phenol rearrangement proceeded in the presence of a Brønsted acid or a Lewis acid.³⁸⁴ However, treatment of azaspirodienone with BF₃·OEt₂ gave a complex reaction mixture. Yb(OTf)₃ gave a mixture of quinoline and tetrahydroquinoline in low yields, while excess TfOH in the presence of an oxidizing agent, chloranil, provided the desired quinoline as the sole product in good yield (Table 179).³⁸⁵

Acid-catalyzed rearrangement of phenolic esters to phenolic ketones is known as Fries rearrangement, which requires a stoichiometric amount of a conventional Lewis acid such as $AlCl_3$.³⁸⁶ Recently, a catalytic Fries rearrangement has been developed (Table 180).³⁸⁷ The effect of Lewis acids on the Fries rearrangement of 1-naphthyl acetate was studied. Among the Lewis acids tested, $Sc(OTf)_3$ and group IV metal triflates [Zr(OTf)₄ and Hf(OTf)₄] were found to be very efficient to catalyze the Fries rearrangement. It was found later that a catalytic amount of

Table 178. Lewis-Acid-Promoted Rearrangement ofGlycan Epoxides



^{*a*} A complex mixture of products.

Table 179. Acid-catalyzed Dienone-PhenolRearrangement



^a A complex mixture was obtained.

Table 180. Catalytic Fries Rearrangement



Sc(OTf)₃ allowed acylation of 1-naphthols, followed by Fries rearrangement, to give 2-acyl-1-naphthols in excellent yields (90–98%). In other cases, a mech-

Table 181. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Semi-Pinacol Rearrangement

HO, R ² Ph	20 mol% Yb(OTf) ₃ CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt	$R^2 \xrightarrow{Ph} R^1$
R ¹	\mathbb{R}^2	yield/%
Me	Me	99
OBn	Me	82
Ph	Me	100
Me	Ph	97

Scheme 82. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Transannular Cyclization of Lathyrane Diterpenes



Table 182. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Ferrier Rearrangement with Alcohols

^

040

CO + BOH cat. S	Sc(OTf)3	- 50	
AcO CH	₂ Cl ₂ , rt	Aco L	OB
ROH	time/h	yield/%	α/β
EtOH	2.5	88	9/1
ⁿ Pent	2.0	86	9/1
Ph(CH ₂) ₂ OH	3.5	80	5/1
BnOH	3.5	85	5/1
$c-C_6H_{11}OH$	3.0	83	7/1
$CH_2 = CHCH_2OH$	1.5	91	7/1
(E)-MeCH=CHCH ₂ OH	2.0	87	6/1
Me ₂ C=CHCH ₂ OH	2.0	90	7/1
(E)-PhCH=CHCH ₂ OH	2.5	92	9/1
(Z)-BnOCH ₂ CH=CHCH ₂ OH	2.0	90	6/1
HC/CCH ₂ OH	1.5	93	10/1
<i>p</i> -MeOC ₆ H ₄ OH	0.5	95	15/1
p-ClC ₆ H ₄ OH	1.0	90	12/1
p-NO ₂ C ₆ H ₄ OH	2.0	85	10/1
p-FC ₆ H ₄ OH	1.0	92	12/1

anism of direct 2-acylation was indicated under similar reaction conditions.

In the presence of a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃, β , γ -epoxyalcohols were reported to undergo semipinacol rearrangement smoothly to afford β -hydroxyketones in high yields (Table 181).³⁸⁸

It was shown that $Yb(OTf)_3$ triggered transannular cyclization of a macrocyclic diterpenoid to afford a mixture of three abeomyrsinanes (Scheme 82).³⁸⁹

The acid-catalyzed allylic rearrangement of glycals, known as Ferrier rearrangement,³⁹⁰ is widely used to obtain 2,3-unsaturated glycosides. A variety of reagents are employed in this transformation. Despite potential utility, however, some of these methods suffer from disadvantages such as strong oxidizing conditions, high acidity, unsatisfactory yields,

Table 183. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Ferrier Rearrangement with Azidotrimethylsilane



and low selectivity. It was reported that mild and highly efficient Ferrier rearrangement proceeded in the presence of a catalytic amount of $Sc(OTf)_3$ to give the corresponding 2,3-unsaturated glycosides in excellent yields with high stereoselectivity (Table 182).³⁹¹

Similarly, Ferrier rearrangement of D-glycals with azidotrimethylsilane is effectively catalyzed by $Yb(OTf)_3$ to give a mixture of rearranged products (Table 183¹⁹⁰).³⁹²

Meanwhile, *C*-glycosylation of glycals via Ferrier rearrangement with silicon-based nucleophiles proceeded in the presence of a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃ (Table 184).³⁹³ The reactions showed high regio- and stereoselectivities.

It was reported that $Sc(OTf)_3$ was also an efficient catalyst for *C*- and *N*-glycosylation of various types of glycals with allyltrimethylsilane, trimethylsilyl cyanide, and trimethylsilyl azide (Table 185).³⁹⁴

6. Protection and Deprotection

6.1. Protection

Esterification of carboxylic acids or their derivatives with alcohols is one of the most fundamental transformations in organic synthesis.³⁹⁵ Bases such as 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine (DMAP) or 4-pyrrolidinopyridine (PPY) are generally used in stoichiometric amounts for couplings of alcohols with activated carboxylic acid derivatives such as acid chlorides and (mixed) acid anhydrides.^{395,396} On the other hand, direct acylation of alcohols with carboxylic acids is carried out in the presence of a catalytic amount of a mineral acid or a Lewis acid (with a dehydrating agent). However, a large excess amount of alcohol or azeotropic removal of water from the reaction mix-



Table 185. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed *C*-Glycosylation of Glycals

RO RO RO + F	3 m Sc(CH ₂	$\frac{OTf}{Cl_2, rt}$	RO	-O -O R'
R	R'	time/h	yield /%	dr
Ac	CH ₂ CH=CH ₂	3.5	93	9/1
	CN	4.0	90	6/4
	N ₃	4.5	88	7/3
Bz	CH ₂ CH=CH ₂	5.0	90	9/1
	CN	6.0	87	6/4
	N ₃	8.0	85	7/3
Piv	CH ₂ CH=CH ₂	4.0	95	9/1
	CN	4.5	84	6/4
	N ₃	5.5	86	7/3
Ph~~0~				
in to	CH ₂ CH=CH ₂	3.5	90	9/1
AcO	CN	4.0	87	6/4

ture is required to force such a reversible reaction to favor product formation. In addition, the Lewis-acid catalyst would be decomposed after the reaction.³⁹⁷ The first successful catalytic acylation of alcohols with acid anhydrides or mixed anhydrides using $Sc(OTf)_3$ was reported by Yamamoto and co-workers.^{398,399} With 0.1–5 mol % of the catalyst, acylation proceeded smoothly not only with primary alcohols, but also with sterically hindered secondary and

Table 186. Catalytic Acylation of Alcohols with Acid Anhydrides Using Sc(OTf)₃

R ¹ OH + (R ²	CO) ₂ O -0.1-2.5 CH	$_{3}^{\text{mol}\%}$ Sc(C	\rightarrow R ² CC	D_2R^1
R ¹ OH	(R ² CO) ₂ O (equiv.)	Sc(OTf) ₃ / mol%	conditions (°C, h)	yield /%
Ph(CH ₂) ₃ OH	Ac ₂ O (1.5)	0.1	rt, 1	>95
PhMeCHOH	Ac ₂ O (1.5)	0.1	rt, 1	>95
(-)-menthol	Ac ₂ O (1.5) (EtCO) ₂ O (1.5) (^t BuCO) ₂ O (1.5) (PhCO) ₂ O (3.0)	0.1 1.0 1.0 1.0	rt, 1 0, 1 rt, 1 rt, 20	>95 >95 >95 >95 >95
	Ac_2O (3.0) Ac_2O (5.0) Ac_2O (5.0) Ac_2O (5.0) Ac_2O (5.0) []	1.0 1.0 1.0 OMAP (1.0	rt, 1 0, 0.8 rt, 1	56 (39) ^a 85 (9) ^a 94 (1) ^a <1 (0) ^a
OH Ph	Ac ₂ O (solvent)	1.0	-40, 1.3	>95 (<1) ^a
ОН	Ac ₂ O (5.0)	1.0	-20, 5	91 (9) ^a
ОН	Ac ₂ O (3.0)	1.0	-20, 0.5	>95
OH	Ac ₂ O (solvent)	2.0	-20, 2.5	68 (8) ^b
	Ac ₂ O (1.5)	1.0	rt, 1	>95
OH R = 2,4,6 R = <i>o</i> -OH R = <i>m</i> -OH R = <i>p</i> -OH	-Me ₃ I (PhCO) ₂ O I (3.0) I	2.5	rt, 1.3 rt, 1.3 rt, 1 rt, 0.5	>95 95 >95 92

 $^a\ensuremath{\operatorname{Yields}}$ of elimination products. $^b\ensuremath{\operatorname{Yield}}$ of the primary acetate.

Table 187. Comparison between Sc(OTf)₃ and Other Base Catalysts in Acylation of (–)-Menthol in CH₃CN

(R ¹ CO) ₂ O (equiv)	catalyst (mol %)	°C	time	yield/ %
(MeCO) ₂ O (1.5)	Sc(OTf) ₃ (1)	0	15 min	>95
(MeCO) ₂ O (1.5)	DMAP (1)/ Et_3N (3 equiv)	0	55 min	75
(PhCO) ₂ O (3.0)	$Sc(OTf)_3(1)$	23	1 h	>95
(PhCO) ₂ O (3.0)	DMAP (1)/ Et_3N (3 equiv)	23	1 h	75 ^a
(PhCO) ₂ O (3.0)	DMAP (1)	23	1 h	23^a
(PhCO) ₂ O (3.0)	$^{n}\mathrm{Bu}_{3}\mathrm{P}$ (1)	23	1 h	88 ^a

tertiary alcohols (Table 186). Sc(OTf)₃-catalyzed acylation is superior to that catalyzed by bases such as DMAP, *n*Bu₃P, and a combination of DMAP and Et₃N for acetylation and benzoylation of (–)-menthol (Table 187). In addition, Sc(OTf)₃ catalyzed esterification of carboxylic acids with alcohols using in situ generated mixed anhydrides (Table 188). Recently, it has been shown that a combination of Sc(OTf)₃ and DMAP was superior to Sc(OTf)₃ itself for acylation of sterically hindered tertiary alcohols with carboxylic acid or amino acid derivatives.⁴⁰⁰

Direct acetylation of alcohols with acetic acid was performed without prior or in situ generation of mixed anhydrides (Table 189).⁴⁰¹ Sc(OTf)₃ and Ln(OTf)₃ were effective to catalyze the reaction, and

Table 188. Catalytic Acylation of Alcohols with Carboxylic Acids in the Presence of (p-NO₂PhCO)₂O Using Sc(OTf)₃

$R^1OH + R^2CO_2H$	1 mol% Sc(OTf) ₃ (<i>p</i> -NO ₂ PhCO) ₂ O (1.5 equiv.) CH ₃ NO ₂ , rt	R ₂ CO ₂	R ¹
R ¹ OH	R ² CO₂H	time/h	yield/%
Ph(CH ₂) ₃ OH	EtCO ₂ H [/] PrCO ₂ H	2 3	>95 >95
(-)-menthoi (<i>E</i>)-№	EtCO ₂ H [/] PrCO ₂ H /IeCH=CHMeCO ₂ H [/] BuCO ₂ H	2 2 2 3	>95 >95 >95 >95 >95
ОН	EtCO₂H	2	_a
ОН ОН 	EtCO ₂ H	12.5	86 ^b

^a Although the esterification proceeded, elimination of hte acyloxy group was accompanied. ^b p-NO₂PhCO₂Ar was also obtained (2%).

Table 189. Catalytic Direct Acetylation of Alcohols with Carboxylic Acids Using Sc(OTf)₃

AcO (solv	H + ROH — ent} ^a	5 mol% Sc(OTf) ₃ conditions	ROAc
	ROH	conditions/°C, h	yield/%
	Ph(CH ₂) ₂ OH	rt, 24 reflux, 0.5	99 98
	Отон	rt, 24	96
	ОН	rt, 1	97
	PhCHMeOH	65, 2	98
	(-)-menthol	65, 24	95
	Дон	reflux, 18	81 ^{<i>b</i>}

^a AcOH (2 mL)/ROH (1mmol). ^b AcOH (25 mL)/ROH (1 mmol).

Table 190. Effect of Lanthanide Triflates (10 mol %) for Direct Acetylation of 2-Phenethyl Alcohol with Acetic Acid

Ln(OTf) ₃	Sc	La	Pr	Eu	Yb
conversion (%)	79 ^a (100) ^b	22 (63)	28 (77)	23 (70)	41 (92)
^a After 3 h. ^b	After 21 h.				

the catalysts were easily recovered and reused. The effect of various lanthanide triflates for acetylation of phenethyl alcohol was examined (Table 190). The results for catalytic efficiency were closely parallel to those obtained in other reactions.

Selective acylation of a polyhydroxylated compound is a difficult task in organic synthesis.⁴⁰² Ln(OTf)₃ was successfully used to achieve selective acetylation

Table 191. Effect of Lewis Acids and Solvents on **Selective Acetylation**



Scheme 83. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Mono-benzoylation of Diols via a Cyclic Ortho ester

Scheme 84. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Acetonide **Protection of Triols**

of 10-deacetylbaccatin III, which was an important intermediate for the synthesis of anti-cancer taxol derivatives (Table 191).⁴⁰³ Interestingly, the catalytic activity of Yb(OTf)₃ was solvent-dependent, and the highest activity was obtained in THF. Other metal chlorides required a large excess of acetic anhydride to obtain comparable yields.

It was reported that Sc(OTf)₃ was effective for the formation of a cyclic ortho ester intermediate, followed by treatment with aqueous acid to give the acylated compound (Schemes 83).404 Sc(OTf)3-catalyzed acetonide protection of a sugar-derived triol was also reported (Scheme 84).

Acetals are used as efficient protecting groups for carbonyl compounds, and their preparations are usually performed in the presence of a Brønsted acid or a Lewis acid.⁴⁰² It was reported that Sc(OTf)₃ was an efficient catalyst for synthesis of chiral acetals from carbonyl compounds and chiral diols (Table 192).⁴⁰⁵ Meanwhile, a similar study revealed that Sc(OTf)₃ promoted acetalizations of vinyl ethers with alcohols and of aldehydes or ketones with trialkyl orthoformates or with diols in the presence of trimethyl orthoformate.⁴⁰⁶ Similarly, Yb(OTf)₃ promoted formation of dimethyl acetals from aldehydes and trimethyl orthoformate in MeOH.407

Sc(OTf)₃ catalyzed highly diastereoselective preparation of 1,3-dioxolanones and 1,3-dioxanones with chiral hydroxy acids (Table 193).⁴⁰⁶ Better yields were

Table 192. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Acetalization

Table 193. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Diastereoselective Preparations of 1,3-Dioxolanones and 1,3-Dioxanones

-3

O _R³ 、	<1)=0	0.1or1 m	ol% Sc(0	OTf)3	
$R^{1} R^{2}$	он он	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , a:	zeotropic	reflux	$R^1 R^2$
produc	ots	Sc(OTf) ₃ /mol%	time/h	yield/%	cis/trans
Ph(CH₂)₂──		0.1	2	76	92/8
Ph(CH₂)₂──		1	2	96	90/10
C ₉ H ₁₉ —√	J.	0.1	2	76	87/13
<i>c</i> -Hex→		0.1	2	59	97/3
t-Bu≺		1	3	88	89/11
\bigcirc	O O O O	1	1.5	98	

obtained by azeotropic removal of water produced from the condensation reactions.

Formation of acylals from aromatic or aliphatic aldehydes and acetic anhydride was mediated by $Sc(OTf)_3$, which also catalyzed the reverse process causing hydrolysis of acylals (Table 194).⁴⁰⁸ Chemoselective protection of benzaldehyde in the presence of acetophenone has been achieved using $Sc(OTf)_3$ as a catalyst (Scheme 85).

It was reported that reactions of alcohols with methallylsilanes in the presence of Sc(OTf)₃ provided

Table 194. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Formation and Deprotection of *gem*-Diacetates (Acylals)

0	2 mol% Sc(OTf) ₃	QAc
R H AC ₂ O	CH ₃ NO ₂	ROAc
RCHO	time/mins	yield/%
p-NO ₂ C ₆ H ₄ CHO	10	99
p-ClC ₆ H ₄ CHO	10	95
PhCHO	10	99
<i>p</i> -MeOC ₆ H ₄ CHO	10	95
<i>p</i> -MeOC ₆ H ₄ CHO	20	45
cinnamaldehyde	120	76
<i>c</i> -HexCHO	20	94

Scheme 85. Chemoselective Formation of Acylals

O II	ů –	2 mol% Sc(OTf)3	QAc	. O
Ph H	Ph Me	Ac ₂ O (3 equiv.)		Ph Me
(1 equiv.)	(1 equiv.)	CH_3NO_2 , 20 min	98%	98%

Table 195. Silylation of Alcohols Using Methallylsilane

the corresponding alkyl silyl ethers in high yields. Microencapsulated Sc(OTf)₃ [MC Sc(OTf)₃] was also effective in this reaction (Table 195).⁴⁰⁹

Facile conversion of alcohols to diphenylmethyl (DPM) ethers was successfully performed. The reaction proceeded in the presence of $Yb(OTf)_3$ to give the corresponding DPM ethers in good yields (Table 196).⁴¹⁰

N-Carbamoylation of 5-methylene-2-oxazolidione and 5-methylene-1,3-thiazoidine-2-thione with various isocyanates (formation of urethanes) was shown to be efficiently catalyzed by rare-earth metal perfluoralkanesulfonates.⁴¹¹

6.2. Deprotection

During the course of total synthesis of complex molecules, selective deprotection of similar and/or different functional groups is necessary and not trivial. Esters are stable functional groups which are difficult to remove in the substrates containing acidand/or base-sensitive groups, and therefore, they are always used as protective groups in the early stage of a synthesis and are cleaved at the end.⁴⁰² It has been reported that selective deprotection of the methoxyacetyl group in the presence of other ester

Table 196. Conversion of Alcohols to DPM Ethers

Table 197. Selective Deprotection of Methoxyacetate Using Yb(OTf)₃

RO-(CH ₂) ₁₂ −O	O OMe	nol% Yb(OTf) ₃ 	MeO + RO-(CH ₂) ₁₂ -OH
R	temp/°C	time/h	yield/% ^a
Ac	0	2	93 (7)
Ac	25	13	98 (2)
Bz	0	3	95 (1)
THP	0	2	92 (3)
TBDMS	0	1.5	94 (3)
TBDPS	0	2	99 (0)
MEM	25	0.5	99 (0)
^a Yields of 1,	12-dodecanedic	ol are given ir	n parentheses.

groups, such as acetyl and benzoyl groups, or acidlabile ethereal groups, such as tetrahydropyranyl (THP), *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl ('BuMe₂Si), *tert*-butyldiphenylsilyl (TBDPS), and 2-methoxyethoxymethyl (MEM) groups, was achieved by transesterification in MeOH using Yb(OTf)₃ as a catalyst (Table 197).⁴¹² The chemoselectivity resulted from the preferential activation of the methoxyacetyl group through strong interaction with trivalent ytterbium.

This type of functional-group-assisted catalysis was proven to be essential for rapid hydrolysis of functionalized acetates as exemplified by recent reports that $Sc(OTf)_3$ -catalyzed hydrolysis of 2-acetoxyindane was much less efficient than those of 2-acetoxy-1-indanone, 2-acetoxy-1-amidoindane, and 2-acetoxy-1,1-difluoroindane (Table 198).⁴¹³ It was of particular note that 2-acetoxy-1-indanone (99% ee) was hydrolyzed to give 2-hydroxy-1-indanone (98% ee) without racemization.

On the other hand, hydrolysis of simple acetates was achieved in refluxing 2-propanol in the presence of Yb(OTf)₃ (Table 199).⁴¹⁴

Table 198. Functional-Group-Assisted Deprotection of Acetates Using Sc(OTf)₃

^{*a*} Yield and ee in parentheses are those of the hydrolysis with LiOH (1.5 equiv).

Table 199. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Deprotection of Acetates

The *tert*-butoxycarbonyl (Boc) group has been widely used as a nitrogen protecting group.⁴⁰² Deprotection of Boc-protected carboxamide is usually achieved

Scheme 86. Deprotection of Boc-Protected Amide Using Yb(OTf)₃/SiO₂

Table 200. Amide Hydrolysis Using Lewis Acids^a

$\begin{array}{c} Me & O \\ Ph & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & &$	LA (5 equiv.)	O ↓ B1
OH Me R ²	1,4-dioxane/H ₂ O (4/1) reflux, 48 h	HO ² R ²

LA	\mathbb{R}^1 , \mathbb{R}^2	yield/%	ee/% ^b
FeCl ₃	Me, ⁿ Bu	85	98
ZrOCl ₂	Me, ⁿ Bu	92	99
Yb(OTf) ₃	Me, ⁿ Bu	73	98
FeCl ₃	Me, Bn	94	98
ZrOCl ₂	Me, Bn	92	97
Yb(OTf) ₃	Me, Bn	91	95
FeCl ₃	Ph, Et	91	92
$ZrOCl_2$	Ph, Et	90	93
Yb(OTf) ₃	Ph, Et	69	82

^{*a*} The starting materials were \geq 99% de. ^{*b*} Enantiomeric excesses were determined by chiral capillary GC analysis of the corresponding (*R*)- α -methylbenzylamides.

using strong acids such as HCl and CF_3CO_2H .⁴⁰² Chemoselective deprotection of *N*-Boc carboxamides was achieved using Yb(OTf)₃ supported on silica gel under neat conditions (Scheme 86).⁴¹⁵ Other functional groups including *N*-Cbz amide, *N*-Boc amine, and pyrazole and acid-sensitive acetonide survived under the conditions.

It has been demonstrated that chiral amides of pseudoephedrine underwent highly diastereoselective alkylations and that the chiral auxiliary was easily removed by hydrolysis in the presence of excess Lewis acids (Table 200).⁴¹⁶ Among the Lewis acids tested, FeCl₃, ZrOCl₂, and Yb(OTf)₃ promoted hydrolysis efficiently with minimal racemization.

Base-promoted removal of substituted allylic groups suffers from isomerization of double bonds⁴¹⁷ and lack of selectivity between different allylic groups.⁴¹⁸ It was shown that Yb(OTf)₃ efficiently catalyzed deprotection of prenyl ethers (Table 201), while allyl and crotyl ethers were unaffected using this protocol.⁴¹⁹

Selective deprotection of silyl ethers was achieved by using $Sc(OTf)_3$.⁴²⁰ Silyl alkyl ethers were removed in the presence of silyl aryl ethers, while TBS ethers were cleaved without affecting TBDPS ether groups (Schemes 87 and 88).

Yb(OTf)₃ catalyzed the deprotection of tritylamines and trityl ethers to the corresponding amines and alcohols under mild conditions in high yields (Table 202).⁴²¹ Under these reaction conditions, *N*-Boc protection was unaffected.

One-pot deprotection—protection was achieved by using $Sc(OTf)_3$ as a catalyst (Scheme 89).⁴²² Polymersupported ether-linked disaccharides were selectively cleaved to release the benzylic alcohol, which was converted to the acetate. The procedure facilitated easy recovery of the product in the solid-phase synthesis.

Table 201. Deprotection of Prenyl Ethers Using Yb(OTf)₃

Scheme 87. Chemoselective Deprotection of Silyl Ethers (1)

A facile chemoselective hydrolysis of terminal isopropylidene acetals has been achieved using a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃·H₂O in acetonitrile at ambient temperature (Table 203).⁴²³

 Table 202. Deprotection of Tritylamines and Trityl

 Ethers

Scheme 89. $Sc(OTf)_3$ -Catalyzed Deprotection and in Situ Protection

THP and MOM ethers are easily deprotected in the presence of a catalytic amount of $Sc(OTf)_3$ with methanol and 1,3-propanediol, respectively (Tables 204 and 205).⁴²⁴

N-Acyl oxazolidinones are smoothly converted to the corresponding methyl esters by Lewis-acidcatalyzed transesterification (Table 206).⁴²⁵ Mild reaction conditions suppress epimerization or racemization of chiral substrates and allow acid-sensitive groups to survive.

7. Polymerization

Catalytic amounts of $Sc(OTf)_3$ or $Yb(OTf)_3$ catalyzed aldol polymerization to give polymers with high molecular weights (Table 207).⁴²⁶

Rare-earth metal triflates were found to be effective for stereocontrol of the free-radical polymerization of acrylic acid derivatives (Tables 208 and 209).⁴²⁷ The stereochemistry of the polymerization was significantly affected by the coordination of the Lewis acids.

Recently, $Sc(OTf)_3$ was reported to be one of the effective catalysts for the ring-opening polymeri-

Table 204. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Deprotection of THP Ethers

DOTUD	5 mol%	₀ Sc(OTf)₃	<u></u>
ROTHP	CH ₃ C	₩ N-MeOH t, 1 h	JH
R	yield/%	R	yield/%
Bn	84	2-Naphthyl	93
Ph(CH ₂) ₃	98		
PhCHMe	84	Ph=< >···	95
Ph(CH ₂) ₂ CHMe	99	\Box	
Ph(CH ₂) ₂ CMe ₂	90 ^a		
o-MeC ₆ H₄	90	BnO(CH ₂) ₄	95
m-MeC ₆ H ₄	99	BzO(CH ₂) ₄	97
p-MeC ₆ H ₄	96	^t BuPh ₂ SiO(C	CH ₂)₄ 74
p-BrC ₆ H ₄	98	MOMO(CH2) ₆ 90
^a For 2 h.			

Table 205. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Deprotection of MOM Ethers

DOMON . H		5 mol% Sc(OTf)3	BOH
		CH ₃ CN, rt, 1-4 h	non
R	yield/%	R	yield/%
Bn	85	o-MeC ₆ H₄	95
Ph(CH ₂) ₃	97	m-MeC ₆ H ₄	92
PhCH ₂ CHMe	90	p-MePC ₆ H ₄	90
Ph(CH ₂) ₂ CHMe	94	p-BrC ₆ H₄	99
Ph=	97	2-Naphthyl	79

zation of L-lactide with ethanol as an initiator in pyridine. $^{428} \,$

8. Miscellaneous Reactions

During the course of a synthesis of (–)-tetrodotoxin, a mild method for the conversion of carbodiimide into

 Table 206. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Transesterification

 N-Acyl Oxazolidinones

R N	O <u>10 mol% Lewis</u> MeOH	acid R	OMe	
R	Lewis acid	temp./°C	time/h	yield/%
PhCH=CH	[^f Bu ₂ SnCl(OH)] ₂	85	24	99
	MgBr ₂	85	8	97
	Sc(OTf) ₃	85	8	94
PhCHMeCH ₂	[^t Bu ₂ SnCl(OH)] ₂	50	23	93
	MgBr ₂	30	2	97
	Sc(OTf) ₃	30	1	93
PhCHEt	[^t Bu ₂ SnCl(OH)] ₂	85	3	94
	MgBr ₂	85	3	92
	Sc(OTf) ₃	85	24	70
PhCH ₂ CHMe	[^f Bu ₂ SnCl(OH)] ₂	40	4.5	99
	MgBr ₂	30	24	85
	Sc(OTf) ₃	85	24	90
<i>p</i> -NO₂Ph	[[/] Bu ₂ SnCl(OH)] ₂	85	3	92
	MgBr ₂	85	14	92
	Sc(OTf) ₃	85	24	82
Ph	[^t Bu ₂ SnCl(OH)] ₂	85	14	91
	MgBr ₂	30	24	86
	Sc(OTf) ₃	85	14	92
MeO ₂ C	[^t Bu ₂ SnCl(OH)] ₂	85	24	79
	MgBr ₂	85	3	91
	Sc(OTf) ₃	85	14	92
PhO	[^t Bu ₂ SnCl(OH)] ₂	85	3	92
	MgBr ₂	30	3	92
	Sc(OTf) ₃	30	1	94

Table 207. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Aldol Polymerization

guanidine was developed (Table 210).⁴²⁹ Addition of a conventional Lewis acid or a Brønsted acid did not promote the reaction, presumably due to coordination of the acids to benzylamine. A 3 M ethereal solution of LiClO₄ gave a moderate yield. Remarkably, Sc(OTf)₃ and Yb(OTf)₃ catalyzed the conversion in high yields.

Ln(OTf)₃ efficiently catalyzed the decarbonylation of 2,4,6-trimethoxybenzaldehyde (Table 211).⁴³⁰ Less electron-rich aromatic aldehydes reacted slowly. For instance, treatment of 2,4- and 2,6-dimethoxy-

Table 208. Polymerization of an Acrylic Amide in the Presence of $RE(OTf)_3$

	NH ⁱ Pr	initiator Lewis acio	3		A.N.4)	
	Ö	solvent	p	JIY(INIE	HIV()	
	NIPAM					
			temp/	time/	yield/	tacticity
initiator	Lewis acid	solvent	°C	h	%	m/r
AlBN	-	CHCl ₃	60	3	65	45/55
AlBN	Yb(OTf) ₃ (0.2 M)	CHCl ₃	60	3	39	58/42
AlBN	Y(OTf) ₃ (0.2 M)	CH ₃ OH	60	3	94	80/20
Na_2SO_3	Y(OTf) ₃ (0.2 M)	H2O	60	3	94	57/43
$+ K_2S_2O_8$						
AlBN	Y(OTf) ₃ (0.2 M)	DMSO	60	3	96	47/53
AlBN, UV	_	CH ₃ OH	-20	24	61	44/56
AlBN, UV	Y(OTf)3 (0.2 M)	CH ₃ OH	-20	24	85	90/10
AlBN, UV	Y(OTf) ₃ (0.5 M)	CH ₃ OH	-20	24	72	92/8
AlBN, UV	Lu(OTf) ₃ (0.5 M)	CH ₃ OH	-20	24	62	92/8
BBu ₃ , air	Y(OTf) ₃ (0.2 M)	CH ₃ OH	-40	24	85	89/11
BBu ₃ , air	Y(OTf) ₃ (0.2 M)	CH ₃ OH	-78	24	98	80/20

Table 209. Polymerization of an Methacrylate in the Presence of $RE(OTf)_3$

\downarrow	OMe	AIBN Lewis acid		(MMA)	
U O MMA		solvent	- poly	(
Lewis acid	solvent	yield/ %	$\begin{array}{c} M_n \\ \times \ 10^{-4} \end{array}$	M _w / M _n	tacticity mm/mr/rr
none Sc $(OTf)_3$ (0.2 M) Y $(OTf)_3$ (0.2 M) La $(OTf)_3$ (0.2 M) Sm $(OTf)_3$ (0.2 M) Er $(OTf)_3$ (0.2 M) Er $(OTf)_3$ (0.21 M)	toluene toluene toluene toluene CHCl ₃	79 >99 >99 95 92 92	3.46 5.23 4.22 2.66 2.68 4.66	1.61 2.23 5.38 2.6 3.42 4.37	3/33/64 14/46/40 3/34/63 3/34/63 3/34/63 5/34/61 10/26/54

Table 210. Conversion of Carbodiimide intoGuanidine

benzaldehyde and $Sc(OTf)_3$ (16 mol %) in MeOH for 1 h afforded the decarbonylated product in ca. 10% yield, while 4-methoxybenzaldehyde failed to give any products.

Table 211. Ln(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Decarbonylation of 2,4,6-Trimethoxybenzaldehyde

^a Time for complete decarbonylation.

Table 212. Diastereoselective Coupling of Aldimines to Diamines

R, Ar	equiv	eq.	°C	(syn/anti)
H, Ph	2	0	65	53 (57/43)
H, Ph	2	1	20	81 (>98/2)
Me, Ph	2	1	20	86 (62 ^a /38)
Me, 1-naphthyl	2	1	20	23 (65 ^b /35)
^a Diatereomeric	ratio (dr) of <i>syn</i> prod	uct (75/2	5). ^b dr of syn

The metal-promoted reductive coupling of aldimines provide symmetrical 1,2-diamines.⁴³¹ SmI₂ has been shown to be an efficient promoter for the reaction with activated aldimine in the presence of a large excess of reagents or at higher reaction temperature.⁴³² Yb(OTf)₃ accelerated the SmI₂-promoted aldimine coupling and improved the yield and diastereoselectivity (Table 212).⁴³³

Nitriles were obtained by dehydration of aldoximes with 2-methylene-1,3-dioxepane (MDO) in the presence of a Lewis acid (Table 213).⁴³⁴ Sc(OTf)₃ was particularly effective, whereas other Ln(OTf)₃ mediated the reaction to different extents. Among the conventional Lewis acids tried, AlCl₃ gave the best result. Interestingly, the in situ generated ortho ester was susceptible to rapid hydrolysis when Nd(OTf)₃, BF₃·OEt₂, Ti(O'Pr)₄, and ZnCl₂ were employed.

High *syn*-selectivity in BF₃-promoted addition of (E)- γ -OTBS methallyl stannane to aldehydes was observed.⁴³⁵ This result prompted the search for a preparation of enantioenriched (*E*)-stannanes. It was reported that (*Z*)- γ -OTBS methallyl stannane was readily obtained by a stereospecific *anti* 1,3-isomerization of the enantioenriched α -OTBS crotyl stannane in the presence of BF₃·OEt₂ (Table 214). However, isomerization of (*Z*)-stannane to (*E*)-stannane was not achieved due to decomposition of the compound in the presence of BF₃·OEt₂. After several attempts using other Lewis acids, it was found that Yb(OTf)₃ promoted a thermodynamic equilibrium

Table 213. Transformation of Aldoximes to Nitriles

Table 214. Lewis-Acid-Catalyzed Interconversion of Nonracemic α-OTBS Crotyl and γ-OTBS Methallyl Tri-*n*-butylstannanes

Bu ₃ Sn TBSO (S)-A	LA TBSO "Sn (S)-	LA Bu ₃ Sn Bu ₃ B (<i>R</i>)	OTBS
stannane	LA	(S)- A /(R)- C	yield/%
Α	BF ₃ •OEt ₂	100/1	80
В	$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$		а
Α	Yb(OTf) ₃	76/24	82
В	Yb(OTf) ₃	76/24	71
\mathbf{C}^{b}	Yb(OTf) ₃	77/23	56

 $^{a}\,\mathrm{The}$ substrate was decomposed. $^{b}\,\mathrm{Racemic}$ substrate was used.

 Table 215. Yb(OTf)₃-Catalyzed O- to C-Silyl Migration of Ketene Silyl Acetals

	R ¹ OSiMe ₃ OR ²		le ₃ <u>1 mol%</u> CH 5 mi	1 mol% Yb(OTf) ₃ CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt 5 min to 10 h		SiMe ₃ R ¹ O OR ²	
\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	time	yield/%	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	time	yield/%
H Me Me	Et Me Et	5 min 2 h 2 h	94 95 >99	Me Et Bn	[/] Pr Me Me	2 h 7 h 10 h	>99 >99 90

between (*E*)- and (*Z*)-stannanes, presumably through two consecutive *anti* 1,3-isomerizations, giving a 3/1 (*E*/*Z*) mixture. The rate of equilibration was surprisingly slow in the presence of other Ln(OTf)₃ such as Sc(OTf)₃ and La(OTf)₃.⁴³⁶

A facile isomerization of ketene silyl acetals to α -silyl esters was achieved by a catalytic amount of Yb(OTf)₃ (Table 215).⁴³⁷ Of other Lewis acids tested, Sm(OTf)₃ and La(OTf)₃ were less efficient, whereas BF₃·OEt₂ was totally ineffective. ZnI₂ showed similar activity to Yb(OTf)₃ in CH₂Cl₂, but no activity in coordinating solvent such as THF. Yb(OTf)₃ mediated the isomerization in CH₂Cl₂, (CH₂Cl)₂, THF, and CH₃CN.

 Table 216. Lewis-Acid-Mediated Cleavage of

 Spiro-1,3-dioxane

The first example of enantiotopic differentiation of two leaving groups on a sp³ center was reported using chiral Lewis acids.⁴³⁸ The 1,2-migration of (dichloro-methyl)borate gave synthetically useful (α -chlorobutyl)boronate. The best enantioselectivity (88% ee) was achieved by a combination of Yb(OTf)₃ and chiral bisoxazoline (Scheme 90). Combination of other Lewis acids, including Zn(OTf)₂, Cu(OTf)₂, and Lu(OTf)₃, with bisoxazoline provided inferior results (35–60% ee).

83

36/64

Et₃SiH

TiCl₄

The Lewis-acid-mediated cleavage of spiro-1,3dioxane has been investigated.⁴³⁹ High selectivity was obtained by using Sc(OTf)₃ or BCl₃ as a catalyst and Me₃SiH as a hydride source (Table 216).

Enamino ketones and esters are prepared by the condensation of 1,3-diketone or β -ketoester with primary amines;⁴⁴⁰ however, reactions with aromatic and hindered amines are more difficult and required the addition of an acid catalyst,⁴⁴¹ microwave irradiation,⁴⁴² or azeotropic removal of water formed.⁴⁴³ It was found that a combination of high pressure and Yb(OTf)₃ catalyst dramatically activated the condensation β -ketoesters with aromatic and hindered amines.⁴⁴⁴ The catalytic effect of Yb(OTf)₃ was minimal when 1,3-diketones were involved (Table 217).

Traditional procedures for preparation of imines from acetals and amines required high temperatures $(180-200 \ ^{\circ}C)$.⁴⁴⁵ It was found that the formation of imines was achieved at lower temperatures in the presence of a catalytic amount of Sc(OTf)₃ (Table 218).⁷⁵ Various amines reacted with aromatic dimethyl acetals to furnish imines. The yields were comparable to or better than those resulting from

Table 217. Pressure Effect and/or Catalytic Effect of Yb(OTf)₃ on Condensation of Bulky Amines with Ethyl Acetoacetate or 2,4-Pentanedione

Me	$ \overset{O}{\swarrow} + \overset{R^1}{\overset{N}{H}} + \overset{R^2}{\overset{H}{H}} - $	CHCl3	
R	R^{1} , R^{2}	yield/%ª, 0.1 MPa	yield/%ª, 300 MPa
OEt	ⁿ Pr. H	100	
OEt	Ph, H	4 (64)	23 (92)
OEt	Pr, Me	1 (63)	62 (81)
OEt	Bn, Bn	6 (61)	(64)
OEt	-(CH ₂) ₅ -	8 (36)	67 (82)
Me	ⁿ Pr, H	100	-
Me	Ph, H	9 (100)	85
Me	Pr, Me	0	12 (3) ^c
Me	-(CH ₂) ₅ -	6	63

^{*a*} The yields in parentheses were obtained in the presence of Yb(OTf)₃. ^{*b*} The reactions were performed at 20 °C. ^{*c*} Other products were isolated.

Table 218. Sc(OTf)₃-Catalyzed Condensation Reactions of Acetals and Amines

	MeO_OMe R ¹ + R ² NH ₂	5 mol% Sc(O MS 4A, reflux, toluene or xyle	Tf) ₃ 16 h ene	N ^{-R²}
\mathbb{R}^1	R^2NH_2	solvent	time/h	yield/%
Н	PhNH ₂	toluene	16	92
Me	[/] PrNH ₂	toluene	16	41
Me	$PhNH_2$	toluene	16	89
Ph	[/] PrNH ₂	toluene	16	96
Ph	BnNH ₂	toluene	16	88
Ph	(R)-PhCHMeNH ₂	toluene	16	10
Ph	(R)-PhCHMeNH ₂	xylene	16	90
Ph	4-aminopyridine	xylene	16	55
Ph	4-aminopyridine	xylene	96	76

using stoichiometric amounts of Lewis acids such as $TiCl_4$ and $ZnCl_2$.

It was reported that oxymercuration of homoallylic alcohols proceeded in the presence of Yb(OTf) $_3$ (Table 219).⁴⁴⁶

Yb(OTf)₃ was utilized for the formation of a diaziridine from a tosyloxime (Scheme 91).⁴⁴⁷

It was reported that multiple reactions in one-pot (Diels–Alder reaction, allylation of aldehyde, and acetylation of alcohol) proceeded smoothly in the presence of 40 mol % of Sc(OTf)₃ (Scheme 92).⁴⁴⁸ Both yield and chemoselectivity were greatly improved when all reagents were charged in one shot.

Recently, the enantioselective oxidative homocoupling reaction of a ytterbium enolate prepared from 3-phenylacetyl-2-oxazolidinone, Yb(OTf)₃, Et₃N, and a chiral TADDOL with a ferrocenium cation as an oxidant was shown to proceed in moderate selectivity (53% yield, dl/meso = 54/46, 34% ee).⁴⁴⁹

In the presence of scandium triflate, an efficient photoinduced electron transfer from the triplet excited C_{60} to *p*-chloranil occurs to produce C_{60} radical cation, which has a diagnostic NIR (near-infrared) absorption band at 980 nm, whereas no efficient photoinduced electron transfer occurs in the absence of the triflate.⁴⁵⁰

^{*a*} 11:1 diasteroselectivity; 3 h at room temperature. ^{*b*} At -78 °C to room temperature. ^{*c*} At 0 °C. ^{*d*} With 10 mol % Yb(OTf)₃.

Scheme 91. Formation of Diaziridine from a Tosyloxime

Scheme 92. Four-Component Reaction

In a synthetic study of diphenylmethane from formalin and benzene, it was reported that $Sc(OTf)_3$ catalyzed dimerization of HCHO to HCOOMe but was inactive for the formation of diphenylmethane.⁴⁵¹

9. Lanthanide(II) Triflates in Organic Synthesis

Sm(II) and Yb(II) triflates were prepared in situ by reduction of the corresponding tripositive ions with a Grignard reagent (Scheme 90). They were used for Barbier-type reactions of alkyl halides with ketones and the Reformatsky-type reactions of haloesters with ketones.⁴⁵² Salt-free Sm(OTf)₂ was prepared by reduction of Sm(OTf)₃ with Sm metal in DME (Scheme 93).⁴⁵³ The DME-solvated complex was isolated, freely soluble in CH₂Cl₂, THF, and CH₃CN,

Scheme 93. Preparation of Ln(OTf)×e2Q

and highly air- and water-sensitive. It acted as a stoichiometric reagent to promote pinacol coupling of acetophenone, dimerization of imines, Barbier-type reactions of alkyl halides with ketones, and the coupling reaction of cyclohexanone with methyl meth-acrylate to afford the corresponding lactone. More-over, aldol reaction, Michael reaction, and Mannich-type reactions with ketene silyl acetals as well as Diels–Alder reaction of cyclopentadiene with *N*-crotonoyl oxazolidinone were also catalyzed by Sm(OTf)₂(DME)₂. It should be noted that facile enolization of carbonyl compounds with Sm(II) halides was suppressed by using Sm(OTf)₂(DME)₂.

Recently, it was revealed that the electrochemical reduction of ytterbium and samarium triflate salts provides a simple and convenient route to solutions of divalent lanthanides.⁴⁵⁴

10. Conclusion

Rare-earth metal triflate(s) is a new type of Lewis acid that is different from conventional Lewis acids such as AlCl₃, BF₃, SnCl₄, etc. While most of the Lewis acids are decomposed or deactivated in the presence of water, rare-earth triflates are stable and work as Lewis acids in aqueous solutions as well as organic solvents. Catalytic use has been attained, and many nitrogen-containing compounds including imines and hydrazones are successfully activated with rare-earth metal triflates.

Several useful organic transformations using conventional Lewis acids have been repeated with rareearth metal triflates, and in many cases, they show comparable and superior performance. In particular, catalytic amounts of rare-earth metal triflates have been successfully used, while stoichiometric amounts of conventional Lewis acids have been employed in many cases. It becomes a common practice to test rare-earth metal triflates in both the known and some new reactions. In addition, they can be recovered and reused without loss of activity. These properties will lead to really environmentally friendly chemical processes using rare-earth metal triflates as catalysts.

11. Acknowledgment

The authors' work shown in this review was partially support by CREST, Japan Science and Technology Corporation (JST), and a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Japan. One of the authors (W.W.L.L.) thanks the Japan Society for Promotion of Science (JSPS) for a postdoctoral research fellowship.

12. References

- (a) Schinzer, D. In Selectivities in Lewis Acid Promoted Reactions, Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht, 1989. (b) Lewis Acids in Organic Synthesis, Yamamoto, H., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2000.
- (2) Some metal triflates have been used as Lewis acids. Review: (a) Howells, R. D.; McCown, J. C. *Chem. Rev.* **1977**, *77*, 69. (b) Emde, H.; Domsch, D.; Feger, H.; Frick, U.; Goyz, A.; Hergott, H. H.; Hofmann, K.; Kober, W.; Krageloh, K.; Oesterle, T.; Steppan, W.; West, W.; Simchen, G. *Synthesis* **1982**, 1. (c) Stang,

P. J.; Hanack, M.; Subramanian, L. R. Synthesis 1982, 85. (d) P. J.; Hanack, M.; Subramanian, L. R. Synthesis 1982, 85. (d)
Stang, P. J.; White, M. R. Aldrichim. Acta 1983, 15. See also,
R₂BOTf: (e) Inoue, T.; Mukaiyama, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.
1980, 53, 174. R₃SiOTf: (f) Murata, S.; Suzuki, M.; Noyori, R.
J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 3248. Sn(OTf)₂: (g) Mukaiyama,
T.; Iwasawa, N.; Stevens, R. W.; Haga, T. Tetrahedron 1984, 40, 1381. R₂Sn(OTf)₂: (h) Sato, T.; Otera, J.; Nozaki, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 901. Al(OTf)₃: (i) Minowa, N.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1987, 1719. (j) Olah, G. A.; Farooq, O.; Morteza, S.; Farnia, F.; Olah, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 2560. Zn(OTf)₂: (k) Corey, E. J.; Shimoji, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 1662.

- For reviews on Ln(OTf)₃ in organic synthesis, see: Kobayashi, S. *Synlett* **1994**, 689. Marshman, R. W. *Aldrichimica Acta* **1995**, (3)28, 77. For review on $Sc(OTf)_3$ in organic synthesis, see: Kobayashi, S. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **195**, *15*, 5. (4) Kobayashi, S. *Chem. Lett.* **1991**, 2187.
- (5) Forsberg, J. H.; Spaziano, V. T.; Balasubramanian, T. M.; Liu, G. K.; Kinsley, S. A.; Duckworth, C. A.; Poteruca, J. J.; Brown, P. S.; Miller, J. L. *J. Org. Chem.* **1987**, *52*, 1017. Tsuruta, H.; Yamaguchi, K.; Imamoto, T. *Chem. Commun.* **1999**,
- (6) 1703
- Cotton, F. A.; Wilkinson, G. Advanced Inorganic Chemistry, 5th (7)ed.; Wiley: New York, 1988; p 973. Thom, K. F. U.S. Patent 3615169 1971; *Chem. Abstr.* 1972, *76*,
- (8)5436a.
- (a) Forsberg, J. H.; Spaziano, V. T.; Balasubramanian, T. M.; (9)Liu, G. K.; Kinsley, S. A.; Duckworth, C. A.; Poteruca, J. J.; Brown, P. S.; Miller, J. L. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 1017. (b)
 Collins, S.; Hong, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 4391. (c)
 Almasio, M.-C.; Arnaud-Neu, F.; Schwing-Weill, M.-J. Helv.
 Chim. Acta. 1983, 66, 1296. (d) Harrowfield, J. M.; Kepert, D. L.; Patrick, J. M.; White, A. H. *Aust. J. Chem.* **1983**, *36*, 483. (10) (a) Mukaiyama, T.; Narasaka, K.; Banno, T. *Chem Lett.* **1973**,
- 1011. (b) Mukaiyama, T.; Banno, K.; Narasaka, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 7503.
- (11) Mukaiyama, T. Org. React. 1982, 28, 203.
 (12) Kobayashi, S.; Murakami, M.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1985,
- (13) Kawai, M.; Onaka, M.; Izumi, Y. Chem. Lett. 1986, 1581. Kawai, M.; Onaka, M.; Izumi, Y. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1988, 61, 1237.
 Noyori, R.; Yokoyama, K.; Sakata, J.; Kuwajima, I.; Nakamura,
- E.; Shimizu, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 1265. Nakamura, E.; Shimizu, M.; Kuwajima, I.; Sakata, J.; Yokoyama, K.; Noyori, R. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 48, 932.
 (15) LnCl₃ and some organolanthanide compounds catalyzed aldol
- reactions of ketene silyl acetals with aldehydes have been reported. (a) Takai, K.; Heathcock, C. H. *J. Org. Chem.* **1985**, reported. (a) Takai, K.; Heatncock, C. H. J. Org. Chem. 1983, 50, 3247. (b) Vougioukas, A. E.; Kagan, H. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 5513. (c) Gong, L.; Streitwieser, A. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 6235. (d) Mikami, K.; Terada, M.; Nakai, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 343 and references therein.
 (16) Bernardelli, P.; Moradei, O. M.; Friedrich, D.; Yang, J.; Gallou, F.; Dyck, B. P.; Doskotch, R. W.; Lange, T.; Paquette, L. A. J. Am. Chem. Sca 2001, 122 0021
- *Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 9021. (17) Kobayashi, S.; Hachiya, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *3*, 1625.

- Kobayashi, S.; Hachiya, I. J. Org. Chem. **1994**, *59*, 3590.
 Kobayashi, S. Hachiya, I.; Takahori, T. Synthesis **1993**, 371. See also: Makitka V.; Nakamat, J. T. Synthesis **1993**, 371. See also: Makioka, Y.; Nakagawa, I.; Taniguchi, Y.; Takaki, K.; Fujiwara, Y. J. Org. Chem. **1993**, 58, 4771.
- (20)Kobayashi, S.; Hachiya, I.; Ishitani, H.; Araki, M. Synlett 1993, 472
- (21) For selectively activation of acetals in the aldol-type reaction of silyl enol ethers with Me₃SiOTf, see: (a) Noyori, R.; Murata, S.; Suzuki, M. Tetrahedron 1981, 37, 3899. (b) Mukai, C.; Hashizume, S.; Nagami, K. Hanaoka, M. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1990, 38, 1509. (c) Murata, S.; Suzuki, M.; Noyori, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 3248. For selective activation of acetals or aldehydes under certain nonbasic conditions, see: (d) Mukaiyama, T.; Ohno, T.; Han, J. S.; Kobayashi, S. Chem. Lett. 1991, 949
- (22) Kobayashi, S.; Wakabayashi, T.; Nagayama, S.; Oyamada, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 4559. For related catalysts usable in water, Lewis-acid-surfactant combined catalysts (LASC), see: Manabe, K.; Mori, Y.; Wakabayashi, T.; Nagayama, S.;
- Kobayashi, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7202.
 (23) (a) Tian, H.-Y.; Chen, Y.-J.; Wang, D.; Zeng, C.-C.; Li, C.-J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 2529. (b) Tian, H.-Y.; Chen, Y.-J.; Wang, D.; Bu, Y.-P.; Li, C.-J. Tatrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 1803.
- (24) Nagayama, S.; Kobayashi, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 567.
- (25) Fukuzawa, S.; Tsuchimoto, T.; Kanai, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. **1994**, *67*, 2227. (26) Uno, H.; Nishihara, Y.; Mizobe, N.; Ono, N. *Bull. Chem. Soc.*
- Jpn. 1999, 72, 1533.
- Swamy, V. M.; Bhadbhade, M. M.; Puranik, V. G.; Sarkar, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 6137. (27)
- (28) Deguin, B.; Roulet, J.-M.; Vogel, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6197.

- (29) Lefebvre, O.; Brigaud, T.; Portella, C. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 1941.
- (30) (a) Reetz, M. T. In Organotitanium Reagents in Organic Syn-(30) (a) Reet2, M. 1. III Organontalnum Reagents in Organic synthesis; Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1986; Chapter 3. (b) Sato, T.; Otera, J.; Nozaki, H. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 4971. (c) Mori, A.; Ohno, J.; Inoue, S. Chem. Lett. 1992, 631
 (31) Sato, T.; Otera, J.; Nozaki, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 901.
- (a) Chen, J.; Otera, J. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.* **1998**, *37*, 91. (b) Chen, J.; Sakamoto, K.; Orita, A.; Otera, J. *J. Org. Chem.* (32)**1998**, *63*, 9739. (33) Loh, T.-P.; Chua, G.-L.; Vittal, J. J.; Wong, M.-W. *Chem.*
- Commun. 1998, 861.
- Uotsu, K.; Sasai, H.; Shibasaki, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry (34)**1995**, *6*, 71
- (35)Kobayashi, S.; Hamada, T.; Nagayama, S.; Manabe, K. Org. Lett. **2001**, *3*, 165.
- (36)Kobayashi, S.; Hachiya, I.; Yasuda, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 5569.
- (37)Kobayashi, S.; Nagayama, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 2985. (a) Kleinman, E. F. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*, Trost, B. M., Ed.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 2, p 893. (b) Arend, (38)M.; Westermann, B.; Risch, N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1044.
- (a) Danishiefsky, S.; Kitahara, T.; McKee, R.; Schuda, P. F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1976**, *98*, 6715. (b) Wada, M.; Nishihara, Y.; (39) Akiba, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 5405. (c) Danishefsky, S.; Prisbylla, M.; Lipisko, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1980, 21, 805
- (40)(a) Ojima, I.; Inaba, S.; Yoshida, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1977, 3643. (b) Guanti, G.; Narisano, E.; Banfi, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 4331. (c) Mukaiyama, T.; Kashiwagi, K.; Matsui, S. Chem. Lett. 1989, 1397. (d) Mukaiyama, T.; Akamatsu, H.; Han, J. S. Chem. Lett. 1990, 889. (e) Onaka, M.; Ohno, R.; Yanagiya, N.; Izumi, Y. Synlett 1993, 141. (f) Ishihara, K.; Hanaki, N.; Funahashi, M.; Miyata, M.; Yamamoto, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. **1995**, 68, 1721. (g) Kobayashi, S.; Araki, M.; Yasuda, M. Tetrahedron Lett. **1995**, 36, 5773.
- (41) (a) Ikeda, K.; Achiwa, K.; Sekiya, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 4707; For a stoichiometric use, see: (b) Dubois, J. E.; Axiotis, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 2143. (c) Colvin, E. W.; McGarry, D. G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 539. (d) Shimada, G. S. Guin, D.G. M.H. Colling, and A. Hasegawa, M. Chem. Lett. 1992, 1445. (e) Hattori, K.; Yamamoto, H. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 2785.
- (42) Kobayashi, S.; Araki, M.; Ishitani, H.; Nagayama, S.; Hachiya, I. *Synlett* **1995**, 233.
- Kobayashi, S.; Ishitani, H.; Komiyama, S.; Oniciu, D. C.; Katritzky, A. R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 3731. (43)
- Kobayashi, S.; Araki, M.; Yasuda, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, (44)36. 5773.
- Cozzi, P. G.; Di Simone, B.; Umani-Ronchi, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 1691. (45)
- Kobayashi, S.; Busujima, T.; Nagayama, S. Synlett **1999**, 545. Ishimaru, K.; Kojima, T. J. Org. Chem. **2000**, 65, 8395. (46)
- (47)
- Kobayashi, S.; Akiyama, R.; Moriwaki, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 4819. (48)
- (a) Guanti, G.; Narisano, E.; Banfi, L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1987**, *28*, 4331 and 4335. (b) Onaka, M.; Ohno, R.; Yanagiya, N.; Izumi, (49)Y. Synlett 1993, 141.
- (50)Annunziata, R.; Cinquini, M.; Cozzi, F.; Molteni, V.; Schupp, O.
- *Tetrahedron* **1996**, *52*, 2573. (a) Hirai, K.; Iwano, Y.; Mikoshiba, I.; Koyama, H.; Nishi, T. (51)Heterocycles 1994, 38, 277. (b) Hirai, K.; Homma, H.; Mikoshiba, I. Heterocycles 1994, 38, 281.
- (52) Metal enolates of 2-pyridyl thioesters react with imines to afford Arta change and a second secon 8941. (c) Ti enolates: Annunziata, R.; Benaglia, M.; Chiovato, A.; Cinquini, M.; Cozzi, F. *Tetrahedron* **1995**, *51*, 10025. (d) Al enolates: Annunziata, R.; Benaglia, M.; Cinquini, M.; Cozzi, F.; Molteni, V. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 2583
- (a) Annunziata, R.; Cinquini, M.; Cozzi, F.; Molteni, V.; Schupp, O. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, 61, 8293. (b) Annunziata, R.; Cinquini, M.; Cozzi, F.; Molteni, V.; Schupp, O. Tetrahedron **1996**, 52, 2573
- (54) (a) Dudot, B.; Royer, J.; Sevrin, M.; George, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 4367. (b) Dudot, B.; Chiaroni, A.; Royer, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 6355
- (55) Kobayashi, S.; Ishitani, H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1379
- (56) Yamaguchi, M. In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis, Trost, B. M., Ed.; Pergamon Press: New York, 1991; Vol. 1, Chapter 1.11.
- Yamamoto and his group also reported imine-selective allylation via a palladium-catalyzed reaction with allylstannane. (a) Nakamura, H.; Iwama, H.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1996, 1459. (b) Nakamura, H.; Iwama, H.; Yamamoto, (58) Kobayashi, S.; Nagayama, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119,
- 10049.

- (59) (a) Yamasaki, S.; Iida, T.; Shibasaki, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, *40*, 307. (b) *idem Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 8857. (a) Kobayashi, S.; Nagayama, S.; Busujima, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.*
- (60) 1996, 37, 9221. (b) Kobayashi, S.; Nagayama, S. Synlett 1997, 653
- (61) Kobayashi, S.; Kitagawa, H.; Matsubara, R. J. Comb. Chem. 2001, 3, 401
- (62)(a) Kobayashi, S.; Akiyama, R.; Kitagawa, H. J. Comb. Chem. **2000**, 2, 438. (b) Kobayashi, S.; Akiyama, R.; Kitagawa, H. J. Comb. Chem. **2001**, *3*, 196. (63) (a) Kobayashi, S.; Hachiya, I.; Suzuki, S.; Moriwaki, M. Tetra-
- *hedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 2809. (b) Kobayashi, S.; Moriwaki, M.; Akiyama, R.; Suzuki, S.; Hachiya, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 7783
- (64) (a) Okitsu, O.; Suzuki, R.; Kobayashi, S. Synlett 2000, 989. (b) Okitsu, O.; Suzuki, R.; Kobayashi, S. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 809
- (65)Anderson, J.; Peace, S.; Pih, S. Synlett 2000, 850.
- (a) Oyamada, H.; Kobayashi, S. Synlett 1998, 249. (b) Okitsu, (66)O.; Oyamada, H.; Furuta, T.; Kobayashi, S. Heterocycles 2000, *52*, 1143.
- (67) Kobayashi, S.; Furuta, T.; Sugita, K.; Okitsu, O.; Oyamada, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 1341
- (68)
- Qian, C.; Wang, L. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 7193. (a) Grethe, G., Ed. In *The Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds*, (69)Wiley: New York, 1981; Vol. 38, Part 1. (b) Ungemach, F.; Cook, J. M. Heterocycles 1978, 9, 1089. (c) Fu, X.; Cook, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 6910.
- (a) Massiot, G.; Mulumba, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (70) **1983**, 1147. (b) Peng, S.; Winterfeldt *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* **1990**, 313. (c) Hermken, P. H. H.; van Maarseveen, J. H.; Cobben, P. L. H. M.; Ottenheijm, H. C. J.; Kruse, C. G.; Scheeren, H. W. L. H. M., Ottenheijin, H. C. S., Hudse, C. G., Schleren, H. W. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 833. (d) Deng, L.; Czerwinski, K.; Cook, J. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 175. (e) Bailey, P. D.; Hollin-shead, S. P.; Mclay, N. R.; Morgan, K.; Palmer, S. J.; Prince, S. N; Reynolds, C. D.; Wood, S. D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **1993**, 431. (f) Bailey, P. D.; Moore, M. H.; Morgan, K. M.; Smith, D. I.; Vernon, J. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 3587.
- (71) (a) Czarnocki, Z.; MacLean, D. B.; Szarek, W. A. Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg. 1986, 95, 749. (b) Melnyk, P.; Ducrot, P.; Thal, C. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 8589.
- (72) (a) Waldmann, H.; Schmidt, G.; Jansen, M.; Geb, J. Tetrahedron Lett. **1993**, *34*, 5867. (b) Waldmann, H.; Schmidt, G.; Jansen, M.; Geb, J. *Tetrahedron* **1994**, *50*, 11865.
- Soe, T.; Kawate, T.; Fukui, N.; Hino, T.; Nakagawa, M. *Hetero-*cycles **1996**, 42, 347. (73)
- (74)El Gihani, M. T.; Heaney, H.; Shuhaibar, K. F. Synlett 1996, 871.
- Heaney, H.; Simcox, M. T.; Slawin, A. M. Z.; Giles, R. G. Synlett (75)**1998**, 640.
- (76)
- (a) Qian, C.; Huang, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 6721. (b) Qian, C.; Wang, L. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2000**, *11*, 2347
 The reaction gives mainly ene product in the presence of traditional Lewis acid such as TiCl₄ or SnCl₄. For chiral catalysts, see: (a) Terada, M.; Mikami, K.; Nakai, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, *32*, 935. (b) Johannsen, M.; Jørgensen, K. A. J. Org. Chem. **1995**, *60*, 5757 (77)*Chem.* **1995**, *60*, 5757. Aggarwal, V. K.; Vennall, G. P.; Davey, P. N.; Newman, C.
- (78)*Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 1997. Nakatani, Y.; Kawashima, K. *Synthesis* **1978**, 147.
- (79)
- (80) Yamanaka, M.; Nishida, A.; Nakagawa, M. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 159
- (81)
- Yamamoto, Y.; Asao, N. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 2207. Aspinall, H. C.; Browning, A. F.; Greeves, N.; Ravenscroft, P. (82) Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 4639.
- (83)Aspinall, H. C.; Greeves, N.; McIver, E. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, *39*, 9283.
- (84) Aggarwal, V. K.; Vennall, G. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 3745.
- Aggarwal, V. K.; Vennall, G. P. Synthesis 1998, 1822 (85)
- (86) Fang, X.; Watkin, J. G.; Warner, B. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, *41*, 447
- (87)Yang, Y.; Wang, M.; Wang, D. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1651
- (88) Yadav, J. S.; Subba Reddy, B. Y.; Srihari, R. P. Synlett 2001,
- (89) Hachiya, I.; Kobayashi, S. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 6958.
 (90) (a) Akiyama, T.; Iwai, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 853. (b) Akiyama, T.; Iwai, J.; Sugano, M. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 7499.
- Kobayashi, S.; Wakabayashi, T.; Oyamada, H. Chem. Lett. 1997, (91) 831.
- (92)Bonini, B. F.; Comes-Franchini, M.; Fochi, M.; Mazzanti, G.; Nanni, C.; Ricci, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 6737.
- (a) Loh, T.-P.; Cao, G.-Q.; Pei, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 1453. (b) Ho Diana, S.-C.; Sim, K.-Y.; Loh, T.-P. *Synlett* **1996**, (93) 263
- (94) Wang, R.; Lim, C.-M.; Tan, C.-H.; Lim, B.-K.; Sim, K.-Y.; Loh, T.-P. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **1995**, *6*, 1825. Arai, Y.; Suzuki, A.; Masuda, T.; Masaki, Y.; Shiro, M. J. Chem.
- (95)Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 2913.
 Shim, J.-G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1999, 588, 20.

- (97) Clive, D. L. J.; He, X.; Postema, M. H. D.; Mashimbye, M. J. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 4397.
- (98) Evans, D. A.; Sweeney, Z.; Rovis, T.; Tedrow, J. S. J. Am. Chem. *Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 12095. Bellucci, C.; Cozzi, P. G.; Umani-Ronchi, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.*
- (99)**1995**, *36*, 7289.
- (100)Kobayashi, S.; Busujima, T.; Nagayama, S. Chem. Commun. 1998. 19.
- (101)Akiyama, T.; Iwai, J. Synlett 1998, 273.
- (102) Kobayashi, S.; Sugita, K.; Oyamada, H. Synlett 1999, 138.
- (103) Kobayashi, S.; Hamada, T.; Manabe, K. Synlett 2001, 1140.
- (a) Aspinall, H. C.; Greeves, N.; McIver, E. G. J. Alloys Compd. (104)(1) **1998**, 275–277, 773. (b) Aspinall, H. C.; Dwyer, J. L. M.; Greeves, N.; McIver, E. G.; Wolley, J. C. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1998**, *17*, 1884.
- (105) Park, J.-Y.; Park, C.-H.; Kadota, I.; Yamamoto, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 1791.
- (106)
- Yang, Y.; Wang, D. *Synlett* **1997**, 1379. Jenner, G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, 40, 491. (107)
- (108) Bandini, M.; Cozzi, G.; Melchiorre, P.; Umani-Ronchi, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 3041
- (109)Kobayashi, S.; Busujima, T.; Nagayama, S. Chem. Commun. 1998, 981.
- Kobayashi, S.; Ishitani, H.; Ueno, M. Synlett 1997, 115. (110)
- (111) Kagoshima, H.; Hashimoto, Y.; Saigo, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, *39*, 8465.
- (112) Shen, Y.; Qi, M. J. Chem. Res. (S) 1993, 222.
- (113) (a) Collins, S.; Hong, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 4391. (b)
 Collins, S.; Hong, Y.; Hoover, G. J.; Veit, J. R. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 3565.
- (114) Molander, G. A.; Burkhardt, E. R.; Weinig, P. J. Org. Chem. (114) Information, G. M., Samanara, J. (114)
 (115) (a) Reetz, M. T. In Organotitanium Reagents in Organic Synthesis (115)
 (a) Reetz, M. T. In Organotitanium Reagents in Organic Synthesis (115)
- (a) Reetz, M. T. In Organomanum Reagents in Organic Synthesis, Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1986. (b) Reetz, M. T.; Steinbach, R.; Westermann, J.; Peter, R.; Wenderoth, B. Chem. Ber. 1985, 118, 1441. (c) Reetz, M. T. Tetrahedron 1986, 42, 2931.
- (116) Battioni, J.; Chadkiewicz, W.; Cadiot, P. C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. C 1967, *264*, 991.
- (117) (a) Di Maio, G.; Pellegrini, M.; Tardella, P. Ric. Sci. 1968, 38, 240. (b) Ashby, E. C.; Noding, S. A. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 4371.
- (118) Molander, G. A.; Estévez-Braun, A. M. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1997, 134, 275.
- (119) Johnston, D.; Francon, N.; Edmonds, D. J.; Procter, D. J. Org. *Lett.* **2001**, *3*, 2001. (120) Chibale, K.; Greeves, N.; Lyford, L.; Pease, J. E. *Tetrahedron:*
- Asymmetry 1993, 4, 2407.
- (121) Saito, S.; Hatanaka, K.; Yamamoto, H. Synlett 2001.1859.
 (122) Permutter, P. In Conjugate Addition Reactions in Organic Synthesis; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1992.
 (123) Narasaka, K.; Soai, K.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1974, 1223.
 (h) Narasaka, K.; Soai, K.; Aikawa, Y.; Mukaiyama, T. Pull
- (b) Narasaka, K.; Soai, K.; Aikawa, Y.; Mukaiyama, T. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1976**, *49*, 779. (c) Saigo, K.; Osaki, M.; Mukaiyama, T. *Chem. Lett.* **1976**, 163.
- (a) Kobayashi, S.; Murakami, M.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. (124)1985, 953. (b) Mukaiyama, T.; Tamura, M.; Kobayashi, S. Chem. Lett. **1987**, 743. (c) Iwasawa, N.; Mukaiyama, T. *Chem. Lett.* **1987**, 463. (d) Mukaiyama, T.; Kobayashi, S.; Tamura, M.; Sagawa, Y. *Chem. Lett.* **1987**, 491.; (e) Kawai, M.; Onaka, M.; Izumi, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1203. (f) Minowa, N.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1987, 1719. (g) Ohki, H.; Wada, M.; Akiba, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 4719. (h) Kobayashi, Tamura, M.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1988, 91. (i) Mukaiyama, T.; Hara, R. Chem. Lett. 1989, 1171. (j) Sato, T.; Wakahara, Y.; Otera, J.; Nozaki, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 1581.
- (125) Kobayashi, S.; Hachiya, I.; Takahori, T.; Araki, M.; Ishitani, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 6815. For Sc(OTf)3-catalyzed reactions, see: ref 20.
- (126) Chen, J.-J.; Kawabata, T.; Ohnishi, H.; Shang, M.; Fuji, K. Chem.
- (120) Chen, J.-J., Rawabata, T., Ohnshi, H., Shang, M., Fuji, K. Chen, Pharm. Bull. **1999**, 47, 394.
 (127) (a) Nelson, J. H.; Howells, P. N.; DeLullo, G. C.; Landen, G. L. J. Org. Chem. **1980**, 45, 1246. (b) Bonadies, F.; Lattanzi, A.; Orelli, L. R.; Pesci, S.; Scretti, A. Tetrahedron Lett. **1993**, 34, 7649.
- (128) Michael addition of 1,3-diketones in water has been reported. Eder, U.; Sauer, G.; Wiechert, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1971, 10, 496.
- (129)Keller, E.; Feringa, B. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 1879.
- (130) Kotsuki, H.; Arimura, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 7583.
- (131) Keller, E.; Feringa, B. L. Synlett 1997, 842.
 (132) (a) Szmuszkovicz, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 2819. (b) Noland, W. E.; Christensen, G. M.; Sauer, G. L.; Dutton, G. G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 456. (c) Iqbal, Z.; Jackson, A. H.; Rao, K. R. N. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 2577. (d) Dujardin, G.; Poirer, J.-M. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1994, 131, 900.
- (133) Harrington, P. E.; Kerr, M. A. Synlett 1996, 1047.
- (134) Cho, C. S.; Motofusa, S.; Ohe, K.; Uemura, S. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 883.

- (135) Bongini, A.; Cardillo, G.; Mingardi, A.; Tomasini, C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry **1996**, *7*, 1457. (a) Kitajima, H.; Katsuki, T. *Synlett* **1997**, 568. (b) Kitajima, H.;
- (136) Ito, K.; Katsuki, T. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 17015.
- (137)Nakajima, M.; Yamaguchi, Y.; Hashimoto, S. Chem. Commun. **2001**, 1596.
- Nakamura, S.; Yasuda, H.; Watanabe, Y.; Toru, T. Tetrahedron (138)Lett. 2000, 41, 4157.
- (139) Kakuuchi, A.; Taguchi, T.; Hanazawa, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, *42*. 1547.
- Lautens, M.; Ouellet, S. G.; Raeppel, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. (140)2000, 39, 4079.
- (141) (a) Crotti, P.; Di Bussolo, V.; Favero, L.; Macchia, F.; Pineschi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 6537. (b) Crotti, P.; Di Bussolo, V.; Favero, L.; Pineschi, M. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, 61, 9548. (142) (a) Carruthers, W. In Cycloaddition Reactions in Organic
- Synthesis, Pergamon: Elmsford, NY, 1990. (b) Yates, D.; Eaton, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1960**, 82, 4436. (c) Hollis, T. K.; Robinson, N. P.; Bosnich, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, 114, 5464.
- (143) Kobayashi, S.; Hachiya, I.; Araki, M.; Ishitani, H. Tetrahedron Lett. **1993**, *34*, 3755.
- (144) Kobayashi, S.; Tsuchiya, T.; Komoto, I.; Matsuo, J. J. Organomet. *Chem.* **2001**, *624*, 392.
- (145) For some examples on Diels-Alder reactions in water without a catalyst, see: (a) Rideout, D. C.; Breslow, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1980**, 102, 7816. (b) Grieco, P. A.; Garner, P.; He, Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 1897.
- (146) Arseniyadis, S.; Rodriguez, R.; Yashunsky, D. V.; Camara, J.; Ourisson, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 4843.
- Oakes, R. S.; Heppenstall, T. J.; Shezad, N.; Clifford, A. A.; (147)Rayner, C. M. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1459.
- Song, C. E.; Shim. W. H.; Roh, E. J.; Lee, S.-g.; Choi, J. H. Chem. (148)Commun. 2001, 1122.
- (149) Kinsman, A. C.; Kerr, M. A. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3517.
 (150) Ohkita, M.; Nishizawa, O.; Imai, T.; Nishida, S.; Tsuji, T. (150)Tetrahedron **1996**, *52*, 9979.
- Ohba, M.; Izuta, R. Heterocycles 2001, 55, 823. (151)
- Arai, Y.; Masuda, T.; Masaki, Y.; Shiro, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin (152)Trans. 1 1996, 759.
- (153) Arai, Y.; Masuda, T.; Masaki, Y. Chem. Lett. 1997, 145. For a structure related dienophile, see: Arai, Y.; Masuda, T.; Masaki, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 2165.
- (154) (a) Hashimoto, S.; Komeshima, N.; Koga, K. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1979, 437. (b) Narasaka, K.; Iwasawa, N.; Inoue, M.; Commun. 1979, 437. (b) Narasaka, K.; Iwasawa, N.; Inoue, M.;
 Yamada, T.; Nakashima, M.; Sugimori, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
 1989, 111, 5340. (c) Chapuis, C.; Jurczak, J. Helv. Chim. Acta
 1987, 70, 436. (d) Maruoka, K.; Itoh, T. Shirasaka, T.; Yamamoto, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 310. (e) Corey, E. J.;
 Imwinkelried, R.; Pikul, S.; Xiang, Y. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 5493. (f) Kaufmann, D.; Boese, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 545. (g) Corey, E. J.; Imai, N.; Zhang, H. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 113, 728. (h) Sartor, D.; Saffrich, J.; Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 128. (n) Sartor, D.; Sartner, J.;
 Helmchen, G.; Richards, C. J.; Lambert, H. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1991, 2, 639. (i) Mikami, K.; Terada, M.; Motoyama, Y.;
 Nakai, T. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1991, 2, 643. (j) Evans, D.
 A.; Miller, S. J.; Lectka, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 6460.
 (k) Ishihara, K.; Gao, O.; Yamamoto, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 10412. (l) Maruoka, K.; Murase, N.; Yamamoto, H. J. Org. Chem. 1002, 52, 2938 (m) Saerdon I. P. Scheeren, H. W. *Chem.* **1993**, *58*, 2938. (m) Seerden, J. P.; Scheeren, H. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 2669. For reviews, see: (n) Narasaka, K. Synthesis 1991, 1. (o) Kagan, H. B.; Riant, O. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1007.
- (155)(a) Bednarski, M.; Maring, C.; Danishefsky, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 3451. (b) Quimpere, M.; Jankowski, K. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 676. (c) Sasai, H.; Suzuki, T.; Itoh, N.; Tanaka, K.; Date, T.; Okamura, K.; Shibasaki, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 10372 and references therein.
- (156) Kobayashi, S.; Hachiya, I.; Ishitani, H.; Araki, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 4535.
- (157)(a) Kobayashi, S.; Ishitani, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4083. (b) Kobayashi, S.; Ishitani, H.; Hachiya, I.; Araki, M. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 11623.
- (158) Kobayashi, S.; Araki, M.; Hachiya, I. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 3758
- (159) Hart, F. A. In Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry; Wilkinson, G., Ed.; Pergamon: Yew York, 1987; Vol. 3, p 1059.
- (160)Kobayashi, S.; Ishitani, H.; Araki, M.; Hachiya, I. Tetrahedron *Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 6325.
- (a) Maruoka, K.; Yamamoto, H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1989**, *111*, 789. (b) Bao, J.; Wulff, W. D.; Rheingold, A. L. *J. Am. Chem.* (161) Soc. 1993, 115, 3814.
- (162) Hattori, K.; Yamamoto, H. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 3264.
- (a) Reetz, M. T.; Kyung, S. H.; Bolm, C.; Zierke, T. *Chem. Ind.* **1986**, 824. (b) Mikami, K.; Terada, M.; Nakai, T. *J. Am. Chem.* (163)Soc. 1990, 112, 3949.
- (164) Wipf, P.; Wang, X. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 8747.
 (165) (a) Markó, I. E.; Evans, G. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 2771.
 (b) Markó, I. E.; Evans, G. R.; Declercq, J.-P. Tetrahedron 1994,

- 1999, 40, 1555.
- (167)Fukuzawa, S.-i.; Matsuzawa, H.; Metoki, K. Synlett 2001, 709.
- Fukuzawa, S.-i.; Matsuzawa, H.; Metoki, K. Syneti 2001, 103.
 (a) Weinreb, S. M. In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis, Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 5, p 401.
 (b) Boger, D. L.; Weinreb, S. M. In Organic Chemistry, Hetero Diels-Alder Methodology in Organic Synthesis, Academic: San Diego, 1987; Vol. 47, Chapters 2 and 9.
 (a) Kobayashi, S.; Ishitani, H.; Nagayama, S. Chem. Lett. 1995, 402.
 (b) Kabayashi, S.; Ishitani, H.; Nagayama, S. Synthesis (168)
- (169)423. (b) Kobayashi, S.; Ishitani, H.; Nagayama, S. Synthesis 1995, 1195. (c) For a $Dy(OTf)_3$ -catalyzed three-component coupling protocol for the synthesis of substituted hexahydropyrrolo-[3,2-c]quinoline, see: Batey, R. A.; Simoncic, P. D.; Lin, D.; Smyj, R. P.; Lough, A. J. *Chem. Commun.* **1999**, 651. (170) (a) Lucchini, V.; Prato, M.; Scorrano, G.; Tecilla, P. *J. Org. Chem.*
- 1988, 53, 2251. (b) Boger, D. L. Tetrahedron 1983, 39, 2869. (c) Grieco, P. A.; Bahsas, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 5855 and references therein.
- For the reactions of vinyl ethers, see: (a) Joh, T.; Hagihara, N. (171)Tetrahedron Lett. 1967, 4199. (b) Povarov, L. S. Russ. Chem. Rev. 1967, 36, 656; Usp. Khim. 1967, 36, 1533. (c) Worth, D. F.; Perricine, S. C.; Elslager, E. F. *J. Heterocycl. Chem.* **1970**, *7*, 1353. (d) Kametani, T.; Takeda, H.; Suzuki, Y.; Kasai, H.; Honda, T. *Heterocycles* **1986**, *24*, 3385. (e) Cheng, Y. S.; Ho, E.; Mariano, P. S.; Ammon, H. L. *J. Org. Chem.* **1985**, *50*, 5678 and references therein. For the reactions of vinyl sulfides, see: (f) Narasaka, K.; Shibata, T. *Heterocycles* **1993**, *35*, 1039.
- (172) Fujiwara et al. reported a similar type of reaction, see: Makioka, Shindo, T.; Taniguchi, Y.; Takai, K.; Fujiwara, Y. Synthesis 1995, 801
- (173)Sisko, J.; Weinreb, S. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 3037.
- (174)Nomura, Y.; Kimura, M.; Takeuchi, Y.; Tomoda, S. Chem. Lett. 1978. 267
- (175) (a) Crousse, B.; Bégué, J.-P.; Bonnet-Delpon, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 5765. (b) Crousse, B.; Bégué, J.-P.; Bonnet-Delpon, D. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5009.
- (176) Gadhwal, S.; Sandhu, J. S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 2000, 2827.
- (177)Larsen, S. D.; Grieco, P. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 1768. (b) Grieco, P. A.; Larsen, S. D.; Fobare, W. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986, 27, 1975. (c) Grieco, P. A.; Parker, D. T.; Fobare, W. F.; Ruckle, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1987**, *109*, 5559. (d) Grieco, P. A.; Bahsas, A. J. Org. Chem. **1987**, *52*, 5746. (e) Grieco, P. A.; Larsen, S. D. Org. Synth. **1990**, *68*, 206. (f) Grieco, P. A.; Clark, J. D. J. Org. Chem. **1990**, 55, 2271. (178) Yu, L.; Chen, D.; Wang, P. G. Tetrahedron Lett. **1996**, 37, 2169.
- Yu, L.; Li, J.; Ramirez, J.; Chen, D.; Wang, P. G. J. Org. Chem. (179)**1997**, *62*, 903.
- For reviews, see: (a) Tomioka, K. *Synthesis* **1990**, 541. (b) Narasaka, K. *Synthesis* **1991**, 1. (c) Waldman, H. *Synthesis* **1994**, (180)535
- (181) (a) Hattori, K.; Yamamoto, H. Synlett 1993, 129. (b) Hattori, K.; Yamamoto, H. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 1749.
 (182) Kobayashi, S.; Komiyama, S.; Ishitani, H. Angew. Chem., Int.
- Ed. Ĕngl. 1998, 37, 979.
- (183)
- Ishitani, H.; Kobayashi, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 7357. Bromidge, S.; Wilson, P. C.; Whiting, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, (184)*39*. 8905
- (185)Kobayashi, S.; Nagayama, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 8977.
- Zulfiqar, F.; Kitazume, T. Green Chem. 2000, 2, 137. (186)
- (187) Arai, Y.; Masuda, T.; Masaki, Y.; Shiro, M. *Tetrahedron: Asym-metry* **1996**, 7, 1199. RE(OTf)₃ (RE = Yb, Nd, Sc) and Ce(OTf)₄ were reported to be much less effective as a catalyst than Bi(OTf)₃ for the hetero-Diels-Alder reaction of glyoxylic acid and a diene in water, see: (a) Laurent-Robert, H.; Le, Roux, C.; Dubac, J. Synlett 1998, 1138. (b) Lubineau, A.; Augé, J.; Grand, E.; Lubin, Ň. *Tetrahedron* **1994**, *50*, 10265
- (188) Mikami, K.; Kotera, O.; Motoyama, Y.; Sakaguchi, H. Synlett 1995, 975
- (189)Saito, T.; Kawamura, M.; Nishimura, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 3231.
- (190)Gizecki, P.; Dhal, R.; Toupet, L.; Dujardin, G. Org. Lett. 2000, 2. 585.
- (191) Gassman, P. G.; Singleton, D.; Wilwerding, J. J.; Chavan, S. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 2182. (b) Gassman, P. G.; Chavan, S. P. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 2392. (c) Gassman, P. G.; Chavan, S. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 3407. (d) Gassman, P. G.;
- S. P. *Tetranedron Lett.* **1988**, 29, 3407. (d) Gassman, P. G.; Chavan, S. P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1989**, 837.
 (192) Sammakia, T.; Berliner, M. A. J. Org. Chem. **1995**, 60, 6652.
 (193) (a) Huisgen, R.; Grashy, R.; Hauck, H.; Seidl, H. Chem. Ber. **1968**, 101, 2043. (b) Tufariello, J. J. In 1, 3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Chemistry, Padwa, A., Ed.; Wiley: Chichester, 1984; Vol. 2, p 83. (c) Torssell, K. B. G. In Nitrile Oxides, Nitrones, and Nitro extern in Overside Curtication UCL, Width Sim 1997.
- C. Forssen, K. B. G. in *Nutrie Oxides, Nutrones, and Nitronates in Organic Synthesis*, VCH: Weinheim, **1988**.
 (a) Gothelf, K. V.; Hazell, R. G.; Jørgensen, K. A. J. Org. Chem.
 1996, 61, 346. (b) Sanchez-Blanco, A. I.; Gothelf, K. V.; Jørgensen, K. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 7923. (c) Minakata, (194)
S.; Ezoe, T.; Nakamura, K.; Ryu, I.; Komatsu, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 5205.

- (195) Kobayashi, S.; Akiyama, R.; Kawamura, M.; Ishitani, H. Chem. Lett. **1997**, 1039.
- (196) Kobayashi, S.; Akiyama, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 9211.
- (197) Nugiel, D. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 3545.
- (198) Desimoni, G.; Faita, G.; Mella, M.; Righetti, P.; Zema, M. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 8509.
- (199)Kobayashi, S.; Kawamura, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5840.
- (200) Kawamura, M.; Kobayashi, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 3213. (201) Kodama, H.; Ito, J.; Hori, K.; Ohta, T.; Furukawa, I. J. Organo-
- met. Chem. 2000, 603, 6. (202)(a) The Chemistry of the Amidines and Imidates; Patai, S., Ed.;
- Wiley: New York, 1975. (b) Roger, R.; Neilson, D. G. Chem. Rev. 1961, 61, 179.
- (203) Ishitani, H.; Nagayama, S.; Kobayashi, S. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1902.
- (204) Ma, Y.; Qian, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 945.
- (205) Mantani, T.; Shiomi, K.; Ishihara, T.; Yamanaka, H. Chem. Lett. 1999. 855.
- (206)Kowalski, C. J.; Sakdarat, S. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 1977.
- Shindo, M.; Oya, S.; Sato, Y.; Shishido, K. Heterocycles 2000, (207)52. 545
- (208) Harmata, M.; Sharma, U. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 2703.
 (209) Malinakova, H. C.; Liebeskind, L. S. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 4083.
- (210) Fukuzumi, S.; Fujii, Y.; Suenobu, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123. 10191.
- (211) For reviews, see: (a) Arundale, E.; Mikeska, L. A. Chem. Rev. 1952, 51, 505. (b) Adams, D. R.; Bhatnagar, S. P. Synthesis 1977, 661. (c) Snider, B. B. In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Ed.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 2, p 527
- (212) (a) Zhang, W.-C.; Viswanathan, G. S.; Li, C.-J. Chem. Commun. 1999, 291. (b) (a) Zhang, W.-C.; Li, C.-J. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 2403
- (213) (a) Olah, G. A. Friedel-Crafts and Related Reactions; Wiley-(a) Olari, G. A. Prieder Grans and include directions, with Interscience: New York, 1973. (b) Heaney, H. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*, Trost, B. M., Ed.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 2, p 733. (c) Olah, G. A.; Krishnamurti, R.; Prakash; G. K. S. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*, Trost, B. M., Ed.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 3, p 293.
- (214) (a) Kawada, A.; Mitamura, S.; Kobayashi, S. Synlett 1994, 545.
 (b) Kawada, A.; Mitamura, S.; Kobayashi, S. Chem. Commun. 1993, 1157. See also: Mikami, K.; Kotera, O.; Motoyama, Y.; Sakaguchi, H.; Maruta, M. Synlett 1996, 171.
- (215) It was also reproted that a catalytic amount of trifluoromethanesulfonic acid, Bi(OTf)₃, or Ga(OTf)₃ was even more effective for some Friedel-Crafts acylations, see: (a) Effenberger, F.; Sohn, E.; Epple, G. Chem. Ber. 1983, 116, 1195. (b) Répichet, S.; Le Roux, C.; Dubac, J.; Desmurs, J.-R. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 2743, 3. (c) Matsuo, J.; Odashima, K.; Kobayashi, S. Synlett 2000, 403.
- (216) Kawada, A.; Mitamura, S.; Matsuo, J.; Tsuchiya, T.; Kobayashi, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 183.
- Kawada, A.; Mitamura, S.; Kobayashi, S. Chem. Commun. 1996, (217)183
- (218)(a) Kotsuki, H.; Ohishi, T.; Inoue, M. Synlett 1998, 255. (b) Kotsuki, H.; Ohishi, T.; Inoue, M.; Kojima, T. Synthesis 1999, 603
- (a) Tsuchimoto, T.; Hiyama, T.; Fukuzawa, S. Chem. Commun. (219)**1996**, 2345. (b) Tsuchimoto, T.; Tobita, K.; Hiyama, T.; Fuku-zawa, S. *Synlett* **1996**, 557. (c) Tsuchimoto, T.; Tobita, K.; Hiyama, T.; Fukuzawa, S. *J. Org. Chem.* **1997**, *62*, 6997.
- (220) Sinha, S.; Mandal, B.; Chandrasekaran, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 9109.
- (221) Song, C. E.; Shim, W. H.; Roh, E. J.; Choi, J. H. Chem. Commun. 2000, 1695.
- Timmerman, P.; Verboom, W.; Reinhoudt, D. N. Tetrahedron (222)1996, *52*, 2663.
- (223)(a) Högberg, A. G. S. J. Org. Chem. 1980, 45, 4498. (b) Högberg, A. G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 6046.
- (224) Curtis, A. D. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 4295.
- (225) Pieroni, O. L.; Rodriguez, N. M.; Vuano, B. M.; Cabaleiro, M. C. J. Chem. Res. (S) 1994, 188.
- (226) Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C.; Henschke, J. P.; Walker, E. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 873.
 (227) El Gihani, M. T.; Heaney, H.; Shuhaibar, K. F. Synlett 1996,
- 871.
- (228) (a) Gregorovich, B. V.; Liang, K. S. V.; Clugston, D. M.; MacDonald, S. F. Can. J. Chem. **1968**, 46, 3291. (b) Roomi, M.; MacDonald, S. F. Can. J. Chem. 1970, 48, 139.
- (229) (a) Chatterjee, A.; Manna, S.; Benerji, J.; Pascard, C.; Prange, T.; Shoolery, J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1980, 553. (b) H. Shollery, S. S. Chem. Soc., Perkin Prans. 1 1360, 353. (b)
 Banerji, J.; Chatterjee, A.; Manna, S.; Pascard, C.; Pranga, T.;
 Shoolery, J. Heterocyles 1981, 15, 325. (c) Roder, E. Arch. Pharm.
 (Weiheim, Ger.) 1972, 305, 96 and 117. (d) Noland, W.; Ven kiteswaren, M.; Richards, C. J. Org. Chem. 1961, 26, 4241.

- (230) (a) Remers, W. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 1972, 25, 1. (b) Jones, R.; Bean, G. The Chemistry of Pyrroles, Academic Press: London, 1977.
- (231) Chen, D.; Yu, L.; Wang, P. G. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1996**, *37*, 4467. (232) Smith, A. B., III.; Kanoh, N.; Ishiyama, H.; Hartz, R. A. J. Am.
- (232) Smith, A. B., III.; Kallon, IV., ISHiyama, II., Hartz, K. R. S. Americ, *Chem. Soc.* 2000, *122*, 11254.
 (233) Zhang, W.; Wang, P. G. *J. Org. Chem.* 2000, *65*, 4732.
 (234) Snyder, H. R.; Matteson, D. S. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1957, *79*, 2217.
 (b) van Tamelen, E. E.; Knapp, G. C. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1955, 777 1000. 77, 1860.
- (235) Xie, W.; Bloomfield, K. M.; Jin, Y.; Dolney, N. Y.; Wang, P. G. Synlett **1999**, 498.
- (236) Huang, T.; Li, C.-J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 6715.
 (237) Harrington, P.; Kerr, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 5949.
 (238) Bennani, Y. L.; Zhu, G.-D.; Freeman, J. C. Synlett 1998, 754.
- (239) Gryko, D. T.; Jadach, K. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 4267.
 (240) Fort, Y.; Berthe, M. C.; Caubere, P. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 4653.
 (241) Hill, J. S.; Issacs, N. S.J. Chem. Soc. (S) 1988, 330.
- (242) Augé, J.; Lubin, N.; Lubineau, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35,
- 7947.
- (243) Roos, G. H. P.; Rampersadh, P. Synth. Commun. 1993, 23, 1261. (244) Kundu, M. K.; Mukherjee, S. B.; Balu, N.; Padmakumar, R.; Bhat, S. V. Synlett 1994, 444.
- (245)Hill, J. S.; Issacs, N. S. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 1990, 285.
- (a) Aggarwal, V. K.; Tarver, G. J.; McCague, R. *Chem. Commun.* **1996**, 2713. (b) Aggarwal, V. K.; Mereu, A.; Tarver, G. J.; (246)McCague, R. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 7183
- (247)
- Balan, D.; Adolfsson, H. J. Org. Chem. **2001**, *66*, 6498. For reviews, see: (a) Giese, B. Radical in Organic Synthesis. (248)Formation of Carbon-Carbon Bond; Pergamon: Oxford, 1986. (b) Motherwell, W. B.; Crich, D. Free Radical Chain Reactions in Organic Synthesis; Academic Press: London, 1992. (c) Curran, D. P.; Porter, N. A.; Giese, B. Stereochemistry of Radical Reactions, VCH: Weinheim, 1996. (d) Giese, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1989, 28, 969. (e) Porter, N. A.; Giese, B.; Curran, D. P. Acc. Chem. Res. 1991, 24, 296. (f) Smadja, W. Synlett 1994, 1. (d) Beckwith, A. L. J. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **1933**, 143. (g) Sibi, M. P.; Porter, N. A. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **1999**, *32*, 163.
- (249) (a) Guindon, Y.; Lavallée, J.-F.; Llinas-Brunet, M.; Horner, G.; Rancourt, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9701. (b) Toru, T.; Watanabe, Y.; Tsusaka, M.; Ueno, Y. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1993**, *115*, 10464. (c) Ueyama, E.; Hayashi, H.; Ohtake, Y.; Yamaura, Y.; Yanaginuma, E.; (d) Yonemitsu, O.; Nishida, A.; Kawahara, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1994**, *116*, 6455. (e) Curran, D. P.; Kuo, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 6455. (e) Curran, D. P.; Kuo,
 L. H. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 3259. (f) Renaud, P.; Moufid, N.;
 Kuo, L. H.; Durran, D. P. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 3547. (g)
 Renaud, P.; Gerster, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 6607. (h)
 Nishida, M.; Nishida, M.; Hayashi, H.; Yamaura, Y.; Yanaginuma, E.; Yonemitsu, O.; Nishida, A.; Kawahara, N. Tetrahedron
 Lett. 1995, 36, 269. (i) Urabe, H.; Yamashita, K.; Suzuki, K.;
 Kobayashi, K.; Sato, F. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 3576. (j)
 Murakata, M.; Tsutsui, H.; Hoshino, O. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 481;
- (250) (a) Sibi, M. P.; Jasperse, C. P.; Ji, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 10779. (b) Sibi, M. P.; Ji, J.; Sausker, J. B.; Jasperse, C. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 7517.
- (251) Sibi, M. P.; Ji, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 274.
 (252) (a) Sibi, M. P.; Ji, J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 190.
 (b) Sibi, M. P.; Rheault, T. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 8873.
- Enholm, E. J.; Gallagher, M. E.; Jiang, S.; Batson, W. A. Org. (253)Lett. 2000, 2, 3355.
- (254) Sibi, M. P.; Ji, J.J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6090
- (a) Walling, C. Free Radicals in Solution; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1957; p. 252. (b) Curran, D. P. Synthesis **1988**, 489. (255)(c) Curran, D. P.; Chen, M.; Spletzer, E.; Seong, C. M.; Chang, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1989**, 111, 8872. (d) Curran, D. P.; Bosch, E.; Kaplan, J.; Newcomb, M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 1826. (e) Curran, D. P.; Seong, C. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 9401.
- (256) For a review, see: Renaud, P.; Gerster, M. Angew. Chem. 1998, 38, 2661.
- (257)Mero, C. L.; Porter, N. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5155. (258)Miyabe, H.; Shibata, R.; Sangawa, M.; Ushiro, C.; Naito, T.
- Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 11431.
- Friestad, G. K.; Qin, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 8329. (259)
- (260) Enholm, E. J.; Cottone, J. S.; Allais, F. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 145.
 (261) (a) Yang, D.; Ye, X.-Y.; Gu, S.; Xu, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5579. (b) Yang, D.; Ye, X.-Y.; Xu, M.; Pang, K.-W.; Cheung, Yang, Ya K.-K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 1658.
- (262) (a) Beckwith, A. L. J.; Crich, D.; Duggan, P. J.; Yao, Q. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 3273. (b) Surzur, J. M.; Teissier, P. C. R. Acad. Sci. Fr. Ser. C 1967, 264, 1981. (c) Tanner, D. D.; Law, F. C. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1969, 91, 7535.
- (263) (a) Giese, B.; Gilges, S.; Gröninger, K. S.; Lamberth, C.; Witzel, T. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1988, 615-7. (b) Gimisis, T.; Ialongo, G.; Leongs Ann. Chem. 1990, 015-7. (b) Ghinsis, 1.; Habrigo, G.; Zamboni, M.; Chatgilialoglu, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 678;
 (c) Itoh, Y.; Haraguchi, K.; Tanaka, H.; Matsumoto, K.; Naka-mura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 3867.
 (264) Zipse, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 1087. For other mechanistic studies, see: (a) Crich, D.; Filzen, F. J. Org. Chem.

1995, 60, 4834. (b) Beckwith, A. L. J.; Duggan, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 12838. (c) Zipse, H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1997, 1797 and the references therein.

- (265) Lacôte, E.; Renaud, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 2259.
- (266) (a) Armstrong, R. W.; Brown, D. S.; Keating, T. A.; Tempest, P. A. In *Combinatorial Chemistry Synthesis and Applications*; Wilson, S. R., Czanik, A. W., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1997; p 153. (b) Cao, X.; Moran, E. J.; Siev., D.; Lio, A.; Ohasi, C.; Mjalli, A. M. M. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 1995, *5*, 2953. (c) Short, K. M.; Ching, B. W.; Mjalli, A. M. M. *Tetrahedron* 1007, 52. e652 1997, 53, 6653.
- (a) Armstrong, R. W.; Combs, A. P.; Tempest, P. A.; Brown, S. D.; Keating, T. A. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **1996**, *29*, 123. (b) Strocker, A. M.; Keating, T. A.; Tempest, P. A.; Armstrong, R. W. (267) Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 1149.
- (268) Wipf, P.; Cunningham, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1995, *36*, 7819.
 (269) (a) Kiselyov, A. S.; Armstrong, R. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1997, *38*, 6163. (b) Gopalsamy, A.; Pallai, P. V. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1997, 38 907
- (270) Biginelli, P. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1893, 23, 360.
- (271) Ma, Y.; Qian, C.; Wang, L.; Yang, M. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 3864
- (272)Stadler, A.; Kappe, C. O. J. Comb. Chem. 2001, 3, 624.
- (a) Eisner, U.; Kuthan, J. Chem. Rev. 1972, 72, 1. (b) Stout, D.; (273)Meyers, A.; Chem. Rev. 1982, 82, 223. (c) Sausins, A.; Duburs, G. Heterocycles 1988, 27, 291. (d) Comins, D.; O'Connor, S. Adv. Heterocycl. Chem. 1988, 44, 199. (e) In Pyridine and its Derivatives, Supplement Part 1; Abramovitch, R. A., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1974.
- (274) Hantzsch, A. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1882, 215, 1. (b) Craig, D.; Schaefgen, L.; Tyler, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1948, 70, 1624. (c) Krow, G.; Michener, E.; Ramey, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1971**, *12*, 3653. (d) Chennat, T.; Eisner, V. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1975, 926. (e) Fuentes, L.; Marques, C.; Contreras, M.; Lorenzo, M. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1995, 32, 29. (f) Fuks, R.; Merenyi, R.; Viehe, H. Bull. Soc. Chem. Belg. 1976, 85, 147. (g) Charman, H. B.; Rowe, J. M. Chem. Commun. 1971, 476. (h) Guillemin, J.-C.; Denis, J.-M.; Lasne, M.-C.; Ripoll, J.-L. Tetrahedron 1988, 44, 4447.
- (275) Yu, L.-B.; Chen, D.; Li, J.; Ramirez, J.; Wang, P. G. J. Org. Chem. 1997, *62*, 208.
- (276) Bagley, M. C.; Dale, J. W.; Hughes, D. D.; Ohnesorge, M.;
- Phillips, N.; Bower, J. Synlett **2001**, 1523. Shiraishi, H.; Nishitani, T.; Nishihara, T.; Sakaguchi, S.; Ishii, Y. *Tetrahedron* **1999**, *55*, 13957. (277)
- (278) Blackburn, C.; Guan, B.; Fleming, P.; Shiosaki, K.; Tsai, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3635.

- (279) Blackburn, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 5469.
 (280) Nakagawa, M.; Kawahara, M. *Org. Lett.* **2000**, *2*, 953.
 (281) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Pandey, S. K.; Srihari, P. P.; Prarhap, I. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 9089.
 (282) Carrelo E. L. LEVER, S. P. (2001), *42*, 9089.
- Gonzales, F.; Lesage, S.; Perlin, A. S. Carbohydr. Res. 1975, 42, (282)267
- (283) Hayashi, M.; Kawabata, H.; Yamada, K. Chem. Commun. 1999, 965
- (a) Ichikawa, T.; Kato, T. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1968**, *41*, 1224.
 (b) Ismail, F. M. D.; Hilton, M. J.; Stefinovic, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, *33*, 3795. (284)
- (285) Matsui, M.; Karibe, N.; Hayashi, K.; Yamamoto, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1995, 68, 3569.
- (286)Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Rao, T. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, *11*, 7943.
- (287) Curini, M.; Epifano, F.; Marcotullio, M. C.; Rosati, O. Tetra-
- hedron Lett. **2001**, 42, 3193. Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Sekhar, K. C.; Geetha, V. Tetrahedron Lett. **2001**, 42, 4405. (288)
- (289)Karikomi, M.; Tsukada, H.; Toda, T. Hetereocyles 2001, 55, 1249.
- (290) Lee, T. R.; Kweon, H. I.; Koh, W. S.; Min, K. R.; Kim, Y.; Lee, S. H. Synthesis 2001, 1851.
- (291) (a) Doyle, M. P. Chem. Rev. 1986, 86, 919. (b) Ye, T.; McKervey, M. A. Chem. Rev. 1994, 94, 1091. (c) Aller, E.; Brown, D. S.;
 Cox, G. G.; Miller, D. J.; Moody, C. J. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 4449. (d) Aller, E.; Buck, R. T.; Drysdale, M.; Ferris, L.; Haigh, D.; Moody, C. J.; Pearson, N. D.; Sanghera, J. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 **1996**, 2879.
- (292) Sengupta, S.; Das, D.; Sarma, D. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 48, 881<u>5</u>.
- (293) Burgess, K.; Lim, H.-J.; Porte, A. M.; Sulikowski, G. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 220.
- (294) (a) Brunner, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 1183.
- (b) Lim, H.-J.; Sulikowski J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 2326.
 (295) Prein, M.; Manley, P. J.; Padwa, A. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 7777.
 (296) (a) Suga, H.; Ishida, H.; Ibata, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39,
- 3165. (b) Suga, H.; Kakehi, A.; Ito, S.; Inoue, K.; Ishida, H.; Ibata,
- (297) a) Suga, H.; Kakeni, A.; Ito, S.; Hioue, K.; Ishida, H.; Ibata, T. *Org. Lett.* **2000**, *2*, 3145.
 (297) a) Suga, H.; Ishida, H.; Ibata, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 3165. (b) Suga, H.; Kakehi, A.; Ito, S.; Ishida, H.; Ibata, T. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **2001**, *74*, 1115.

- (298) (a) Olah, G. A.; Malhotra, R.; Narang, S. C. Nitration: Methods and Mechanisms; VCH: New York, 1989. (b) Olah, G. A.; Kuhn, S. J. Friedel–Crafts and Related Reactions; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1964; Vol. 2. (c) Schofield, K. Aromatic Nitrations;
- Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 1980. Waller, F. J.; Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C.; Ramprasad, D. *Chem. Commun.* **1997**, 613. (299)
- Waller, F. J.; Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C.; Ramprasad, D. Tetrahedron Lett. **1998**, 39, 1641. It was found that $Zr(OTf)_4$ (300)and Hf(OTf)₄ were superior catalysts for nitration of electron deficient aromatics. See also: Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C.; Ducray, R.; McKinnell, R. M.; Waller, F. J. *Synlett* **2000**, 57.
- (301) Waller, F. J.; Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C.; McKinnell, R. M.; Ramprasad, D. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 1 **1999**, 867. (302) Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C. *Chem. Commun.* **1997**, 351.
- (303) (a) Deaton, M. V.; Ciufolini, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 2409. (b) Ciufolini, M. A.; Deaton, M. V.; Zhu, S.; Chen, M. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 16299.
- (304) (a) Répichet, S.; Le Roux, C.; Hernandez, P.; Dubac, J.; Desmurs, J.-R. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 6479. (b) Frost, C. G.; Hartley, J. P.; Whittle, A. J.; Synlett 2001, 830. (c) Marquié, J.; Laporterie, A.; Dubac, J. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 421.
- (305) (a) For high-temperature reactions, see: Furukawa, M.; Okawara, T.; Terawaki, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1977, 25, 1319. (b) For high-pressure reactions, see: d'Angelo, J.; Maddaluno, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 8112.
- (a) Pfau, M. *Bull Soc. Chim. Fr.* **1967**, 1117. (b) Kinas, R.; Pankiewicz, K.; Stec, W. J.; Farmer, P. B.; Forster, A. B.; Jarma, (306)M. J. Org. Chem. 1977, 42, 1650.
- (307)Matsubara, S.; Yoshioka, M.; Utimoto, K. Chem. Lett. 1994, 827.
- (308) Jenner, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 233.
 (309) Jenner, G. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 13557.
- (310) Lipshutz, B. H.; Sclafani, J. A.; Takanami, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 4021
- (311) Enders, D.; Müller, S. F.; Raabe, G.; Runsink, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 879.
- Sibi, M. P.; Shay, J. J.; Liu, M.; Jasperse, C. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 6615. (312)
- (313) Cardillo, G.; Gentilucci, L.; Gianotti, M.; Tolomelli, A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 563.
- (314)Kobayashi, S.; Ogawa, C.; Kawamura, M.; Sugiura, M. Synlett 2001 special issue, 983.
- For reviews, see: (a) Hashimoto, S.; Ikegami, S. *Pharmacia* **1991**, *27*, 50. (b) Sinäy, P. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **1991**, *63*, 519. (c) Banoub, J. *Chem. Rev.* **1992**, *92*, 1167. (d) Toshima, K.; Tatsuta, K. *Chem.* (315) Rev. 1993, 93, 3, 1503. (e) Schmidt, R. R. Comprehensive Organic Synthesis, Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 6, p 33. (f) Schmidt, R. R. Carbohydrates, Synthetic Methods and Applications in Medicinal Chemistry, Kodansha: Tokyo, 1992; p 66. (316) Hashizume, N.; Kobayashi, S. Carbohydr. Lett. **1996**, 2, 157.
- (317) Inanaga, J.; Yokoyama, Y.; Hanamoto, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 2791.
- (318) Inanaga, J.; Yokoyama, Y.; Hanamoto, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. *Commun.* **1993**, 1090.
- (319) Mukaiyama, T.; Matsubara, K.; Hora, M. Synthesis 1994, 1368.
- (a) Hosono, S.; Kim, W.-S.; Sasai, H.; Shibasaki, M. *J. Org. Chem.* **1995**, *60*, 4. (b) Kim, W.-S.; Hosono, S.; Sasai, H.; Shibasaki, M. (320)Heterocycles 1996, 42, 795.
- (321) Fukase, K.; Kinoshita, I.; Kanoh, T.; Nakai, Y.; Hasuoka, A.; Kusumoto, S. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 3897
- (a) Sander, W. J.; Kiessling, L. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, (322)(b) Manning, D. D.; Bertozzi, C. R.; Pohl, N. L.; Rosen, S. D.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Org. Chem. **1995**, 60, 6254.
- For a recent review, see: Arsequell, G.; Valencia, G. Tetra-(323) hedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 3045.
- (324) Matsubara, K.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1994, 247.
- (325) Chung, S.-K.; Park, K.-H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 4005
- (326) Yamanoi, T.; Yamazaki, I. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 4009.
- Adinolfi, M.; Barone, G.; Iadonisi, A.; Mangoni, L.; Schiattarella, M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 5967. (327)
- (a) Evans, D. A.; Faul, M. M.; Bilodeau, M. T.; Anderson, B. A.; (328) Bames, D. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5328. (b) Evans, D. A.; Faul, M. M.; Bilodeau, M. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2742. (c) Harm, A. M.; Knight, J. G.; Stemp, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 6189. (d) Müller, P.; Baud, C.; Jacueier, Y. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 1543. (e) Li, Z.; Conser, K. R.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 5326. (f) Li, Z.; Quan, R. W.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5889.
- (329) (a) Hansen, K. B.; Finney, N. S.; Jacobsen, E. N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 676. (b) Rasmussen, K. G.; Jørgensen, K. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1401. (c) Moran, M.; Bemardinelli, G.; Müller, P. Helv. Chem. Acta 1996, 78, 2048. (d) Zhu, Z.; Espenson, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 9901. (e) Mohan, J. M.; Uphade, B. S.; Choudhary, V. R.; Ravin-dranathan, T.; Sdalai, A. *Chem. Commun.* **1997**, 1429.
- (a) Nagayama, S.; Kobayashi, S. Chem. Lett. 1998, 685. See (330)also: (b) Juhl, K.; Hazell, R. G.; Jørgensen, K. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 2293.

- (331) Xie, W.; Fang, J.; Li, J.; Wang, P. G. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 12929.
- (332) Crousse, B.; Narizuka, S.; Bonnet-Delpon, D.; Bégué, J.-P. Synlett 2001, 679
- Pansare, S. V.; Jain, R. P.; Bhattacharyya, A. Tetrahedron Lett. (333) **1999**, *40*, 5255.
- Möller, F. In Methoden der Organishen Chemie (Houben-Weyl); (334) Müller, E., Ed.; Thieme Verlag: Stuggart, 1957; pp. 311–26. (b) Deyrup, J. A.; Moher, C. L. *J. Org. Chem.* **1969**, *34*, 175. (c) Crooks, P. A.; Szyndler, R. *Chem. Ind. (London)* **1973**, 1111.
- (335) Chini, M.; Crotti, P.; Favero, L.; Macchia, F.; Pineschi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 433.
- (336) Yamamoto and his group reported that a combination of Yb(OTf)₃ and high-pressure mediated ring opening of epoxides with hindered amines. Meguro, M.; Asao, N.; Yamamoto, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 2597.
- (337) (a) Chini, M.; Crotti, P.; Macchia, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 4661. (b) Chini, M.; Crotti, P.; Macchia, F. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56. 5939
- (338) Karpf, M.; Trussardi, R. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2044.
 (339) Crotti, P.; Di Bussolo, V.; Favero, L.; Macchia, F.; Pineschi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 1675.
- (340) Fringuelli, F.; Pizzo, F.; Vaccaro, L. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 3554. (341) Kotsuki, H.; Teraguchi, M.; Shimomoto, N.; Ochi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 3727.
- (342) Nishikawa, T.; Ishikawa, M.; Wada, K.; Isobe, M. Synlett 2001, special issue, 945.
- (343) Hou, X.-L.; Wu, J.; Dai, L.-X.; Xia, L.-J.; Tang, M.-H. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1998, 9, 1747.
- (344) Paul, B. J.; Martinot, T. A.; Willis, J.; Hudlicky, T. Synthesis 2001, 952.
- (345) Fukuzawa, S.; Kato, H.; Ohtaguchi, M.; Hayashi, Y.; Yamazaki, H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 3059.
- (346) Crotti, P.; Favero, L.; Macchia, F.; Pineschi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. **1994**, 35, 7089.
- (a) Bestian, H. In Methoden der Organischen Chemie (Houben-Weyl); Müller, E., Ed.; Thieme Verlag: Stuggart, 1958; Vol. 11/2, pp 250–251. (b) Fanta, P. E. In Heterocyclic Compounds with Three and Four Membered Rings, Part 1; Weissberger, A., Ed.; (347) John-Wiley & Sons: New York, 1964; p 524. (c) Ham, G. E. J. Org. Chem. **1964**, *29*, 3052.
- (348) Meguro, M.; Yamamoto, Y. Heterocycles 1996, 43, 2473.
- (349) McCort, I.; Duréault, A.; Depezay, J.-C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 7717.
- For reviews, see: (a) Shimizu, Y. *Chem. Rev.* **1993**, *93*, 1685. (b) Yasumoto, T.; Murata, M. *Chem. Rev.* **1993**, *93*, 1897. (350)
- (351) (a) Fujiwara, K.; Tokiwano, T.; Murai, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 8063. (b) Tokiwano, T.; Fujiwara, K.; Murai, A. Chem. Lett. 2000. 272
- (352) Tokiwano, T.; Fujiwara, K.; Murai, A. Synlett 2000, 335.
- (353) Likhar, P. R.; Kumar, M. P.; Bandyopadhyay, A. K. Synlett 2001, 836.
- (354) Koiwa, M.; Hareau, G. P. J.; Sato, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 2389.
- (355) Zon, J. Pol. J. Chem. 1981, 55, 643. (b) Laschat, S.; Kunz, H. Synthesis 1992, 90.
- Qian, C.; Huang, T. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 4125. (356)
- (357) Lee, S.-g., Park, J. H.; Kang, J.; Lee, J. K. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1698.
- (358)(a) Hollingworth, G. J. In Comprehensive Organic Functional Group Transformations; Katritzky, A. R., Meth-Cohn, O., Rees, C. W., Pattenden, G., Eds.; Elsevier Science Ltd.: Oxford, 1995; Vol. 3, pp 81-109. (b) Larock, R. C. Comprehensive Organic Transformations, VCH Publishers: New York, 1989; pp 604-614.
- (359) Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C.; McKinnell, R. M.; Waller, F. J. Synlett **1999**, 1489.
- (360) For reviews, see: (a) Hassall, C. H. Org. React. 1957, 9, 73. (b) Lee, L. B.; Uff, B. C. Q. Rev. Chem. Soc. 1967, 21, 429. (c) Krow, Lee, L. B.; Oh, B. C. Q. Rev. Cheff. Soc. 1907, 21, 429. (c) Krow,
 G. R. Tetrahedron 1981, 37, 2697. (d) Krow, G. R. In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis; Trost, B. M., Fleiming, I., Eds.;
 Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 7, pp 671. (e) Krow, G. R. Org. React. 1993, 43, 251. (f) Rao, A. S.; Mohan, H. R. In Encyclopedia of Reagents for Organic Synthesis; Paquette, L. A., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1995; Vol. 2, p 1192.
- (361) Kotsuki, H.; Arimura, K.; Araki, T.; Shinohara, T. Synlett 1999, 462
- (362)Tsuda, A.; Osuka, A. Science 2001, 293, 79.
- Solladié, G.; Hanquet, G.; Rolland, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, (363)38, 5847.
- (364)Solladié, G.; Colobert, F.; Somny, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 1227.
- (365)Lawson, E. C.; Zhang, H.-C.; Maryanoff, B. E. Tetrahedron Lett. **1999**, 40, 593.
- (366) Kamochi, Y.; Kudo, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 341.
- (a) Noyori, R.; Hayakawa, Y. *Org. React.* **1983**, *29*, 163. (b) Fry, A. J. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*; Fleming, I., Ed.; (367)Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 8, pp 983–998.

- (368) Kagoshima, H.; Hashimoto, Y.; Oguro, D.; Kutsuna, T.; Saigo, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 1203.
- (369) Castellani, C. B.; Carugo, O.; Perotti, A.; Sacchi, D. Invernizzi, A. G.; Vidari, G. J. Mol. Catal. 1993, 85, 65.
 (370) Gillespie, K. M.; Munslow, I. J.; Scott, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, and a context for the second secon
- 40. 9371.

- (371) Evans, D. A.; Hoveyda, A. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6447.
 (372) Claisen, B. Chem. Ber. 1912, 45, 3157.
 (373) (a) Takai, K.; Mori, I.; Oshima, K.; Nozaki, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981, 22, 3985. (b) Takai, K.; Mori, I.; Oshima, K.; Nozaki, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1984, 57, 446. (c) Stevenson, J. W. S.; Buin. Chem. Soc. Jph. 1984, 57, 440. (C) Stevenson, J. W. S.;
 Bryso, T. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1982, 23, 3143. (d) Takai, K.; Mori,
 I.; Oshima, K.; Nozaki, H. Tetrahedron 1984, 40, 4013.
 (a) Arnold, R. T.; Searles, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1949, 71, 1150.
 (b) Ireland, R. E.; Mueller, R. H.; Willard, A. K. J. Am. Chem.
 Sea 1072, 04 5897. (e) Deamack S. E.; Hormata M. A. J. Am.
- (374) Soc. 1972, 94, 5897. (c) Denmark, S. E.; Harmata, M. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 4, 4972. (d) Wilson, S. R.; Price, M. F. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 722. (e) Buchi, G.; Vogel, D. E. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 4664. (f) Alker, D.; Mageswaren, S.; Ollis, W D.; Shahriari-Zavareh, H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1990, 1623
- (375) (a) Ziegler, F. E. Chem. Rev. 1988, 88, 1423. (b) Blechert, S. Synthesis 1989, 71. (c) Wipf, P. In Comprehensive Organic *Synthesis*; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, U.K., 1991; Vol. 5, Chapter 7.2, p 827. (d) Enders, D.; Knopp, M.; Schiffers, R. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1996, 7, 1847.
- (376) For catalytic Claisen variants, see: (a) Vedej, É.; Gingras, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 579. (b) Saito, S.; Shimada, K.; Yamamoto, H. Synlett 1996, 720. For enantioselective Claisen rearrangement with stoichiometric chiral promoters, see: (c) Maruoka, K.; Susumu, S.; Yamamoto, H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1995**, *117*, 1165. (d) Maruoka, K.; Banno, H.; Yamamoto, H. *J.* Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 7791. (e) Corey, E. J.; Lee, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 4026. (f) Corey, E. J.; Roberts, B. E.; Dixon, B. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 193.
 (377) Yoon, T. P.; Dong, V. M.; MacMillan, D. W. C. J. Am. Chem.
- Soc. 1999, 121, 9726.
- (378) Dong, V. M.; MacMillan, D. W. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 2448
- (379) Sharma, G. V. M.; Ilangovan, A.; Sreenivas, P.; Mahalingam, A. K. Synlett 2000, 615.
- (380)Zulfigar, F.; Kitazume, T. Green Chem. 2000, 2, 296.
- (381) Hiersemann, M.; Abraham, L. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 49.
 (382) Hori, N.; Nagasawa, K.; Shimizu, T.; Nakata, T. Tetrahedron
- (362) Holt, H., Huganaria, L., L.
 Lett. 1999, 40, 2145.
 (383) Bazin, H. G.; Kerns, R. J.; Linhardt, R. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38. 923
- (a) Whiting, D. A. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*, Trost, B. M., Ed.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 3, p 803. (b) Kobayashi, M.; Uneyama, K.; Hamada, N.; Kashino, S. *Tetra*-(384)hedron Lett. 1994, 35, 5235.
 (385) Kusama, H.; Uchiyama, K.; Yamashita, Y.; Narasaka, K. Chem.
- Lett. 1995, 715.
- (a) Niyazov, A. N.; Namatov, B.; Atlyev, Kh. Izv. Akad. Nauk Turkn. SSR, Ser. Fiz.-Tekh., Khim. Geol. Nauk 1974, (4), 62; Chem. Abstr. 1975, 82, 170275d. (b) Niyazov, A. N.; Namatov, B.; Atlyev, Kh. Izv. Akad. Nauk Turkn. SSR, Ser. Fiz.-Tekh., Khim Cold Nucl 1974. (c) 615. Churg Abstra 1907, 82, 592664. (386) Khim. Geol. Nauk 1974, (6), 65; Chem. Abstr. 1975, 83, 58366d. (c) Namatov, B.; Atlyev, Kh. Mater. Resp. Nauchno-Tekh. Konf. Molodykh Uch. Pererab. Nefti Neftekhim., 2nd **1974**, 166; Chem. Abstr. 1976, 85, 77796b. (d) Trost, B. M.; Saulnier, M. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 123. (e) Crombie, L.; Jones, R. C. F.; Palmer, C. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1985**, *26*, 2933.
 (387) (a) Kobayashi, S.; Moriwaki, M.; Hachiya, I. *Synlett* **1995**, 1153.
- (b) Kobayashi, S.; Moriwaki, M.; Hachiya, I. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 15, 1527. (c) Kobayashi, S.; Moriwaki, M.; Hachiya, I. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1997**, *70*, 267.
 (388) Bickley, J. F.; Hauer, B.; Pena, P. C. A.; Roberts, S. M.; Skidmore,
- J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2001, 1253.
- (389)Appendino, G.; Tron, G. C.; Jarevang, T.; Sterner, O. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 1609.
- (390)
- Ferrier, R. J.; Prasad, N. *J. Chem. Soc. C.* **1969**, 570. Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Murthy, C. V. S. R.; Kumar, G. M. (391)*Synlett* **2000**, 1450.
- (392)Kawabata, H.; Kubo, S.; Hayashi, M. Carbohydr. Res. 2001, 333,
- Takhi, M.; Rahman, A. A.-H. A.; Schmidt, R. R. Tetrahedron Lett. (393)**2001**, *42*, 4053.
- Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Chand, P. K. Tetrahedron Lett. (394)2001, 42, 4057
- (395) (a) Ogiaruso, M. A.; Wolfe, J. F. In The Chemistry of Functional Groups; Patai, S., Ed.; Wiley: Chichester, Suppl. B., Part 1, p 411. (b) Sutherland, I. O. In Comprehensive Organic Chemistry; Barton, D. H. R., Ollis, W. D., Eds.; Pergamon Press: Oxford, 1979; Vol. 2, p 869. (c) Mulzer, J. In *Comprehensive Organic* Carde and Cardina and Car Synthesis, Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamo Press: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 6, 323.
 (396) (a) Höfle, G.; Steglich, W.; Vorbrüggen, H. Angew. Chem., Int.
- Ed. Engl. 1978, 17, 569. Tributylphosphine has been used as

an acylation catalyst. (b) Vedejs, E.; Diver, S. T. J. Am. Chem. *Soc.* **1993**, *115*, 3558. (c) Vedejs, E.; Bennet, N. S.; Conn, L. M.; Diver, S. T.; Gingrass, M.; Lin, S.; Oliver, P. A.; Peterson, M. J. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 7286.

- (397) (a) Kumar, A. K.; Chattopadhyay, T. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1987**, (c) Izumi, J.; Shiina, I.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1994, 677.
 (c) Izumi, J.; Shiina, I.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1995, 141.
- (398) (a) Ishihara, K.; Kubata, M.; Kurihara, H.; Yamamoto, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4413. (b) Ishihara, K.; Kubota, M.; Kurihara, H.; Yamamoto, H. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 4569.
 (399) Lewis acids have been used to activate acid anhydrides for
- (393) Lewis actus have been used to activate actu anityates for acylation of alcohols. (a) Baker, R. H.; Bordwell, F. G. Organic Syntheses; Wiley & Sons: New York, 1955; Collect. Vol. No. III, p 141. (b) Vedejs, E.; Daugulis, O. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 5702.
 (400) (a) Zhao, H.; Pendri, A.; Greenwald, R. B. J. Org. Chem. 1998, Construction of the product of the
- 63, 7559. (b) Greenwald, R. B.; Pendri, A.; Zhao, H. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1998, 9, 915.
- (401) Barrett, A. G. M.; Braddock, D. C. Chem. Commun. 1997, 351.
- (402) Greene, T. W.; Wuts, P. G. M. In Protective Groups in Organic
- Synthesis, 2nd ed.; John Wiley & Sons Inc.: New York, 1991. (403) Damen, E. W. P.; Braamer, L.; Scheeren, H. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1998, *39*, 6081.
- (404) Pozsgay, V. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2000, 11, 151.
- (405) Fukuzawa, S.; Tsuchimoto, T.; Hotaka, T.; Hiyama, T. Synlett 1995, 1077.
- (406) Ishihara, K.; Karumi, Y.; Kubota, M.; Yamamoto, H. Synlett 1996, 839.
- (407) Okano, T.; Michihashi, T.; Kiji, J. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 1995, 9, 473.
- (408) Aggarwal, V. K.; Fonquerna, S.; Vennall, G. P. Synlett 1998, 849. (409) Suzuki, T.; Watahiki, T.; Oriyama, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000,
- 41, 8903. (410) Sharma, G. V. M.; Prasad, T. R.; Mahalingam, A. K. Tetrahedron
- Lett. 2001, 42, 759.
- (411) Shi, M.; Shen. Y.-M. J. Fluorine Chem. 2001, 109, 195.
- (412) Hanamoto, T.; Sugimoto, Y.; Yokoyama, Y.; Inanaga, J. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 4491.
- (413) (a) Kajiro, H.; Mitamura, S.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. Synlett 1998, 51. (b) Kajiro, H.; Mori, A.; Nishihara, Y.; Hiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 1999, 459. (c) Kajiro, H.; Mitamura, S.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 1689. (d) Kajiro, H.; Mitamura, S.; Mori, A.; Hiyama, T. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1999, 72, 1553.
- (414) Sharma, G. V. M.; Hangovan, A. Synlett 1999, 1963.
 (415) Kotsuki, H.; Ohishi, T.; Araki, T.; Arimura, K. Tetrahedron Lett.
- **1998**, *39*, 4869.
- (416) Myers, A. G.; Yang, B. H.; Chen, H.; McKinstry, L.; Kopecky, D. J.; Gleason, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 6496.
 (417) (a) Prosser, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1961, 83, 1701. (b) Price, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1961, 83, 1773.
 (418) (a) Gigg, R.; Warren, C. D. J. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (b) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. D. J. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 1903. (c) Gent, C. C.; Snyder, M. G. C. C.; Snyder, M. G. C. C.; Snyder, C
- P. A.; Gigg, R.; Conant, R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1972, 1535.
- (419) Sharma, G. V. M.; Ilangovan, A.; Mahalingam, A. K. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 9103.
- (420) Oriyama, T.; Kobayashi, Y.; Noda, K. Synlett 1998, 1047.
 (421) Lu, R. J.; Liu, D.; Giese, R. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 2817.
 (422) (a) Mehta, S.; Whitfield, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 5907.
 (b) Mehta, S.; Whitfield, D. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 6415.
- (423)Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, B. V. S.; Reddy, K. S. Chem. Lett. 2001, 430
- (424) Oriyama, T.; Watahiki, T.; Kobayashi, Y.; Hirano, H.; Suzuki, T. Synth. Commun. 2001, 31, 2305.
- (425)Orita, A.; Nagano, Y.; Hirano, J.; Otera, J. Synlett 2001, 637.
- (426) Komura, K.; Itsuno, S.; Ito, K. Chem. Commun. 1999, 35.
- (427) (a) Isobe, Y.; Fujioka, D.; Habaue, S.; Okamoto, Y. J. Am. Chem.
- Soc. 2001, 123, 7180. (b) Isobe, Y.; Nakano, T.; Okamoto, Y. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2001, 39, 1463. (c) Baraki,

- Möller, M.; Nederberg, F.; Lim, L. S.; Kange, R.; Hawker, C. J.; Hedrick, J. L.; Gu, Y.; Shah, R.; Abbott, N. L. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. **2001**, 39, 3529. (428)
- (429) Yamamoto, N.; Isobe, M. Chem. Lett. 1994, 2299.
- (430) Castellani, C. B.; Carugo, O.; Giusti, M.; Leopizzi, C.; Perotti, A.; Invernizzi, A. G.; Vidari, G. *Tetrahedron* **1996**, *52*, 11045.
- (431) (a) Alkai-earth metals: Smith, J. G.; Ho, I. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 37, 653. (b) Aluminum: Beruah, B.; Prayapati, D.; Sandhu, J. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 6747. (c) Zinc: Shimizu, M.; Iida, T.; Fujisawa, T. Chem. Lett. 1995, 609. (d) Zirconium: Buchwald, S. L.; Watson, B. T.; Wannamaker, M. W.; Dewan, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4486. (e) Indium: Kalyanam, N.; Venkateswara Rao, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 1647. (f) Ytterbium: Takuki, K.; Tsukabi, Y.; Tanaka, S.; Beppu, F.; Fujiwara, Y. Chem. Lett. **1990**, 203. (g) Vanadium: Imwinkelried, R.; Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta **1984**, 67, 1496. (h) Niobium: Roskamp, E. J.; Pedersen, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1987**, 109, 3152. (i) Titanium: Betschart, C.; Schmidt, B.; Seebach, D. Helv. Chim. Acta 1988, 71, 1999.
- (432) (a) Enholm, E. J.; Forbes, D. C.; Holub, D. P. Synth. Commun. 1990, 20, 981. (b) Imamoto, T.; Nishimura, S. Chem. Lett. 1990, 1141. (c) Taniguchi, N.; Uemura, M. Synlett 1997, 51.
- (433) Annunziata, R.; Benaglia, M.; Cinquini, M.; Cozzi, F.; Raimondi, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3333.
- (434) Fukuzawa, S.; Yamaishi, Y.; Furuya, H.; Terao, K.; Iwasaki, F. Tetrahedron Lett. **1997**, 38, 7203.
- (435)Marshall, J. A.; Welmaker, G. S. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 7158. (436) Marshall, J. A.; Jablonowski, J. A.; Elliott, L. M. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 2662.
- (437) Makioka, Y.; Taniguchi, Y.; Takaki, K.; Fujiwara, Y. Chem. Lett. **1994**, 645.
- (438)Jadhav, P. K.; Man, H.-W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 846.
- Newitt, L. A.; Steel, P. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1997, (439)2033
- (440)(a) Greenhill, J. V. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1977, 6, 277. (b) Hickmott, P. W. Tetrahedron 1982, 38, 1975.
- (441) Azzaro, M.; Geribaldi, S.; Videau, B. Synthesis 1981, 880.
- (442) (a) Rechsteiner, B.; Texier-Boullet, F.; Hamelin, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 5071. (b) Ruault, P.; Pilard, J.-F.; Touaux, B.; Texier-Boullet, F.; Hamelin, J. Synlett 1994, 935.
- (443) Kuehne, M. E. In Enamines: Synthesis, Structure and Reactions, Cook, A. G., Ed.; M. Dekker: New York, 1969, 313. (444) Jenner, G. *Tetrahedron Lett*. **1996**, *37*, 3691.
- (445) (a) Layer, R. W. Chem. Rev. 1963, 63, 493. (b) Couture, A.; Deniau, E.; Grandclaudon, P.; Simion, C. Synthesis 1993, 1227 and references therein.
- (446) Dreher, S. D.; Hornberger, K. R.; Sarraf, S. T.; Leighton, J. L. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3197.
- (447) Broadus, K. M.; Kass, S. R. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 6566.
- (448) Orita, A.; Nagano, Y.; Nakazawa, K.; Otera, J. Synlett 2000, 599.
- (449) Nguyen, P. Q.; Schäfer, H. J. *Org. Lett.* 2001, *3*, 2993.
 (450) Fukuzumi, S.; Mori, H.; Imahori, H.; Suenobu, T.; Araki, Y.; Ito, O.; Kadish, K. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 12458. For a related photoinduced electron-transfer oxidation of benzyl alcohol by a flavin analogue, see: Fukuzumi, S.; Yasui, K.; Suenobu, T.; Ohkubo, K.; Fujitsuka, M.; Ito, O. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2001**, 105, 10501.
- (451) Hou, Z.; Okuhara, T. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1686.
- (452) Hanamoto, T.; Sugimoto, Y.; Sugino, A.; Inanaga, J. Synlett 1994, 377
- Collin, J.; Giuseppone, N.; Machrouhi, F.; Namy, J.-L.; Nief, F. (453)Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 3161.
- (454) Parrish, J. D.; Little, R. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 7767. CR010289I